Michael Noah Weiss (Ed.)

What is Good Folk High School Pedagogy?

Seven Philosophical Investigations in Dialogue Form



Reflective Practice Research

LIT

Michael Noah Weiss (Ed.)

What is Good Folk High School Pedagogy?

Reflective Practice Research

Edited by

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Michael Noah Weiss (University of South-East Norway)

and

Prof. Guro Hansen Helskog (University of South-East Norway)

Volume 3

Folk High School Research

Edited by

Johan Lövgren (University of South-Eastern Norway)

Volume 2

Lit

What is Good Folk High School Pedagogy?

Seven Philosophical Investigations in Dialogue Form

Edited by

Michael Noah Weiss

Lit

Cover image: Amberpress

Printed with the support of the USN - University of South-Eastern Norway

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at https://dnb.dnb.de.

ISBN 978-3-643-91234-3 (pb) ISBN 978-3-643-96234-8 (PDF) DOI: https://doi.org/10.52038/9783643912343

This work is licensed under a CC BY 4.0 license.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

 © LIT VERLAG GmbH & Co. KG Wien, Zweigniederlassung Zürich 2023 Flössergasse 10 CH-8001 Zürich Tel. +41 (0) 78-307 91 24 E-Mail: zuerich@lit-verlag.ch https://www.lit-verlag.ch Distribution: In the UK: Global Book Marketing, e-mail: mo@centralbooks.com In Germany: LIT Verlag Fresnostr. 2, D-48159 Münster

Tel. +49 (0) 2 51-620 32 22, Fax +49 (0) 2 51-922 60 99, e-mail: vertrieb@lit-verlag.de

Table of Contents

Before Starting Michael Noah Weiss	7		
		When Education is at Risk	
Filippa Millenberg & Michael Noah Weiss	55		
The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher			
Kjetil Hareide Hallre & Michael Noah Weiss	85		
No fish pudding			
Steinar Bryn & Michael Noah Weiss	101		
The Human Landscape			
Benedicte Hambro & Michael Noah Weiss	135		
Golden moments Sigurd Ohrem & Michael Noah Weiss So That Life Becomes Bigger	157		
		Johan Lövgren and Michael Noah Weiss	179
		Pedagogy for the Rich	
Brita Phuthi & Michael Noah Weiss	199		
The Aftermath			
Michael Noah Weiss	225		

Before Starting: Outlining Philosophical Dialogue as Research

Michael Noah Weiss

1. Introduction

In 2014, on a warm summer evening, I was sitting on the balcony of an Airbnb flat in Athens together with Sigurd Ohrem, one of the contributors to the present anthology. Over a glass of Greek wine, he tried to explain the uniqueness and benefits of a folk high school – a school with no exams and no grades. I listened and heard what he said, but I did not understand. I was puzzled and wondering why anyone would spend a whole year at such a school without receiving any formal reward, e. g. in terms of ECTS points or at least in the form of a certificate describing their acquired qualifications.

Maybe I did not understand at that time, but the fact is that between 2010/2011 and 2020/2021 as many as 80,369 students attended one of the over 80 folk high schools in Norway (NOU: 2022: 16). On average, that makes 7,500 students per year. And not only that, as the recent EPSI Rating Norge – a survey of student satisfaction – shows, folk high schools rate significantly higher than the higher education sector in this respect (EPSI, 2022: 6). An outcome

that leads some to the conclusion that higher education institutions should learn from folk high schools (Mikkelsen, 2022, 14.12.).

When it comes to the learning content, if one can call it that, folk high schools offer a great variety of subjects ranging from extreme sport, snowboarding, and surfing to theatre play, e-sport, painting, music, photography as well as more classical subjects like psychology and philosophy, just to name a few. Field trips and journeys abroad are done on a regular basis and all schools offer dormitories where the students live together. Of the over 80 schools -85 in 2022 (NOU, 2022: 16) – a bit more than half of them have a humanistic value base, while the rest have a Christian value orientation. Furthermore, these schools are not an invention of the recent past. They were founded by the Danish priest and pedagogue Nikolaj Frederik Severin Grundtvig, with the first school opening in Denmark in 1844. Still today, one finds folk high schools in all Scandinavian and Nordic countries. There are certain differences between the schools of these countries, which I will not go into here since the present publication mainly deals with Norwegian folk high schools. The latter have two general goals, which are also enshrined in the Norwegian Folk High School Act (The Folk High School Act: 2003): Bildung and public enlightenment. At this point, I will not explicate these two concepts further; more detailed accounts of them can be found in some of my other publications (Weiss, 2017a; 2021b; 2023).

Pedagogically speaking, these schools have always stood and still stand outside the conventional school system, as their history shows (Mikkelsen, 2014). And this is also what makes them so interesting: for not being part of the educational mainstream leaves room for creative forms of teaching and educational development work. The variety of concepts and approaches present in folk high school pedagogy is, for example, outlined in the anthologies *Med livet som pensum* (Ohrem & Haddal, 2011; in Engl.: With life as curriculum) and in *The Nordic Folk High School Teacher* (Lövgren, Hallqvist, Rahbek & Lysgaard, 2023). From Socrates' dialogic approach to John Dewey's experiential learning to Wenger's communities of practice to social pedagogy and existential philosophy in general – just to name a few – the list of theoretical models and perspectives that are relevant to folk high school pedagogy is long and extensive. And so is the diversity of pedagogical practices.

After the previously mentioned conversation in Athens, I had the chance to work on different projects at different folk high schools and experience this diversity firsthand. Several of these experiences are further investigated in some of my research publications (see e.g. Weiss, 2017a, 2021b, 2023; Weiss & Ohrem, 2016; Ohrem & Weiss, 2019). When it comes to research at Norwegian Folk High Schools in general, it has to be stated that this field is still quite 'unplowed', as also a recent NOU report points out (NOU, 2022: 16). Though there are certainly a few scholars, like Johan Lövgren from the University of South-Eastern Norway, whose research focus is on folk high school pedagogy (see e.g. Lövgren, 2017a, 2017b, 2018, 2020, 2022; Lövgren, Hallqvist, Rahbek & Lysgaard, 2023), the research activities in Norway are on a much smaller scale compared to other Scandinavian countries.

With that in mind, the idea for this book was born, although I carried it around for several years before actually starting to work on it. The idea was to bring forth the folk high school pedagogues' and teachers' voices and to investigate their ideas of good folk high school pedagogy together with them, based on their experiences. Something that has not been done so far. What took me so long to

realize this project was the impression that I first needed a proper methodology for such an enterprise. And the issue of the proper research method brings us to the guiding question of this introductory chapter.

1.1. The guiding question

The question that guides this introduction reads as follows:

• Why choose philosophical dialogue as a research approach to examine pedagogical practices at folk high schools?

The short answer to this question is: I am a philosopher and as such, it seems natural to me to do dialogues and philosophical investigations. The longer answer, however, requires an examination of the epistemological questions that arise when understanding philosophical dialogue as research.

Those readers who are not interested in such theoretical and apparently "dry" investigations and reflections can simply skip this chapter. Reading it is not indispensable in order to understand the dialogues in this book. However, if one wants to know *why* the chapters of this anthology are written in dialogue format, the following pages might be enlightening.

2. Outlinging dialogue-based research

2.1. Philosophical dialogues as an academic genre

Grundtvig, the founding father of the Nordic folk high schools, suggested dialogue as the main pedagogical method for this type of school (see e.g. Korsgaard, 2017: 283). He advocated *the living word*, as he called it, as the best way for learning. While the written word would

merely contribute to the memorization of facts, in his opinion, dialogue would help the students get a deeper understanding of the topic at stake (see e. g. Ohrem, 2011). Furthermore, a dialogical approach to learning appeared to be more democratic, with the teacher and the students meeting at eyelevel and sharing and investigating thoughts, ideas and experiences together. In other words, to Grundtvig, dialogue was more 'down to earth' and closer to real life than any other teaching method. Even today, dialogue still plays a central role in the pedagogical approach of folk high school (see Haddal & Ohrem, 2011; Ohrem & Weiss, 2019).

With dialogue playing such a prominent role in the pedagogical history of folk high schools, it might seem natural to also employ it as a research approach to examine more closely the educational practices of this type of school. However, can philosophical dialogue be understood as a research method at all?

In fact, "book versions of conversations are not uncommon in philosophy" (Hattie & Larsen, 2020: 1). One finds a number of quite well-known scholars of the discipline of philosophy who employed dialogue as their main form of investigation and writing style in some of their publications. Plato is probably the earliest example, with his Socratic Dialogues (Plato, 2009), which had and still have a profound impact on Western science. A more recent example is the founding father of modern hermeneutics. Hans-Georg Gadamer, whose later works often took the form of philosophical conversations (see e.g. Gadamer, 2001, 2003). Another famous example is Paolo Freire and Myles Horton's We Make the Road by Walking, a book that, apart from its introduction, solely consists of the philosophical dialogues on education that they had at the famous Highlander Education and Research Center (Horton & Freire, 1990). Also in the field of ethics, as an-

other main branch of philosophy, we find Herlinde Pauer-Studer's Constructions of Practical Reason, in which she presents conversations with key figures in the field like Martha Nussbaum or Christine Korsgaard (Pauer-Studer, 2003). Herbert Pitschmann and Fritz Wallner developed and published their approach to the philosophy of science – so-called Constructive Realism – in dialogue form (Pitschmann & Wallner, 1995). Even in the last few years, several academic monographs and anthologies came out that belong to this genre (see e.g. Burton, 2021a & 2021b; Rosa & Endres: 2016). Arguably the most famous of them stems from the field of philosophy of education: The Purpose of Education by the often-hailed and oftencriticized John Hattie in conversation with Steen Nepper Larsen (Hattie & Larsen, 2020). The list could continue, but it already appears clear that philosophical investigations carried out and published in dialogue form are not something entirely new. On the contrary, as an academic genre, it has a long tradition as well as specific, unique features that distinguish it from others. One of these features is the relation between the dialogue partners. As I shall show in the following, this relation has a direct impact on the research process as such.

2.2. On the nature of dialogue-based research

In one of his articles, professor of dialogic practice Finn Thorbjørn Hansen examines several explicitly dialoguebased research approaches, like Kreiner and Mouritsen's *analytical interviewing* (2006), Brinkmann's *epistemic interview* (2007), Dinkins' *Socratic-hermeneutic interpreviewing* (2005) and his own approach, called the *Socratic research interview* (Hansen, 2015a). Leaving the differences between these approaches aside, there is one aspect they have in common that, according to Hansen, distinguishes them from conventional research interview techniques: In conventional qualitative interviews, knowledge production is carried out after the interviews and behind 'closed doors' at the researcher's desk by analyzing the data of the interviews; however, in these four approaches, the desk is transferred into the field, so to speak, with the interviewer and the interviewee sitting at it together as coresearchers (see ibid., 2015a: 179 & 188f). In this case, knowledge is not created after the interview by the researcher but *in* the interview together with all participants involved. Here, we arrive at a common definition of dialogue derived from Matthew Lipman's Community of Inquiry concept (see Lipman, 2003: 20f), where dialogue means to investigate a topic, a question, and a phenomenon together. In other words, the dialogue participants are *inter-viewing*, that is, looking into something together from different perspectives. Against this background, Gadamer should be mentioned again, "for whom the 'interview' has become a significant category of philosophical output", as Malpas puts it (2018). Hence the question, why has it become a significant category for him?

If we assume the development of new knowledge as a key feature of research (see e.g. Lindseth, 2017a: 16f, 2017b), then dialogue in the sense of *inter-viewing* also has to yield some sort of new knowledge. Otherwise, the pre-viously mentioned publications consisting of philosophical conversations would make no sense in an academic context. According to Gadamer, the form of knowledge addressed here is essential to the humanities (Gadamer, 1997: 107), and this kind of knowledge was probably the reason why Gadamer chose to conduct and publish his later philosophical inquiries in the format of dialogues (see Malpas, 2018: 2.1., 3.2. & 3.3.). So, which form of knowledge are we talking about?

3. Practical knowledge and its role in the humanities

3.1. Three fundamental forms of knowledge

In his article, "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher?" Gerd Biesta presents two spheres of life as introduced by Aristotle: *bios theoretikos* and *bios praktikos* (Biesta, 2015: 14). As we shall see, understanding the difference between these two spheres proves vital in order to understand modern science, research and academia in general.

As the name already indicates, *bios theoretikos* deals with theoretical aspects of life, like mathematical laws and eternal principles of nature. The form of knowledge that corresponds with this sphere is theoretical knowledge, which Aristotle called *epistemé* (the etymological root of the term epistemology). The activity to develop *epistemé* is *theoria* (thinking), the Greek term for contemplation. One is easily tempted to assume that science and higher education as we know it today can be attributed to the *bios theoretikos*. In reference to Popper, Kuhn and others, Biesta however refutes this assumption (ibid.) and ascribes, e.g. teacher education, to the sphere of *bios praktikos* (ibid.). The reason for that is elaborated in the following.

Hardly surprisingly, *bios praktikos* is the sphere of practical knowledge. However, according to Aristotle, practical knowledge can be divided into two different forms of knowledge: *techné* (in simple terms, *know-how*) and *phronesis* (*practical wisdom* or *prudence*). *Techné* is the type of knowledge required in order to build a boat, for example. Without knowing *how* to build a boat, a boat cannot be built. The activity that corresponds with *techné* is so-called *poiesis* (making). With the activity of *poiesis*, we find an answer to why Aristotle divided practical knowledge into two: *Poiesis* comprises any activity that has its goal beyond itself (see e.g. Staude: 2015: 43). To give an example: If you build a boat, the goal of this activity is not the building process. Rather, the goal is to make something that lets you travel over water safely. Similarly, when building a house, the goal is not the activity of building in itself but to live in that house after it is finished. Seen from that perspective, one might erroneously assume that knowhow knowledge was the reason Biesta attributed teacher education to the sphere of *bios praktikos*. For a teacher certainly needs know-how and practical skills when teaching youngsters. This is not the case, however. The reason is to be found in so-called *phronesis*.

Phronesis is often translated with the terms "prudence" or "practical wisdom," and it can be described as "the ability to do the right thing in a given situation -i. e. the concrete teaching situation - with regards to human flourishing, that is, the good life overall." (Weiss, 2021b: 248; see also Gadamer, 2004: 314) With this definition, the moral character of phronesis comes to the fore. It is moral knowledge, as Gadamer asserted (ibid.: 312), and to his teacher, the philosopher Heidegger, phronesis was "nothing other than conscience set into motion ..." (Heidegger, 1997: 39). By relating phronesis to the term "conscience", another central aspect is addressed. Instead of a set of general ethical principles, phronesis represents a form of situational knowledge that rather resembles what one would call awareness or, as McEvilly suggested, mindfulness (2002: 609) more than factual knowledge or mere know-how.

In reference to the old Greek philosophers, like Socrates, Plato and Aristotle, several scholars, such as Gadamer (e.g. 2004: 315 or 318) or Gallagher (1992: 198), have pointed out a fundamental and somewhat disturbing feature of phronesis: It can only be learned but not taught. There are no universal principles or general theories connected to

phronesis that can be taught or imparted, as is the case with the laws of physics, for example. No wonder that to Aristotle, phronesis was not a question of factual knowledge but of experience, and "experience is the fruit of years" (Aristotle, 1980: NE 1142a 6–7). Hence, developing phronesis rather resembles a form of experiential learning (see e. g. Dewey, 1916: 184), one could say. Thus, if it is not teachable, it appears to be legitimate to ask whether such a form of knowledge can be incorporated into any curriculum of higher education programs at all.

Surprisingly, Gadamer answers this question not only positively, but he even assumes phronesis as *the* form of knowledge the human sciences should seek after:

When Aristotle, in the sixth book of the Nicomachean Ethics, distinguishes the manner of 'practical' knowledge ... from theoretical and technical knowledge, he expresses, in my opinion, one of the greatest truths, by which the Greeks throw light upon 'scientific' mystification of the modern society of specialization. In addition, the scientific character of practical philosophy is, as far as I can see, the only methodological model for self-understanding of human sciences if they are to be liberated from spurious narrowing imposed by the model of the natural sciences. (Gadamer, 1997: 107)

It is important to note that when Gadamer speaks of practical knowledge here, we must not confuse it with technical know-how and skills *(techné)*. "Practical knowledge, phronesis, is another kind of knowledge," as Gadamer put it (2004: 18).

This question brings us to the kind of activity that is connected to phronesis, namely *praxis* (doing). The main difference between *poiesis* (making) and *praxis* (doing) is that the latter has the goal within itself; that is, instead of building a house with the purpose of living in it, the activity of praxis is doing it for its own sake. For example, in order to learn to play guitar, we have to play guitar; that is, we have to *practice*. Aristotle distinguished between bad praxis (*dyspraxia*) and good praxis (*eupraxia*); the latter is sometimes also translated with *excellent praxis* (see e.g. Aristotle, 1980: NE 6.5: 1140b4–7).

Good praxis can be understood as a *doing* that promotes human flourishing and well-being; in short, it can be defined as 'doing well', as Anscombe suggests (1981: 70). With its orientation towards good praxis (eupraxia), that is, with human flourishing (*eudaimonia*) as its end, it becomes obvious that the activity of praxis implies a strong ethical dimension. It is not simply about the mastery of skills, which would make it a matter of *techné;* instead, praxis is a question of *virtue*.

3.2. Phronesis and its relevance in teacher education

By relating praxis to virtue, we find the reason why Biesta assigns teacher education to *bios praktikos* (Biesta, 2015: 19f) – an aspect which is not irrelevant for a book like the present one that deals with folk high school pedagogy. For in light of Aristotle's understanding of praxis, the term *teaching practice* gets a new connotation. Suddenly, it is not only about managing and applying proper teaching techniques anymore; but teaching becomes a *doing* that intends to promote human flourishing and wellbeing with the students. Therefore, when Biesta asks in his same-named article, "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher?" (2015), his answer, in short, is: by developing *virtuosity*.

In Gallagher's *Hermeneutics and Education* (1992), we find a hint as to how virtuosity can be developed and how it relates to phronesis:

Socrates suggests that one must look to oneself in order to become virtuous. In effect, the knowledge that one can learn but not be taught is self-knowledge. If virtue is knowledge, it is in some sense self-knowledge. There is no teacher who can tell me who I am in a way that is superior to my own possibility of finding out for myself. (ibid.: 198)

Gallagher adds that self-knowledge "is intimately linked with *phronesis* and thinking for oneself" (ibid.), something which was already been explicated and pointed out by Gadamer (see e.g. 2004: 314). Hence, we can arrive at the conclusion that phronesis and virtuosity (which for Socrates were the same (Gallagher, 1992: 198.)) are essentially about the ability to see oneself – as a whole human being – in relation to the given situation one is standing in and become aware of what one can do (*praxis*) in order to foster human flourishing (*eudaimonia*).

This personal involvement illustrates why phronesis cannot be reduced to mere factual knowledge or knowhow and, furthermore, how virtuosity is interrelated with self-knowledge. Furthermore, it also becomes clear why McEvilley spoke of mindfulness when explicating the term phronesis (2002: 609): one cannot be mindful if one does not personally relate to the situation one is confronted with. Hence, the virtuosity of the teacher, as discussed by Biesta (2015: 20f), implies not primarily the handling of knowledge, skills and competences but the self-awareness of the teacher with regards to how he or she can realize eupraxia (good praxis) with the students. The dialogues of the present book represent philosophical investigations in order to achieve exactly that – examining in what ways different folk high school teachers understand and realize eupraxia.

3.3. Phronesis and what became of it in today's academia

Interestingly, the three forms of knowledge as introduced by Aristotle, namely epistemé, techné and phronesis are at least partly - represented in all curricula of any European higher education program after the so-called Bologna process. The learning outcomes of any curriculum are divided into knowledge (epistemé), skills (techné) and competences; however, the latter does not really fit the term phronesis, as outlined previously. This is also the central critique of Biesta in his article, "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher" (2015). As an example, in the Norwegian "Core Curriculum on values and principles for primary and secondary education" (Udir, 2017), competence is defined as "the ability to acquire and apply knowledge and skills to master challenges and solve tasks in familiar and unfamiliar contexts and situations. Competence includes understanding and the ability to reflect and think critically." (ibid.: 2.2.) Clearly, this definition of competence falls short of the central aspects of phronesis, such as the ethical orientation towards well-being, selfknowledge, personal involvement, and so on. There is one gleam of hope, though, that the essence of phronesis is not entirely lost in relevant higher education policy papers that refer to the three forms of knowledge introduced by Aristotle

In its revised version of 2017, the European Qualifications Framework (EQF) (see European Commission, 2018), to which all the national qualifications frameworks of the European countries as well as the Qualifications Framework for the European Higher Education Area (ibid.: 16) are linked, we find – next to *knowledge* and *skills* – *responsibility and autonomy* as the third qualification category, instead of *competence*. Indeed, *responsibility* appears

to be a term that has more to do with phronesis than competence does. At this point, though, I do not intend to go further into the discussion about the EQF. Rather, in the following, I will take a closer look at how responsibility can eventually be related to phronesis.

3.4. Phronesis as responsibility

When Heidegger defines phronesis as "conscience set into motion" (Heidegger, 1997: 39), then phronesis can be interpreted as a responsible response in action. In other words: If we understand responsibility as some sort of response-ability, that is, an ability by which we can respond to a given situation in a morally reflected, mindful way, then this resembles phronesis in terms of "the ability to do the right thing in a given situation -i. e. the concrete teaching situation – with regards to human flourishing, that is, the good life overall." (Weiss, 2021b: 248) Interpreting responsibility in this way, it is not only the ethical character of phronesis that is reflected. Also, virtuosity, as the ability or awareness to respond to a situation with regards to human flourishing, as suggested by Biesta (2015: 19f) appears to be addressed, namely, in terms of being able to improvise in such a situation, like a jazz musician, in order to turn one's doing into eupraxia (good practice). Furthermore, acting responsibly appears impossible, if I do not relate myself - as a whole human being - to that given situation. With that, self-knowledge as an essential dimension of phronesis (see Gallagher, 1992: 198) is taken into account. In short, when understanding responsibility in this way, several key aspects of phronesis seem to be retained. The question now is, how can we understand the role of phronesis in terms of responsibility as the third form of knowledge – or rather ability – in academia?

To safeguard the 'soul' of phronesis, we have to understand knowledge more in terms of insight, even in a quite literal sense: To gain insight, literally, means to *see into something*. Metaphorically, it is as if the curtain suddenly rises, and we see the whole scenery on the stage. Raising the curtain, clearly speaking, is like raising awareness. And raising awareness is vital in order to develop responsibility, that is, the ability to respond to a situation in such a way that the response is a deliberate response towards the good life (eudaimonia). Here, the role of meaning in relation to responsibility comes into account, as Viktor Frankl points out:

Man is not he who poses the question, What is the meaning of life? but he who is asked this question, for it is life itself that poses it to him. And man has to answer to life by answering for life; he has to respond by being responsible; in other words, the response is necessarily a response-inaction. While we respond to life 'in action' we are also responding in the 'here and now.' What is always involved in our response is the concreteness of a person and the concreteness of the situation in which he is involved. Thus our responsibility is always responsibility *ad personam* and *ad situationem*. (Frankl, 2000: 29)

Frankl addresses two essential aspects of responsibility: Firstly, what we perceive as responsibility is always a question of what we experience as meaningful in a given situation. Secondly, responsibility always depends *on* the person *in* the concrete situation. In other words, responsibility cannot be generalized (and therefore – just like phronesis – cannot be taught). This brings us to the question, how can response-ability – next to knowledge and skills – be developed or made visible through research? Which research methodology appears to be suited for this purpose?

4. Research that allows for phronetic knowledge development

4.1. Monological vs. dialogical methods

The term *methodos* was introduced by Plato, and it consists of two words (Lindseth, 2015b: 47): meta (over) and hodos (way). Plato used this term in order to point out that even though we cannot re-walk our ways in life (what we have done, we have done, and what happened, happened), we can at least reflect and think about our concrete actions and experiences (ibid.). By walking this 'meta hodos', that is, by reflecting on our ways in life, we can learn and develop ourselves. In his Socratic Dialogues, Plato showed how this methodos is practiced, namely in the form of dialogues. In most of the dialogues described by him, ethical and existential issues like love, virtue, etc. were examined. Often, the point of departure of these conversations were concrete experiences shared by Socrates's interlocutors and, not rarely, these interlocutors left the conversation in aporia, that is, in confusion. Instead of reaching a conclusion about what, e.g. courage, would mean, they apparently went with less knowledge from the dialogues than what they came with. One might get the impression that rather than producing new knowledge, existing knowledge was deconstructed and destroyed in the Socratic Dialogues of Plato. And in terms of factual knowledge, this clearly seems to be the case – what Socrates' interlocutors thought they would know turned out to be based on mere beliefs rather than facts. However, this does not mean that the dialogue partners did not learn something from the conversation. Their leaving in aporia and wonderment can, in fact, be taken as a sign that they became aware of something that made an impression on them. It did something to them; it moved them in their way of seeing life (*insight*). And this can be called methodos.

Today, we have a different understanding of the term *method*. Lindseth speaks of two kinds of methods: monological and dialogical methods (ibid.). Monological methods are standardized procedures of production where the outcome is not only predictable but intended. Such methods resemble what previously has been described as technical knowledge. In contrast, there are also dialogical methods. Their outcomes cannot be predicted, and one does not know where one stands at the end of a dialogue (which can also be a dialogue with oneself).

With respect to what has been pointed out so far concerning responsibility, it appears that the way to do research on responsibility has to be dialogical. Through dialogue, as a way of reflecting on life experiences or professional experiences, one can develop and become aware of one's own response-ability. This also is expressed in the fact that responding to each other is vital for those participating in a dialogue. In a dialogue, as Lindseth puts it,

The Other invades my world as vulnerability and silent appeal, as something invoking my responsibility even before I begin to understand. Understanding the Other is in particular subjected to the appeal for responsibility. (Lindseth, 2020a: 355)

Furthermore, with Frankl, we can say that responsibility rather *shows itself* in concrete experiences and situations rather than being present in theories or know-how. It is through the meaning that reveals itself in a given situation that responsibility can manifest itself through our actions (see Frankl's "response-in-action" (2000: 29)). And in this context, dialogue – in the true sense of the word – appears to be a proper research method since the Greek *logos* is another word for meaning, as Frankl pointed out, while *dia*

means 'through'. Hence, in a dialogue taking its point of departure in concrete experiences, *meaning* (logos) – and, with that, our response-ability – can shine *through* (dia).

4.2. Phronetic research and philosophizing

What we have seen so far is that phronesis (or, in our case, response-ability) differs fundamentally from epistemé and techné. Hence, it requires a distinct research approach based on a dialogical method, as suggested by Lindseth (2015b: 47). In this context, Halvor Bjørnsrud should be recognized, who, in reference to Flyvbjerg (1991) and Hermansen (2001), outlined an epistemological framework called phronetic research (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138). In his explications, he points out the following: The knowledge form of epistemé represents a know-why in terms of universal principles and theory (see Flyvbjerg, 1991: 72), and techné represents know-how in terms of principles of production (see ibid.). Both forms of knowledge have to be extricated and liberated from the context of concreteness (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138). This is what the Ancient Greek term analysis actually meant: to untie - untying and separating complex, different elements or substances. In order to present a theory or principle and its universal, general nature, it has to be untied from human everyday life and from concrete practices (ibid.). Analysis, in this sense, however, does not work with the knowledge form of *phronesis*. The reason is, as mentioned previously, that this form of knowledge is only learnable but not teachable - since there are no general phronetic principles that could be taught or imparted (see e.g. Gallagher, 1992: 198; Gadamer, e.g. 2004: 315 or 318). Phronesis is practical knowledge, or better, practical wisdom; as such, it is the wisdom of practice. If this wisdom or knowledge is segregated from the practice in which it is involved, it loses its essence and

meaning – an essential aspect that already came to the fore with Frankl when he states that "Responsibility is always responsibility *ad personam* and *ad situationem*." (Frankl, 2000: 29). Therefore, as Bjørnsrud asserts, the context is inherent in phronesis, and *phronetic research* requires context-relatedness (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138). Furthermore, Bjørnsrud concludes that since *phronetic research* is not about "unearthing" universal principles, it should focus on the *interplay between the general and the concrete by means of reflection* (ibid.)

For several scholars and philosophers throughout history, the interplay that Bjørnsrud outlines represents the essence of *philosophizing*, which could also be called a movement between the individual and the universal (see e.g. Weiss, 2015a: 215f). For Pierre Hadot, this interplay - whether done in dialogues with others or with oneself - represents a key-exercise towards wisdom, as he points out in his famous and critically acclaimed book Philosophy as a Way of Life (see e.g. Hadot 2010: 211f). Though, as he points out in this book, so-called maieutics (Socratic midwifery), as presented in the Socratic dialogues of Plato, represent one of the oldest examples of this interplay, many other philosophers and philosophical schools adhered to it (ibid.). Wittgenstein's Philosophical Investigations is just one of many famous examples (2009). In the 1920s, the scholar Leonard Nelson, inspired by the Socratic dialogues of Plato, developed a dialogue format that had this interplay between the concrete and the general at its center so that his students could learn to philosophize instead of merely learning about the history of philosophy (Nelson, [1922] 2004). Nelson's approach was further developed by his student Gustav Heckmann ([1981] 2004) and still represents a key method in the discipline of so-called philosophical practice (see e.g. Weiss, 2015a). The list of scholars who incorporated this interplay as outlined by Bjørnsrud, which

according to him is vital for the knowledge form of phronesis, could be extensively expanded. Instead, however, I propose to cut through to the following point: This interplay, which represents an examination of general aspects of the human condition, is essential for the activity of philosophizing, as several scholars assert (see e. g. Teichmann & Evans, 1999: 1; Lahav, 2016: 20; Helskog, 2019; Weiss, 2017b). As such, this interplay cannot only take place *in* a dialogue. Rather, the interplay *is* a dialogue between the concrete and the abstract put in motion by the dialogue participants. It is this that makes a dialogue philosophical.

As Bjørnsrud notes, due to this interplay between the concrete and the general - one could also say between theory and practice - phronetic research requires contextrelatedness (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138). Now, what established research tradition takes context-relatedness, that is, concrete practice and action, centrally into account? Following Bjørnsrud, we find one possible answer in the tradition of so-called action research. Action research has a long tradition in what could be called the field of classroom research (Eikeland, 2011), with roots in the works of Dewey (1910), Collier (1945), Lewin (1946) and Corey (1953). However, as we will see in the following, since action research today serves as an umbrella term for various research methodologies, we need to take a closer look at which of them can "host" the requirements of phronetic research.

4.3. Three general forms of action research

Bjørnsrud presents three fundamental, general forms of Action Research as outlined by Carr & Kemmis (1986: 202f): *Technical, Emancipatory* and Practical Action Research (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38f). In *Technical Action Research*, the participants are subordinate to the researcher who decides the direction of the project and develops the respective research questions (see Carr & Kemmis, 1986: 202). The practitioners only apply what they receive from the researcher in the form of new strategies and approaches.

In *Emancipatory Action Research*, the practitioners direct the course of the investigation in order to solve specific problems. While "for Carr and Kemmis, only emancipatory action research is true action research" (Zuber-Skerritt, 1999: 11), Bjørnsrud (2005: 40f) understands this form of action research as action learning rather than actual research since the development of theory is a marginal issue in this approach.

In *Practical Action Research*, then, the relation between the researcher and the practitioners is based on dialogue in terms of mutual cooperation (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38). The researcher's role is Socratic in nature and intended to foster prudence (phronesis) with the participants (ibid.). Hence, the researcher becomes a sort of facilitator, encouraging the practitioners to reflect on their own practice (Stenhouse, 1975). In this form of Action Research, development happens basically through self-reflection. The overall intention is that participants develop understanding on the one hand and the (further) development of theory on the other.

In the way these three general forms of action research are outlined by scholars, it seems clear which of them meets the requirements of phronetic research. However, Practical Action Research seems to have even more on offer when justifying philosophical dialogues as a research method, as we will see in the following.

4.4. Dialogical Action Research

As mentioned earlier, Lindseth distinguishes between two basic forms of method: the monological and the dialogical (see Lindseth, 2015b: 47f). In the broad field of action research, one can find an example for the latter in what Alrø and Hansen called Dialogical Action Research, an approach that could be subordinated to Practical Action Research for several reasons. As in Practical Action Research, so too in dialogical action research, the researcher is understood as facilitator, like a Socratic midwife (Alrø & Hansen, 2017: 9). Furthermore, as its name indicates, dialogue plays a central role in this approach in terms of the conversations and forms of interaction that happen in this version of action research (ibid.: 8). Alrø and Hansen use a conception of dialogue that strongly resembles Lipman's Community of Inquiry concept (see Lipman, 2003: 20f). They outline dialogue not simply as a specific conversational format but as an inquiring and wondering way in which the participants relate to each other, to themselves and to the field in which they are working and reflecting upon (Alrø & Hansen, 2017: 9). The starting point for such dialogues is the practitioners' experiences of something meaningful, something good, of "golden moments" that made an impression on them and with which they, together with the action researcher, want to come into dialogue in order to get a better understanding of these experiences (ibid.: 11; Hansen 2014; 2016). Here, a unique feature of Dialogical Action Research comes into its own, which does not always seem to be in place with Practical Action Research in general: In reference to Reason and Bradbury, who assert that "action research is about working towards practical outcomes, and also about creating new forms of understanding" (Reason & Bradbury, 2001: 2), Alrø and Hansen emphasize that action research does not

always have to have the former, that is, practical outcomes, as its primary goal. Rather, the action research process can also be oriented towards the development of ethical and existential Bildung as well as towards a new understanding of life and what it means to be human (Alrø & Hansen, 2017: 11). With Pahuus (2015), they state that this kind of action research is not initiated by a concrete, tangible problem the practitioners need to have solved but rather sparked by an often vague, intangible longing, which the participants do not always find words for from the beginning; it is set in motion by an experience that made an *impression* on them, which they now seek to find expression for (Alrø & Hansen, 2017: 11). It is this experience the practitioners and the researcher want to come into dialogue with; it is this concrete experience they want to bring into dialogue with more general perspectives on what it means to be human (ibid.: 14). In that way, we can understand why Alrø and Hansen assert that Dialogical Action Research seeks a humanization of human life (ibid.). And here, we are back at Phronetic Research with its interplay between concrete experiences and general aspects of the human condition (see Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38).

Before we go on to the next section, let me first summarize what we have examined so far. In previous sections, we have seen that dialogue-based research differs from conventional forms of research in that dialogue-based research is not done after interviews and conversations are carried out (Hansen, 2015a: 179f). Rather, the actual research happens in the research, together with the dialogue partners. The form of knowledge that is yielded in such an approach is phronetic, as I pointed out earlier. Phronesis, in more modern terms, can also be understood in the sense of responsibility or response-ability. By taking a closer epistemological look at phronetic research (see e. g. Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38), we have learned that this form of

research does not so much require an *analysis* in the actual sense of the word as it needs an *interplay* between the concrete and the general. For only by means of this interplay can the context-relatedness on which phronesis relies be safeguarded. I then went on to more established research approaches that could allow for phronetic knowledge development and presented three fundamental forms of action research. As it turned out, one of them, namely Practical Action Research, shows several dialogical features, including the mentioned interplay. With Dialogical Action Research, which I suggested as a subcategory of Practical Action Research, an important aspect of action research emerged that often appears to be undervalued and marginalized, namely that action research is not merely about finding proper solutions to concrete problems. Rather, as Alrø and Hansen stress, action research can also take its point of departure from a rather vague longing for understanding and wonderment about what one is actually doing in one's professional practice (Alrø & Hansen, 2017: 11). And that requires not only a dialogue between the participants of such a project but also a dialogue between concrete experiences and general aspects and perspectives on the human condition. How such a dialogical method can be outlined we be seen in the following section on so-called Reflective Practice Research, which represents the underlying *methodos* for the dialogues presented in this anthology.

4.5. Reflective Practice Research

Understanding his own research approach as a dialogic method (2015b: 47f), Anders Lindseth, a pioneer of philosophical practice (see e.g. Lindseth, 2015a), coined the term Reflective Practice Research (Lindseth, 2017b). Though he never labeled his approach as action research, it

certainly bears similarities to Dialogical Action Research. Not only that Lindseth and Hansen both are philosophical practitioners and that both base their research on a dialogical methodos (that is, a dialogical way of reflection and investigation); also, both approaches take their point of departure in a practitioner's wonderment about experiences from his or her own practice (Lindseth, 2017b: 243f; Hansen, 2015b). Furthermore, taking practitioners' longing for deeper understanding seriously, both approaches intend to foster the development of practical knowledge in terms of phronesis (see e.g. Lindseth, 2017a, 2017b; Hansen, 2015b).

Since I understand Reflective Practice Research as a form of Dialogical Action Research, the main reason why I have chosen the former as the underlying approach or methodos of the research dialogues presented in this anthology is easily explained. The overall goal of Reflective Practice Research is to support a practitioner in improving his or her professional practice by developing practical knowledge (phronesis) through reflection on that practice (Lindseth, 2017b: 244). Hence, good practice (eupraxia) is a major perspective of this approach and an aspect of high relevance with regards to the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" After the preliminary deliberations in this chapter, it seems to be established that not only is good folk high school pedagogy a question of good practice (that is, a practice that fosters human flourishing (eudaimonia) with the folk high school students), but also that good practice is intrinsically connected to phronesis in the sense of responsibility (or response-ability). In fact, when one takes a closer look at different Reflective Research projects, for example, from the broad field of pedagogy (see Weiss & Helskog, 2023), then one realizes that the practitioner's (e.g. a teacher's or university lecturer's) responsibility towards the respective (pedagogical) practice

is addressed and responded to by the practitioner throughout the whole research process. Whether the research is about conducting a workshop (Kolmannskog, 2023), the impact of a new technology on one's teaching and (pedagogical) worldview (Bloom, 2023) or on one's attitude as a teacher in general (Bergh, 2023; Løvgren, 2023; Eidsvig, 2023), this responsibility is at times made more explicit (see e.g. Helskog & Weiss, 2023; Angeltun, 2023), while on other occasions it comes into prominence in more implicit ways, simply through the interplay between the concrete and the universal, which represents an integral part of the Reflective Practice Research process (see e.g. Lindseth, 2020b: 97f). For example, when a pedagogue expresses a suspicion that something was or felt not right in a specific teaching or learning situation, then it is his or her responsibility that is "activated" and "calling" here; it is his or her "conscience set into motion", to use Heidegger's definition of phronesis (1997: 39). The pedagogue's responseability is "telling" him or her that the given response in this situation did not correspond with his or her responseability. And this "call" of the practitioner's response-ability is "guiding" all the steps of reflection in the Reflective Practice Research process, so to speak. What these different steps of reflection are about is outlined in the following paragraphs:

1. **Concrete reflection**: An investigation based on this research approach consists of three steps (Lindseth, 2020b: 97f), where the first is called *concrete reflection*. In this step, an experience from one's (professional) practice, e. g. as a teacher, nurse, etc., is described. The experience can be one that made the practitioner wonder or even perplexed because something did not go well or something unexpected happened (Lindseth calls this experience of discrepancy; see e. g. 2017b: 247). How-

ever, one can also reflect on an experience where something happened that made an impression on the practitioner, e.g. that something went really well in terms of good practice (*eupraxia*). In this step, by the act of narrating and writing it down, a once-experienced phenomenon is re-lived, so to speak. As such, it represents a form of re-flection, according to Ricœur (2007: 265), because one has to find the right words that properly *ex*-press what one was once *im*-pressed by, as Lindseth points out (Lindseth, 2017b: 247).

- 2. Critical reflection: After the previous, more phenomenological step (the experience as a phenomenon that is *re*-lived and *re*-told), follows a more hermeneutical one, which is called *critical reflection*. The guiding question here reads: What is at stake in the narrated experience? (see e.g. ibid.: 80, 85, 93, 97) By examining this question, more general themes inherent in the narration can come into focus, themes that are relevant for other practitioners as well and are therefore more universal in nature. If one assumes that the activity of philosophizing is centrally about examining general aspects of the human condition (see e.g. Lahav, 2016: 20), then it is not least due to this step of critical reflection that Reflective Practice Research represents a research approach of philosophical investigation as well as of phronetic research (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38).
- 3. **Theoretical reflection**: In the last step, called *theoretical reflection*, the identified universal themes derived from the experience are brought into dialogue with relevant theoretical concepts, approaches and ideas (Lindseth, 2020b: 97f). Here, one can see whether the reflected experience offers some sort of new knowledge, insight or understanding that was previously not embraced or detected by the existing theory of a discipline or profession, or whether the given response in action in

the narrated experience can be informed by theoretical perspectives.

As one can see by means of these three steps, the reflection and research process of Reflective Practice Research represents an interplay between concrete experiences and general themes, theories, concepts, etc. that Bjørnsrud asserted to signify so-called phronetic research (2005: 138). In Lindseth's approach, the concrete experience, that is, the context-relatedness, is not "analyzed away" at any point in the process. Rather, it forms the base of all three steps of reflection.

For those who are interested, more in-depth descriptions of Reflective Practice Research, especially of its phenomenological and hermeneutical implications, can be found in various publications (see e.g. Lindseth, 2017b; 2020b; Helskog, 2021; Weiss, 2021a; Helskog & Weiss, 2023). An anthology, which shall be explicitly mentioned here, was edited by Halås, Kymre and Steinsvik and called "Humanistiske forskningstilnærminger til profesjonspraksis" (in English: "Humanistic research approaches to professional practice", my translation) (2017). This book contains not only two of Lindseth's fundamental texts on Reflective Practice Research (2017a & b), but it also shows how different research methods like the interview or observation can be used in order to reflect on professional practices in the manner of the humanities. With its orientation towards humanistic research, this anthology was without doubt one of the sources of inspiration and why Guro Hansen Helskog and the editor of the present anthology started a book series on Reflective Practice Research in 2020 at LIT publishing (in which the present anthology is also published as a collaboration with the book series "Folk High School Research"). The purpose of the Reflective Practice Research series is to philosophically examine pedagogical practices from different academic disciplines in order to foster the development of experiencebased, practical knowledge in terms of phronesis (see e. g. Weiss & Helskog, 2023). Investigating phronesis also represents a red thread in Helskog's and my works prior to this book series, whether written together or individually, with several of them employing a Reflective Practice Research approach (Helskog, 2013, 2014 & 2016; Helskog & Weiss, 2021; Weiss & Helskog, 2020; Weiss, 2017b, 2018, 2021a & b).

With respect to the present anthology, it must be said that even though Lindseth understood his approach as a dialogical method, it was initially not outlined as a research dialogue format. It was not until the present project that Reflective Practice Research was developed further into a form of philosophical investigation, which is carried out by means of dialogue. The reasons for choosing such a design are explicated in the next section.

4.6. Philosophical investigations in terms of Reflective Practice Research dialogues and how they were practiced in the present project

As we have seen on several occasions earlier, a philosophical investigation is characterized by the movement between the concrete and the general, that is, the examination of general aspects of the human condition (e.g. responsibility, care, love, etc.) by means of concrete life experiences (see e.g. Hadot 2010: 211f; Lahav, 2016: 20; Helskog, 2019; Weiss, 2017b). Such an approach is already found in the Socratic Dialogues of Plato.

In order to take this movement or interplay between the concrete and the general into account, each dialogue in the present anthology is based on the three-step investigation
Before Starting

of Reflective Practice Research. After a short prologue and introduction, the participating folk high school pedagogue shares a concrete practice experience (*concrete reflection*). In the second step, this experience is examined by means of the question, "What is at stake in this experience?", in order to identify more general and universal themes inherent in the narration (critical reflection). In the third and last step, these themes are brought into dialogue with relevant theoretical perspectives (theoretical reflection). Each dialogue concludes with a short epilogue giving a summary of the conversation with a focus on good folk high school pedagogy. After the actual dialogue, which was recorded on Zoom, the dialogue partners transcribed, further edited, and developed the text until both were satisfied with the result. In other words, even after the actual dialogue was finished the research continued as some sort of meta-reflection process.

In this respect, dialogue-based research, as outlined by Finn Thorbjørn Hansen, can be discussed. As he points out, though there are certain differences between them, the research approaches based on dialogue have one central aspect in common: Research does not happen after, but in and through the dialogue and together with the people involved (Hansen, 2015: 179 & 188f). Consequentially, the researcher and the dialogue partner, e.g. a practitioner, become not only co-researchers, but the dialogue as such represents the research (ibid.). It is this aspect that seems to strongly relate to phronetic research as described by Bjørnsrud, where the context-relatedness essential for this form of research can only be safeguarded through the interplay between the concrete and the general (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138). Hence, understanding the dialogues of the present anthology as phronetic research makes it clear that there cannot be and should not be an analysis after or based on the dialogues that would result in phronesis, which in our case is the *responsibility* of the folk high school pedagogues. Rather, it is primarily through the interplay between the general ideas and the concrete experiences that are brought into and forward in the dialogues that responsibility comes to the fore in a context-related manner. Therefore, the dialogues as such are the research. Were I to have chosen a different research approach than dialoguebased phronetic research, chances are high that I would have ended up with an understanding of responsibility and -strongly connected to that - of good practice (eupraxia) of folk high school pedagogy untied (that is, *analyzed*) from any context-relatedness and, hence, from precious pedagogical value. For what are pedagogical theories, models and concepts worth if they are not interrelated with the context of pedagogical practice? When Peter Singer states that "Ethics is not 'Good in Theory but not in Practice" (Singer, 2011: 2), the same could be said about pedagogy: It cannot be good in theory but not in practice. And in order to figure out whether it is good in practice, the context of this practice has to be an integral part of the whole research. One could also put it into the words of Reason and Bradbury, who, in clear reference to Immanuel Kant, state that "action without reflection and understanding is blind, just as theory without action is meaningless." (Reason & Bradbury, 2001: 2)

That dialogue was chosen as the central writing format for the present publication on a decision that can be explained further when taking a look at the explications on meaning in terms of responsibility, as outlined by Frankl: When Frankl asserts that "Man is not he who poses the question, What is the meaning of life? but he who is asked this question" (Frankl, 2000: 29) and that "he has to respond by being responsible," (ibid.) Frankl basically says that responsibility depends on meaning and that "meaning is connected to context." (Dahlberg, 2011: 22) Con-

Before Starting

text here means nothing else than the lifeworld of a person, that is "the concreteness of the situation in which he is involved." (Frankl, 2000: 29) When Merleau-Ponty concludes that "because we are in the world, we are condemned to meaning" (see Merleau-Ponty, 2005: xxii), we could add with Frankl, 'and therefore condemned to responsibility.' Hence, if we want to investigate and reveal the response-ability of teachers in terms of their "responsein-action" (Frankl, 2000: 29) concerning good folk high school pedagogy, we have to illuminate their professional lifeworld. In other words, if the dialogues were carried out and then only their essences would be included in a research publication, an essential element would get lost along the way: the context, the described concrete situation in which the respective teacher is practicing, doing and responding to his or her pedagogical mandate. And this would mean that the actual meaning of a teaching practice, of an educational "response-in-action" (ibid.), is 'thrown overboard', so to speak. Hence, the dialogues of this anthology were transcribed and then further developed and edited by the dialogue partners, with the intention that responsibility in terms of phronesis and its various situational meanings (logos, see e.g. Frankl, 2000: 68) can 'shine' through (dia) – and here we are back at the necessity of a dialogue - based research approach (dia-logos) (for further explication on the term *dialogos*, also see Helskog, 2019 and Frankl, 2000: 59).

In this process of trying to let the contextual meanings of responsibility 'shine' through (dia-logos), my role as researcher is indeed that of a Socratic facilitator. My dialogue partners and I are on an "equal level"; we form a Community of Inquiry (Lipman, 2003: 20f). We are investigating, wondering and reflecting on the shared practice experience together in order to get a deeper understanding of it, especially with regards to the guiding question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" In order to do so, we also bring our experience and our ideas and thoughts around it into dialogue with theoretical perspectives. Consequentially, it is these aspects that bring the Reflective Practice Research dialogues of this anthology in line with Practical and Dialogical Action Research (see Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38f; Alrø & Hansen, 2017).

At this point, however, it might be legitimate to ponder whether these dialogues also yield answers to the overall question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" The answer is negative if one expects a final, all-encompassing, abstract answer. The reason is not to be found in the chosen research approach but in the fact that we are dealing here with a normative question. As such, it is intrinsically context-related, and contexts can vary and change. And insofar as there are answers to the overall question of this anthology, they exist in terms of *examples*. The seven dialogues presented here exemplify what good praxis (eu*praxis*) of folk high school pedagogy can look like; they describe how folk high school teachers can show responsibility, that is, how they can respond to their pedagogical mandate; they *illustrate* what is meaningful for the teachers in their respective pedagogical situations and how they respond to that meaning. Using examples instead of general definitions when it comes to phronesis (and hence good practice) is not new, as Biesta points out; we can already find such an approach with Aristotle, who "does not provide abstract definitions of what practical wisdom [phronesis] looks like, but tries to make this clear through examples." (Biesta, 2015: 19). Of course, had the dialogues been conducted with other pedagogues, then other examples would have emerged. As examples, they are never all-encompassing, but they are concrete. And if phronesis, in terms of response-ability, cannot be taught but only learned, and if phronetic research requires contextrelatedness (Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138), then the seven dialogues – as exemplary, context-related knowledge – might help the reader see possible ways of how to practice good folk high school pedagogy. And in that way, he or she might get an *understanding* (*phroneo* in Latin, by the way) of what good folk high school is about. And with that, we also arrive at a first answer on the guiding question of this chapter, which reads, "*Why choose philosophical dialogue as a research approach to examine pedagogical practices at folk high schools*?"

4.7. The litmus test

For those still unsure whether the Reflective Practice Research dialogues as employed in this project can be understood as *research*, let me suggest a brief litmus test: Kalleberg suggests four elements (here written in italics) that constitute any kind of scientific research (1992, 1995). Thus, let us see whether the research dialogues in this anthology meet the necessary requirements:

1. One cannot do research without a research question. A question or questions define the direction of the project.

With regards to the present project, the guiding question reads, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" This question gives direction to the subsequent dialogues.

2. Empirical data is gathered.

In the case of this anthology, the empirical data is represented in terms of the concrete experiences and cases of the pedagogues that are shared and then philosophically investigated.

3. *Terms, including models and typologies, are used.* An example of a key term or concept used in the following dialogues is *Bildung*, which is quite central to folk high school pedagogy, but other pedagogical key terms like *learning, knowledge, etc.* are also brought up.

4. The research process is characterized in terms of an argumentative movement between question(s) and answers.

A dialogue essentially consists of questions and answers and the movement between them, as are the dialogues of the present project.

In reference to Kalleberg, Bjørnsrud (2005: 43) adds a fifth criterion: *The production of formal texts like reports, ar-ticles and similar publications.* In this way, new theories can come forward, which then can be discussed in reference to other theories. The present anthology as such also meets this criterion – not only is it a formal text and a publication, but in the dialogues references to other theories are explicitly made, especially in the third step of each investigation called *theoretical reflection*.

Hence, as seen in light of Kalleberg's four elements (and Bjørnsrud's fifth), the philosophical dialogues carried out and presented in this anthology can legitimately be called *research*.

5. Presentation of the dialogues and the research ethics

The research ethics underlying this project are, on the one hand, the ethics of dialogue with values like openmindedness, mutual esteem, fairness, honesty, humbleness, respect, tolerance etc. at its core (see Weiss, 2015b). In addition, the project was accredited by NSD - Norwegian Center for Research Data. NSD approved the design and the processing of the research dialogues, on which the chapters of this anthology are based on. Furthermore, the identity of any eventual third parties was – as required by NSD – kept anonymous. Moreover, to formulate it in the words of the guidelines given by The Norwegian Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (NESH), consent from these anonymous third parties was neither possible nor necessary, for there was "no direct interaction between the researchers and those involved" (NESH, 2022: § 18) in the experiences shared by the practitioners since these experiences often date back years. In this respect, it has to be emphasized that due to the employed Reflective Practice Research design, it was the respective practitioner (that is, the participating pedagogues) and his or her practices that were in the focus and under investigation in the dialogues.

The different dialogues of this anthology can be briefly summarized in the following way:

In the dialogue "When Education is at Risk" with Filipina Millenberg, a teaching experience is shared and reflected upon, which seems to represent a concrete example of Biesta's idea of "the beautiful risk of education" (Biesta, 2013). How a folk high school teacher can deal with this risk is further investigated in the course of this conversation.

What "The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher" might be about is examined closer in the dialogue with Kjetil Hareide Hallre. As it turns out, stepping out of one's conventional role as a teacher and just being a human being might appear like a paradox, but it seems to be an essential dimension of folk high school pedagogy nonetheless.

The dialogue "No Fish Pudding" with Steinar Bryn examines a peace-building project that was carried out at the Nansen Academy. In the course of the conversation, a dialogical room is outlined that has four 'walls.' It is then investigated more closely how these four 'walls' provide for a good dialogue and for good folk high school pedagogy. The dialogue "The Human Landscape" with Benedicte Hambro focuses on how folk high school students' personalities can be challenged and fostered and how this relates to becoming an active citizen. Related to that, the question of how one can learn to live together with others even though one might have different opinions is examined more closely.

In the dialogue "Golden Moments", Sigurd Ohrem shares an experience that at first does not appear to be ped-agogical in nature. However, as the dialogue unfolds, a pedagogical attitude is examined that resembles the Taoist *Wu Wei*, that is, doing by not doing, and how this attitude might play a vital role in the students' Bildung-process.

In the dialogue "So that Life Becomes Bigger" with Johan Lövgren, a course about learning to deal with difficult feelings like grief and sorrow is presented and reflected upon. How this course relates to a good folk high school is further investigated in this conversation.

"Pedagogy for the Rich" is not only the title of the dialogue with Brita Phuthi, but it is also the name of an educational program that was put into practice at several folk high schools. Its main intention is to make the students aware of their own attitudes towards life and the world and how one can contribute to societal change.

6. Concluding remarks

In this introductory chapter, I discussed and examined the question, "Why choose philosophical dialogue as a research approach to examine pedagogical practices at folk high schools?" Doing dialogues and then calling them research is certainly not a conventional methodology. As I tried to point out, however, in the case of the present project, it appeared to be a valid option for the follow-

Before Starting

ing reasons: Good folk high school pedagogy is a question of *eupraxia* (good practice) and good practice a question of phronesis. Phronesis – which I operationalized for this project as *responsibility* - requires a specific form of research, in contrast to conventional methodologies intended to develop the knowledge forms of epistemé or techné. So-called *phronetic research* (see e.g. Flyvbjerg, 1991; Bjørnsrud, 2005: 138) was identified as a suitable form of research required for this project. At its heart lies the interplay between general ideas and theories on the one hand and concrete examples and experiences on the other (see ibid.). For only through this interplay, this movement - which many assume to represent the activity of philosophizing (see e.g. Teichmann & Evans, 1999: 1; Lahav, 2016: 20; Helskog, 2019; Weiss, 2017b) - the context-relatedness, which is inherent in the knowledge form of phronesis, can be safeguarded. Since this interplay between the concrete and the general is represented in both Reflective Practice Research (see e.g. Lindseth, 2020b: 97) and philosophical dialogues in general (see Weiss, 2015a), it appeared legitimate to combine both into what I called Reflective Practice Research dialogues. Even though this specific form of research dialogue is quite new, dialogue is already incorporated centrally in several other practice-oriented research approaches, like in Practical or Dialogical Action Research (see Carr & Kemmis, 1986: 202f; Bjørnsrud, 2005: 38; Alrø & Hansen, 2017). Philosophical dialogue as research methodology was explicitly outlined by Finn Thorbjørn Hansen (2015a). In fact, one can find several academic publications in the humanities and the social sciences written in dialogue form, some by well-known authors (see e.g. Gadamer, 2001; Horton & Freire, 1990; Hattie & Larsen, 2020; Pauer-Studer, 2003; Pitschmann & Wallner, 1995; Burton, 2021a & 2021b; Rosa & Endres: 2016). Against this background, it appears

legitimate to investigate Nordic folk high school pedagogy by means of a dialogical approach, not least since the dialogical spirit of Grundtvig, the founding father of these schools, still seems to live on in the daily pedagogical practices of these schools. Before Starting

References

- Alrø, H. & Hansen, F. T. (2017): "IT'S MESSY AND MAGIC om dialogisk aktionsforskning." In: Alrø, H. & Hansen, F. T. (eds.): *Dialogisk aksjonsforskning – i et praksisnært perspektiv*. Aalborg: Aalborg Universitetsforlag.
- Aristotle (1980): *The Nicomachean Ethics* (Ross's translation (see Ross [1925]), revised by J.L. Ackrill and J.O. Urmson). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Angeltun, C. (2023): "Signs of a Good Dialogue." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies*. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Anscombe, G. E. M. (1981): "Thought and Action in Aristotle: What is Practical Truth? The Collected Philosophical Papers of G.E.M. Anscombe." Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press 1: 66–77.
- Bergh, J. (2023): "The role of role models in military leaders' practice and education." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Ped*agogies. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2013): *The Beautiful Risk of Education*. London & New York, NY: Routledge.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2015): "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher? On judgement, wisdom and virtuosity in teaching and teacher education." In: Heilbronn, R. & Foreman-Peck, L. (eds.): *Philosophical perspectives on the future of teacher education*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Bjørnsrud, H. (2005): Rom for aksjonslæring: om tilpasset opplæring, inkludering og læreplanarbeid. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Bloom, S. (2023, in print): "Missed Connection: A Semi-Liminal Encounter with a Digitized Holocaust Survivor." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies*. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Brinkmann, S. (2007): "Could Interviews Be Epistemic? An Alternative to Qualitative Opinion Polling. In: *Qualitative Inquiry*, 13 (8).

- Burton, H. (ed.) (2021a): Conversations about Philosophy, Volume 1. Open Agenda Publishing.
- Burton, H. (ed.) (2021b): Conversations about Philosophy, Volume 2. Open Agenda Publishing.
- Carr, W. & Kemmis, S. (1986): Becoming Critical. Education, Knowledge and Action Research. London: Falmer Press.
- Collier, J. (1945): United States Indian Administration as a Laboratory of Ethnic Relations. In: Social Research, 12 (3).
- Corey, S. M. (1953): Action Research to improve school practices. New York, N. Y.: Teachers College Columbia University.
- Dahlberg, K. (2011): Lifeworld phenomenology for caring and health care research. In: Thomson, G., Dykes, F. & Downe, S. (eds.): Qualitative research in midwifery and childbirth. Phenomenological approaches. New York: Routledge.
- Dewey, J. (1910): How we think. Boston: D. C. Heath & Co.
- Dewey, J. (1916): *Democracy and Education. An Introduction to the Philosophy of Education.* New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Dinkins, C. S. (2005): "Shared Inquiry: Socratic-Hermeneutic Interpre-viewing." In: Ironside, P. M. (ed.): Beyond Method: Philosophical Conversation in Healthcare and Scholarship. Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press.
- Eidsvig, P.-E. (2023): "You are my fourth math teacher; how can you teach me math?" In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies.* Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Eikeland, O. (2011): "Aksjonsforskning som praksisforskning." In: Bjørke, G., Jarning, H. & Eikeland, O. (eds.): Ny praksis – ny kunnskap. Om utviklingsarbeid som sjanger. Oslo: ABMmedia as.
- EPSI (2022): Utdanningssektoren 2022 Elev- og Foreldretilfredsheten med Barnehage, Skole og Høyere Utdanning. https://issuu.com/epsinorway/docs/epsi_norge_ utdanningsl_pet_2022?fr=sYTY4ZTU0MzkwMTM
- European Commission (2018): *The European Qualifications Framework: Supporting learning, work and cross-border mobility.* Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

- Flyvbjerg, B. (1991): *Rationalitet og magt. Det konkretes videnskab.* Band 1. Copenhagen: Akademisk forlag.
- The Folk High School Act (2003): Act relating to folk high schools (LOV-2002-12-06-72). Lovdata. https://lovdata.no/ dokument/NLE/lov/2002-12-06-72
- Frankl, V. E. (2000): *Man's search for ultimate meaning*. Perseus Publishing. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (1997): "The Problem of Historical Consciousness". In: Rabinow, Paul & Sullivan, William M. (eds.): *Interpretive Social Sciences: A Reader*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (2001): *Gadamer in Conversation. Reflections* and Commentary. London: Yale University Press.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (2003): A Century of Philosophy: A Conversation with Riccardo Dottori. New York: Continuum.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (2004): Truth and Method. 2nd revised edition. London / New York, NY: Continuum.
- Gallagher, S. (1992): *Hermeneutics and Education*. Albany, NY: Sunny Press.
- Haddal, O. & Ohrem, S. (2011): Pedagogikk på en fri læringsarena. In: Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.): Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Hadot, P. (1995). *Philosophy as a Way of Life. Spiritual Exercises from Socrates to Foucault.* Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Halås, C. T., Kymre, I. G. & Steinsvik, K. (eds.) (2017): Humanistiske forskningstilnærminger til profesjonspraksis. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Hansen, F. T. (2014): Kan man undre sig uden ord? Design- og universitetspædagogik på kreative videregående uddannelser. Aalborg: Aalborg Universitetsforlag.
- Hansen, F. T. (2015a): "Det sokratiske forskningsinterview: et alternativ til kvalitativ forskning forstået som 'vidensproduktion'." In: Møller, J. E., Bengtsen, S. S. E. & Munk, K. P. (eds.): Metodefetichisme. Kvalitativ metode på afveie? Aarhus: Aarhus Universitetsforlag.

- Hansen, F. T. (2015b): "The Call and Practices of Wonder. How to evoke a Socratic Community of Wonder in Professional Settings." In: Weiss, M. N. (ed.): *The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice.* Vienna: LIT.
- Hansen, F. T. (2016): *At undre sig ved livets afslutning. Om brug af filosofiske samtaler i palliativt arbejde.* Copenhagen: Akademisk forlag.
- Hattie, J. & Larsen, S. N. (2020): The Purposes of Education: A Conversation between John Hattie and Steen Nepper Larsen. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Heckman, G. [1981] (2004): Six pedagogical measures and Socratic facilitation. In: Saran, R. & Neisser, B. (eds.): *Enquiring minds: Socratic dialogue in education*. Stoke on Trent, UK: Trentham Books.
- Heidegger, M. (1997): *Plato's Sophist*. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- Helskog, G. H. & Weiss, M. N. (2021): "On the urgent Need for Philosophical Practices in mainstream Education." In: Haser International Journal of Philosophical Practice, vol. 12
- Helskog, G. H. & Weiss, M. N. (2023): "Reflective practice research and kaleidoscopic epistemology." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies*. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Helskog, G. H. (2013): "Justifying action research." In: *Educational action research*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09650792. 2013.856769
- Helskog, G. H. (2014): "Moving out of Conflict into Reconciliation. Bildung through Philosophical Dialogue in Intercultural and Interreligious Education". In: *Educational action research*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2014.882262.
- Helskog, G. H. (2016): "Bildung towards wisdom through dialogue in teacher education." In: Arts and humanities in higher education, special issue on dialogue edited by Marije Althorf. 10.1177/1474022216670609
- Helskog, G. H. (2019). *Philosophising the Dialogos Way towards Wisdom in Education. Between Critical Thinking and Spiritual Contemplation.* London and New York: Routledge.

- Helskog, G. H. (2021): "Philosophising Towards Wisdom as Nurturing the Tree of Life in Us." In: Haser International journal of Philosophical Practice, vol. 12.
- Hermansen, M. (2001): Den fortællende skolen om muligheder i skoleudviklingen. Århus: Klim forlag.
- Horton, M. & Freire, P. (1990): We Make the Road by Walking: Conversations on Education and Social Change. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Kalleberg, R. (1992): Konstruktiv samfunnsvitenskap. Rapport nr. 24. Institutt for Sosiologi, Universitetet i Oslo.
- Kalleberg, R. (1995): Action research as science and profession in the discipline of sociology. In: Toulmin, S. & Gustavsen, B. (eds.): Beyond Theory; changing organisation through participative action research. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Kolmannskog, V. (2023): "Dear tangerine, where did you go?"
 Exploring the phenomenon of death in a Buddhist-informed gestalt therapy training workshop." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies*. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Korsgaard, O. (2017): "Nikolaj Frederik Severin Grundtvig: Mellem skolen for livet og skolen for lyst." In: Steinsholt, K. & Løvlie, L. (eds.), Pedagogikkens mange ansikter: Pedagogisk idéhistorie fra antikken til det postmoderne. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Kreiner, K. & Mouritsen, J. (2006): "The Analytical Interview Relevance Beyond Reflexivity." In: Tengblad, S., Solli, R. & Czarniavska, B. (eds.): The Art of Science. Copenhagen: CBS Press.
- Lahav, R. (2016): Stepping out of Plato's Cave. Philosophical Practice and Self-Transformation. Chieti: Solfanelli.
- Lewin, K. (1946): "Action Research and Minority Problems." In: Journal of Social Issues, 2.
- Lindseth, A. (2015a): "Foreword." In: Weiss, M. N. (ed.): *The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice.* Vienna: LIT.
- Lindseth, A. (2015b): "Being Ill as an Inevitable Life Topic. Possibilities of Philosophical Practice in Health Care and Psy-

chotherapy." In: Weiss, M. N. (ed.): *The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice.* Vienna: LIT.

- Lindseth, Anders (2017a): "Forskningens vei fra livserfaring til en observerbar verden og tilbake til livets virksomheter." In: Halås, Cathrine Thorbjørnsen, Ingjerd Gåre Kymre og Kari Steinsvik (eds.): *Humanistiske forskningstilnærminger til profesjonspraksis*. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Lindseth, Anders (2017b): "Refleksiv praksisforskning." In: Halås, C. T., Kymre, I. G. & Steinsvik, K. (eds.): *Humanistiske forskningstilnærminger til profesjonspraksis*. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Lindseth, A. (2020a): "What Is at Stake in the Narrative of the Guests of Philosophical Practice?" In: Synthesis Philosophica. Vol. 70. doi: 10.21464/sp35205
- Lindseth, Anders (2020b). "Dosenten i et FoU-perspektiv. Refleksiv praksis-forskning som en vei mot dosentkompetanse."
 In: Bachke, C. C. & Hermansen, M. (eds.): Å satse på dosenter. Et utviklingsarbeid. Oslo: Cappelen Damm Akademis.
- Lipman, M. (2003): Thinking in Education. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lövgren, J. & Nordvall, H. (2017a): A short introduction to research on the Nordic folk high schools. In: Nordic Studies in Education, Vol. 37, 2-2017.
- Lövgren, J. (2017b): The Reflective Community: Learning Processes in Norwegian Folk High Schools. Doctoral Thesis. Bergen: Norwegian School of Theology & Akademika publishing.
- Lövgren, J. (2018): "Community, Self and the Other: Learning Processes in Norwegian Folk High Schools." In: Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, Vol. 63–5.
- Lövgren, J. (2020): *Learning Together*. Copenhagen: FDD's Forlag.
- Lövgren, J. (2022): "From nation building to global citizenship: human rights education in the Nordic folk high schools." In: *Human Rights Education Review*, Vol. 5, No. 2.
- Lövgren, J. (2023): "Identity development in higher education: teacher's training informed by folk high school pedagogy." In: Weiss, M. N. & Hansen, G. H. (eds.): *Reflective Practice Re-*

search in Higher Education Pedagogies. Vienna: LIT Publishing.

- Lövgren, J., Hallqvist, A., Rahbek, R. K. & Lysgaard, J. A. (eds.) (2023): The Nordic Folk High School Teacher. Identity, Work & Education. Vienna: LIT Verlag.
- Malpas, J. (2018): "Hans-Georg Gadamer". In: Zalta, E. N. (ed.): *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Fall 2018 Edition). URL = https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2018/entries/gadamer/.
- McEvilley, T. (2002): *The Shape of Ancient Thought*. New York, NY: Allworth Press.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. (2005): Phenomenology of Perception. London & New York, NY: Routledge Classics.
- Mikkelsen, A. (2014). Frihet til å lære. Frilynt Folkehøgskole i 150 år. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Mikkelsen, S. (2022, 14.12.): "Mener høyere utdanning bør lære fra folkehøyskolen." In: *Khrono*. https://khrono.no/menerhoyere-utdanning-bor-laere-av-folkehogskoler/743743
- Norwegian Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (NESH) (2022): Guidelines for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities. https: //www.forskningsetikk.no/en/guidelines/social-scienceshumanities-law-and-theology/guidelines-for-research-ethicsin-the-social-sciences-humanities-law-and-theology/
- Nelson, Leonard [1922] (2004): "The Socratic method." In: Saran, R. & Neisser, B. (eds.): *Enquiring minds: Socratic dialogue in education.* Stoke on Trent, UK: Trentham Books.
- NOU 2022: 16 (2022): En folkehøgskole for alle Vilkår for økt kvalitet og mangfold i folkehøgskolene. Kunnskapsdepartementet.
- Ohrem, S. (2011): Samtalens vilkår på en dialogisk arena. In: Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.): Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.) (2011): Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.

Ohrem, S. & Weiss M. N. (2019): Myndig medborgerskap. Dialog og danning i folkehøyskolen. Oslo: Folkehøgskoleforbundet.

Pahuus, M. (2015): Længsel. Copenhagen: Forlaget Mindspace.

- Pauer-Studer, H. (ed.) (2003): Constructions of Practical Reason. Interviews on Moral and Political Philosophy. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Pietschmann, H. & Wallner, F. G. (1995): Gespräche über den konstruktiven Realismus. Wien: Wiener Universitätsverlag.
- Plato (2009): *The Socratic Dialogues*. Wokingham: [†]Kaplan Publishing
- Ricœur, P. (2007). *The conflict of interpretations. Essays in hermeneutics* (ed. Idhe, D.). Chicago: Northwestern University.
- Reason, P. & Bradbury, H. (2001): Handbook of Action Research. London: Sage.
- Rosa, H. & Endres, W. (2016): *Resonanzpädagogik: Wenn es im Klassenzimmer knistert.* Weinheim: Beltz.
- Singer, P. (2011): *Practical Ethics*. 3rd edition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Staude, D. (2015): "The Path of Consideration. Philosophical Practice in Dialogic Life Accompaniment." In: Weiss, M. N. (ed.): The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Stenhouse, L. (1975): An Introduction to Curriculum Research and Development. London: Heinemann.
- Teichmann, J. & Evans, K. C. (1999): *Philosophy A Beginner's Guide*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Utdanningsdirektoratet (Udir) (2017): Overordnet del verdier og prinsipper for grunnopplæringen. Retrieved 9th of May, 2022 from: https://www.udir.no/lk20/overordnet-del/ om-overordnet-del/
- Weiss, M. N. (ed.) (2015a): The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Weiss, M. N. (2015b): "Ethical Guidelines for Philosophical Dialoguing? From a Global Ethic Towards a Professional Ethics for Philosophical Practice." In: Journal of the American Philosophical Practitioners Association. Vol. 10, Nr. 3.

- Weiss, M. N. (2017a): "With Life as Curriculum. On the Relevance of the Socratic Method in Norwegian Folk High Schools." In: Philosophical Practice. Journal of the APPA. Vol. 12. Nr. 3.
- Weiss, M. N. (2017b): "Philosophical Mindfulness. An Essay about the Art of Philosophizing." In: HASER – International Journal of Philosophical Practice. Vol. 8.
- Weiss, M. N. (2018): "Phronesis The Backbone of Philosophical Practice?" In: Staude, D. & Ruschmann, E. (eds.): Understanding the Other and Oneself. Cambridge: Cambridge Scholar Publishing.
- Weiss, M. N. & Helskog, G. H. (2020): "They have AHAmoments often.' Teachers' experiences of Philosophizing The Dialogos Way with their Students." In: Educational Action Research. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2020.1811744
- Weiss, M. N. (2021a): "Reflective Practice Research in Teacher Education." In: Haser – International Journal of Philosophical Practice, Vol. 12.
- Weiss, M. N. (2021b): Daimonic Dialogues. Philosophical Practice and Self-Formation. A Research Report on a Series of Philosophical Guided Imageries Carried out at a Norwegian Folk High School. Vienna: LIT publishing.
- Weiss, M. N. (2023, in print): How can research foster folk high school pedagogy? In: Lövgren, J. (ed.): The Nordic Folk High School Teacher. An Anthology presenting Empirical Research from NRNF. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Weiss, M. N. & Helskog, G. H. (eds.) (2023): Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies. Vienna: LIT Publishing.
- Weiss, M. N. & Ohrem, S. (2016): "Philosophical Practice as Action Research. The Socratic Method at Norwegian Folk High Schools." In: HASER International Journal of Philosophical Practice, 7.
- Wittgenstein, L. (2009): *Philosophical Investigations*. Hoboken, NJ: Whiley-Blackwell.
- Zuber-Skerritt, O. (1992): Action Research in Higher Education. London: Kogan Page.

When Education is at Risk

Filippa Millenberg & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

The first dialogue of this anthology is somewhat special in the sense that it presents and investigates a pedagogical situation that took place at a Swedish folk high school, whereas all other dialogues focus on Norwegian schools. There are certainly differences between the folk high schools in Sweden and Norway, differences that are not further discussed here since the case shared in the present dialogue could also have taken place at a Norwegian school.

After some informal talks in connection with the work on "The Nordic Folk High School Teacher" (Lövgren, Hallqvist, Rahbek & Lysgaard, 2023), the present dialogue was performed in early November 2021. At that time, Filippa Millenberg was writing her PhD thesis on folk high school pedagogy at Linköping University. Already during her studies in teacher education, she felt that the ideas of *Bildung* and popular education (*folkbildning* in Swedish) were somewhat missing. For her – who understood learning in a more holistic way with the focus on personal development and growth – the reason to become a teacher, to put it bluntly, was because she wanted to prepare and equip (in Swedish *rusta*) people for life. Therefore, parallel to her teacher education, she enrolled in a program to become a folk high school teacher. After three years in the ordinary school system, she started at a folk high school where she taught for 10 years before starting her PhD studies.

In the course of the following dialogue, Filippa shares an experience that for the dialogue partners appears to be a good example of Biesta's idea of "the beautiful risk of education" (Biesta, 2013). Based on this experience, it is examined when a folk high school teacher should take this risk, when it becomes too risky, and what it actually is that is risked when taking this risk.

2. Dialogue

2.1. Concrete reflection

Michael N. W.: Filippa, with 10 years working at a folk high school, I assume you have significant experience regarding the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" In order to examine this question, I would like to invite you to share a concrete experience, a concrete pedagogical situation you were involved in that you think represents good folk high school pedagogy.

Filippa M.: In this case, I want to pick a story in which I worked with a group of students where some of them had some bad experiences from their former schooling. Others in the group had achieved good results in previous schooling, and the reason for their being in this group was that they lacked qualifications in some subjects, which meant that they could not apply for university. Their goal with the studies was thus merit. The group consisted of many different people at different ages, from different backgrounds and with different approaches to learning and to life in general.

One of the girls, for example, had a very strict and straightforward attitude in terms of "I want to enroll in a higher education program; I don't have time to waste, and in this one year at folk high school, I do what I am asked to do, and the rest is of no interest to me". Then again, there was a guy in this class; let us call him Tom. Tom had been bullied at his previous school. He had this self-image that he was not able to accomplish what he was supposed to and what he was asked to. He was very insecure and tried to protect himself in many ways. Tom would come five minutes late every morning, opening the door very silently and walking to his desk with his head kept down. I would always greet him when he came in, saying, "Good morning, Tom. Welcome!" He was not saying much, just nodding.

I recognized that this other girl that I just described, let's call her Sarah, was a bit annoyed about Tom being late every single morning. I did not do much about that; I didn't make a comment, nor did I talk to him about it. I felt secure in my way of handling the situation. One morning, however, Sarah rose up from her chair and shouted, "This is not OK any longer! You come late every single morning", and then to me, "And you even welcome him every day. This is my time for studying, and he is interrupting." In this aggressive tone of voice, she continued for a while.

There I was, standing in this chaos, thinking, "What am I going to do now?" I knew about Sarah's perspective, and I knew about Tom's experience being bullied and having low self-esteem, but I was not really prepared for this to happen on that specific morning or any morning, to be honest. So, I just told Sarah, "Ok, I heard what you said; that is your perspective. I have mine, and I think Tom has his. I suggest that we put this aside for now and go on with what we are supposed to do and then sort it out later. Is that OK with you?" And it was. Thinking back, I do not think they were OK with it, but since they did not protest, I went on.

At the time when this situation occurred, the class was reading and working on some texts about historical movements. Each student was supposed to choose a specific historical person, imagining that he or she would be this person. Then they would meet each other and create a dialogue between these different historical figures about their movements and how they struggled, what they experienced, what their problems and challenges were, and what kind of solutions they would come up with. The students were working in different groups, putting up these dialogues based on the persons they would play. When they went into their groups, I asked Tom, "Would you join me for a while?" He accepted, and we went out of the classroom. I said to him, "You know, about what happened this morning: I think that you are coming late because you have been bullied previously. And when you come in five minutes late, no one can mob you. So being late is something you do in order to feel secure in the classroom." (I said this without really knowing; I thought it was that way, and I tried it out.) And he replied, "Yes, that's the way it is. And you know that?" "Yes, I know it", I said, and "I think we have to make Sarah aware of this too. The way she attacked you is because she doesn't understand. And she needs to understand your situation, even if it might be hard for you to tell, but we can do it together." When saying this, it seems problematic because I am the one who encouraged Tom to share his life story, but I don't think I forced him; I knew him so well, so he could have said "no, I won't", but still, here is a risk. First, Tom was a bit doubtful, but I suggested a specific day so he would have time to prepare and think about it. Then he went into the classroom again, saying, "OK, I'll come back to you tomorrow." Then I asked Sarah to come out with me, and I said, "I do understand you got furious this morning, and I heard what you said. Can you tell me a bit more about what you are thinking and why you became so angry?" She replied, "This is just not the proper way to behave!" I replied, "But maybe you should know why Tom behaves the way he does?" Sarah thought she knew and replied, "Well, he is just bad-mannered. That is why he does things like this." So, I asked her, "Are you willing to listen to his story? Would you be willing to take part in a dialogue with the three of us?" Sarah accepted, but more or less half-heartedly.

After the talk with Sarah, there was a break, and during this break. Tom came to me, saving that he was willing to tell Sarah his story. So, after the break, the three of us went out. I started the dialogue by acknowledging that this situation happened this morning and that we obviously had different perspectives on it. I also stated that by sharing our perspectives on it, this situation offers a brilliant way of learning about life and being human. Then I invited Tom to explain why he came five minutes late every day. And he told his story, and while he was doing that, you could see Sarah changing her body language. She looked down, was silent, and was not as edgy as she would normally be. After Tom told his story, I said, "Sarah, I knew Tom's story; therefore. I made it a bit easier for him to sneak into the classroom. Also, I didn't want him to tell his story to the whole class since Tom was not ready for that." It was a hard situation for all of us, and Sarah started to cry and said, "I am so sorry!" She was straightening up and wanted to leave the room, but I said, "Just stay here for a while." We continued talking, and finally I said, "Look, Sarah, I don't want you to feel ashamed. This is just about sharing perspectives and learning about ourselves, and we are going to cooperate in this class for the rest of the year. We are going to be respectful, and since you know about this situation now, we can go on without hard feelings. Is that OK for you?" It was OK for her. Then Sarah asked, "What are we doing when we go back to the room?" I replied, "I

don't know. What do you think?" And she said, "Don't say anything about this. Let's not talk about it any longer." I agreed and asked whether that also was OK for Tom, and he said yes. So, we never said anything to the rest of the class. We never spoke about it again. However, the thing was that after a while, Sarah and Tom were cooperating really well together. In the first three weeks after this incident, they would just talk more often to each other, and after these three weeks, they started cooperating and sitting together, having coffee break[s] together in the dining hall and discussing things. They actually took an interest in each other.

This story, for me, says something about good folk high school pedagogy. To me, it is clear that the ideas about acknowledging what Grundtvig said, "människa först" (in English: "the human being first"), are becoming blood and flesh here. Being human among other humans – its complexity but also its learning possibilities – are at hand in this somewhat hidden curriculum.

Michael N. W.: This is a fascinating story for several reasons. However, before going into them, I have some questions. First, you said that after some weeks, Tom and Sarah started to cooperate quite closely. How was it for Tom and the others in the class? Was he engaging more with the others too? How was the whole group dynamic then?

Filippa M.: I would say that after Sarah and Tom started to bond, Tom was also more recognized in the class. Sarah had a high status in the class; she was straightforward, and she was also quite certain about things. So, when the two of them came together and started to cooperate, Tom was all of a sudden recognized as somebody important in the classroom in the sense that he made it clear that he actually could do things, that he understood things, that he could put his own perspectives on things, and so on. Even though he

was not talking all the time. I also think he became more a part of the group after they started to get to know each other and cooperate in different kinds of schoolwork.

Michael N. W.: If I understand you right, then Tom went through some kind of transformation in terms of his selfesteem. Since he was bullied previously, he probably never had much self-esteem; for example, that he would think of himself as being able to contribute to a community in a constructive way and that he was seen. With what you have said, it appears to be quite obvious that suddenly he was seen; he was recognized, accepted and kind of integrated. He received a different status in the class, so to speak. How was that for Sarah? Did she also change her social and emotional behavior?

Filippa M.: I think she actually did, but I also think that it was quite hard work for her to change her way of viewing other people. When she started at the school, she was so certain about things in terms of "This is just the way it is". The situation with Tom was not necessarily a wake-up call for her, but it nevertheless told her something. For example, that studying is not just about doing what you are asked, and then you are just out of here. Tom, by sharing his story, told her that studying in this context is so much more. I think that through that, she got a new understanding of people like Tom, about whom she previously thought were not serious. Before that incident with Tom, she would think that such people come late into class without caring, that they don't contribute to anything, whereas she would. At the end of the school year, she would make statements like, "When I entered the folk high school, I had to convince everyone about how things are, while now I know why people sometimes think differently and I am not responsible for them believing in my view." However, she would never say that from that moment on with Tom,

she would see things differently herself. And if you had asked her what she learned at folk high school, she would never say anything about who she was or what people's stories were. She would always say, "Well, I got my certificate; now I can go to higher education. And that was my goal." Nevertheless, I am still convinced that she also learned something else than the subjects of study, such as social and emotional behavior, but I am not sure whether she herself could see that clearly at the time. I don't think she was able to verbally express that. I don't think she was able to reflect at that time.

2.2. Critical reflection

Transformation **Michael N. W.:** I think this is a good point to go over to the next step of the dialogue, called critical reflection. In this step, one of the main questions is, "What is at stake in this story?"

In this respect, it seems obvious that Sarah had a straightforward perspective on learning, on what learning meant and what education meant. She would not – at least not in front of others – recognize that learning can also take place on a social or emotional level. Nevertheless, she obviously did learn something in this regard. It appears to be the same with Tom. What he learned in that case was not so much about a certain subject, it was not about getting in line with the standards of the formal education system. Rather, it was more about realizing that he also can manage to be recognized and to be seen in a community of peers. His social status changed and he contributed to that change. Therefore, I assume *transformation* as one of the central aspects in this story. I don't know what you think about it and there are for sure other aspects or themes too.

Learning to live together in dissonance

Filippa M.: I think you are right. Sarah had a very clear idea of what was supposed to go on in this class in terms

of her view on what learning is about and how it should be done. Like, you have a task to do in a given subject and as a student you should respond to that, learning was in Sarah's world linked to a subject and the outcome of her work is a specific task. However, that would just be one part of life that you as a teacher and as students bring into the classroom. According to Sarah's view, you don't bring in your whole life into the learning process. That was not interesting or relevant for her. In contrast to this view, Tom did bring his hard and difficult experience into the classroom, and I actually did not get the impression that he thought this experience could not be part of the learning process. I think he had a similar view to Sarah. However, I do think that along his studies his own experience about school, being bullied and what learning is all about changed. I think he actually viewed schooling and his own abilities in a different way after this year at folk high school. He appeared like a human being among other human beings and got to see himself with new eyes. In fact, I think he also learned something about the ideas of knowledge and learning which are central to folk high school pedagogy. I don't think Sarah picked up these ideas in the same way, but by the end of the year I think she also learned something, like on emotions, who she was, and so on.

Furthermore, I assume that sometimes when you work with students like Sarah, you have to be quite robust in your own role as folk high school teacher. That is, to acknowledge the views of your students, which are different from yours and still inviting your students to try to work on another way of viewing learning and knowledge. In a way you are saying "I know that you understand learning differently but let me teach you my way, follow me and give it a try." Of course, you would face skepticism and resistance from some students when you choose such an approach. Sarah, for example, had often said "I don't think your right; I don't think this is the right way to do it". About some exercises, she would even say, "This is like being in a primary school, working with scissors and glue. No, I am not going to do that!" By the end of the school year, she would at least say, "Well, OK, I will do as you suggest." In other words, you could see a change of attitude with her, but still, she was a bit suspicious all the time, thinking that this was not what school should be like. This is not about the teacher using power to take the students where he or she wants them to be or to get them to think and view things the same way as the teacher does. This is about giving humans a chance to be more human and to be able to see themselves in relation to other humans, to learn to live in the dissonance, which is central to living in a democracy. But this is just an invitation; students can say "no, thanks".

Connecting **Michael N. W.:** Maybe Sarah just did what she did be*worldviews* cause you asked her. Nevertheless, even though she was suspicious about it, she joined you in the private talk with Tom, for example. What happened after that talk, that is, the whole process during the remaining school year, could not have been foreseen by you as the teacher. You could not see it coming that after some weeks, Tom and Sarah would cooperate so closely. In a way, this talk was the turning point.

From what you are saying now, it is the term *worldview* that comes to my mind. Tom and Sarah had two completely different worldviews, and due to the talk that you initiated and facilitated, both of their worldviews could change. Actually, they could change in a way so that these two worldviews could connect, so to speak. And all of a sudden, Tom and Sarah could cooperate. Therefore, I am wondering whether *transformation*, *worldview*, *being social* and, of course, *cooperation* are key themes inherent in this story of yours. Especially cooperation appears to be quite cen-

tral in your shared experience since cooperation between Sarah and Tom was not possible before this particular talk. In order for the two to cooperate on a specific subject, for example, something had to happen on a social and emotional level first. And what happened on that level was that their worldviews got a little bit closer because they made adjustments to their individual worldviews. Sarah realized that she was sometimes too harsh in her opinions on how one should behave at school, on what a good teacher should be like, and so on. However, Tom could also realize that he in fact could make important contributions to the fellowship with the other students. In short, it was a learning process for both in terms of learning on a social and emotional level.

Filippa M.: Yes, definitely. Furthermore, I think that their different worldviews could actually come together just because of this initially chaotic situation in the class. It was not that the students sat down together and asked about each other's life stories. It was this chaotic situation that also made other people in this class see different worldviews, not despite but due to this clash. However, in the long run, they also experienced that something positive came out of it.

In fact, I was very close to asking Tom and Sarah at the end of the school year to share their story about what happened when they had this particular talk and what happened afterwards. Sharing that could have been a good experience for us all in that class. However, since Sarah and Tom had said back then in December that we shouldn't talk about this anymore, I felt that I had to respect that. For me, this was about finding the right balance. On the one hand, I thought that this could be a beneficial learning situation for us all, and as a group, we could respond to them at the end of the school year, saying, "Thank you; we are actu-

The beautiful risk of education ally learning something from your story." For me personally, this story was such a wake-up call concerning being in uncertainty as a teacher and being in that beautiful risk of education, as Biesta called it (see Biesta, 2013). This is also about teaching being authentic; it is about bringing ourselves into a real learning situation and standing in what is an authentic and difficult situation. For me, at the end of the school year, it would have been nice to tell them that this was a really important learning process for me as a teacher too. On the other hand, I wanted to be respectful towards Tom and Sarah. Nevertheless, I think I still regret that I did not ask them to say something about this story before we went on holiday. Though I think that the worldviews of the other people in the class came a bit closer, nonetheless. Though it was not shared, the incident in December and what followed from it did something to us all in this group. I think afterwards it was about bridge-building.

The need for Michael N. W.: When you say bridge-building, then I am wondering about two things. First, the chaotic situation. chaos From a pedagogical point of view, I am wondering whether chaos is needed in order to change a situation that is kind of stuck. In your case, the situation was stuck because of two people with very different worldviews who were also very convinced of their worldviews. The way out of this situation, which also made these two people transform their worldview, was chaos. In other and more general words, the question is whether people like Sarah and Tom need to face chaos first before they are able to transform their worldviews in order to come closer. Furthermore, are such chaotic situations also necessary for a teacher because it is in such situations that something happens? Or, to formulate it differently, if we assume that personal transformation is one of the key aspects at stake in this story, then is putting it

at stake – that is, arranging for a chance to make it happen – first possible when there is chaos?

Filippa M.: I think so. And if someone would ask me what I want to learn in a teacher program, then I would say that I want to learn to handle conflicts in teaching situations. How to handle such conflicts, which approaches are available, and so on. By trying to push these conflicts aside in order to proceed in the way that is easiest to go has little to do with working with human beings in a learning situation. Rather, we need to be aware that chaotic situations can be the starting point for something to grow and for something good to come out of it. However, such a situation also demands something from the teacher, and that is to dare to be vulnerable, to dare to be at this risk (of education), and to say to yourself, "I don't know the way to do this, but let us do it together. Let us try it out." So, yes, I think we need a bit of chaos. Also, because there is something authentic that is revealed in the chaos. Like Sarah, who was really upset; that is, she expressed an authentic emotion. Tom, too, was authentic. In fact, he could not do anything else; he was just stuck in his familiar pattern of behavior. There is something about being authentic in the classroom and welcoming your students to be authentic with their different stories and backgrounds. Authenticity in the classroom - even if it sometimes creates chaos - fosters democratic awareness among the students. Now, what do I mean by democracy in this respect? Democracy is about living together while knowing that we will not agree on everything. In fact, what I think democracy is about at its core is being able to live in dissonance, to live in a shared space without agreeing on everything but respecting each other by knowing our different worldviews and conditions. However, even if we have different worldviews, we still live together. We are aware of our different opinions, and we

To dare to be vulnerable

When Education is at Risk

can cope with them. I think this is an unspoken aim for many folk high school teachers derived from the ideas that formed this form of education (like in 1800, the big struggles about democracy, justice, and social change), which also might include a view of the aim of education also being about becoming human among other humans, to understand the self in relation to the world and others.

Michael N. W.: You bring up an important point here when you say democracy means that we try to live together, even though we know that we do not agree on everything. In fact, this is what happened in that class. They did everything but agree. There was conflict in that situation, which you were trying to solve. And you brought up an important idea in this respect: the vulnerability of the teacher. One can see that both Sarah and Tom were vulnerable, especially Tom. Now, making Sarah see his vulnerability also meant making her see her own. She started to cry and realized that she was not perfect and that she too could be wrong. This made her realize her own vulnerability in terms of fallibility. However, you also said that it is you, as the teacher, who has to be vulnerable. In this regard, I remember you mentioning that you still regret that at the end of the school year, you did not invite these two students to share their story with the class because you found it risky. Now, the whole story began with a risky situation where you invited both for a talk, and finally, it also turned out to be risky to invite them to share their story of what happened after that initial talk. Do you think that this also had to do with your own vulnerability that you did not ask them to share? Of course, you had respect for these two students since they both made it clear right after the initial talk that they did not want to talk about it anymore. And you respected that, which from an ethical point of view, seems to be absolutely right. However, was it also because you did

not want to risk such a public disclosure, so to speak, since it could play out the wrong way and then you would have felt hurt?

Filippa M.: Yes, I think you are right. However, what Risking, or would have happened if I had asked Tom and Sarah to share their story, and it would not have turned out well? Then I would have created something bad for the whole class – and on our last school day, where we were supposed to thank each other for this year. That would not have been good for anyone.

On the other hand, I could have asked Tom and Sarah, and they would have felt absolutely comfortable saying, "No, we won't do this." So, why did I not ask? Maybe it was because of me. This last school day was kind of a success for me, and I was afraid of getting in the way of that. If we had had another ending, it would have made me feel like I had done something as a teacher that was pedagogically wrong. In other words, I think you are right with what you said. What strikes me now when reflecting on what I just said is that the fact that I didn't dare risk 'again' also means that I excluded authenticity. Do you agree? And here I mean this balance between protecting oneself and daring to risk the possibility for authenticity and growth as humans.

Michael N. W.: Yes, but I also think that with regards to vulnerability, there is a difference between the situation at the end of the school year and that talk in December. To put it bluntly: In that talk in December, you had nothing to lose compared to the situation at the end of the school year, where you could have lost everything you achieved during that school year. And maybe you did not want to risk that? The question, though, is: Would there have been even more learning if you had dared to ask?

rather not?

Vulnerability presupposes trust **Filippa M.:** Definitely, because if we had told the story, I would have shared my point of view, and Sarah and Tom would have presented theirs. And then maybe other people in the class would have shared their own stories, and maybe we all would have suddenly realized that there were stories with other people in the class that had been initiated by Tom and Sarah's story, but we were not aware of them yet. So, we, as the whole class, could have made it 'our' story and not only Tom and Sarah's.

Here, I would like to add something about the "lost learning opportunity": If we all had told our stories, we would have recognized that being in a group in education, studying together, and living among others is not always easy. By saying that aloud, it also became explicit and something to bear in mind during the coming time. And maybe it had also become easier to pick up other 'risk situations' along the way. I also think that vulnerability presupposes trust, so what is at risk here might be the trust between Tom and Sarah, but at the same time, I do not think so. I do think that the trust was greater, so it would have stood the "test".

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: What I am wondering about now is the phrase coined by Biesta that you mentioned: "the beautiful risk of education" (Biesta, 2013). And maybe in the next step of our dialogue – the *theoretical reflection* – we could use Biesta's "beautiful risk of education" as our main theoretical angle. On the blurb of his same-titled book, we can read that this publication is about:

What many teachers know but are increasingly being prevented from talking about: that real education always involves a risk. The risk is there because, as W. B. Yeats has put it, education is not about filling a bucket but about lighting a fire. It is there because students are not to be seen as objects to be moulded and disciplined, but as subjects of action and responsibility. (ibid.: blurb)

To me, the story you told is a good example of this beautiful risk that you face as a teacher. In this story, it is not hard to see why the learning process of Tom and Sarah was rather about lighting a fire than filling a bucket. However, lighting a fire – in literal and obviously also metaphorical terms - requires more caution compared to filling a bucket. You brought in an important aspect of this risk of education, and that is the vulnerability of the teacher. Now, when we ask ourselves again. What is at stake in this story of yours? Then it seems that there was not so much at stake in that initial talk in December for you as the teacher compared to what was at stake for you at the end of the school year. At the end of the school year, it was the pedagogical success of that year – that is, the social learning of Tom and Sarah. They started to cooperate and were able to see the world differently. And exactly this you did not want to risk in order to "open up" the eyes of all the other students too, so that they could also come out with their stories and their worldviews. If that had happened, it would have added to the success you already had, of course. However, there was also the danger that by giving it a try, you would light a fire that would backfire, so to speak. In short, your attempt would fail. But in what way would it have failed? In the way that Sarah and Tom would have stopped cooperating or that it would have separated them? Therefore, with regards to Biesta's beautiful risk of education, I am wondering, when does education become too risky? When are we not willing anymore to risk our own vulnerability as teachers?

Filippa M.: If the trust between us is at risk of being M erased. And if my own vulnerability would risk being too w costly for the participants or for me without, for example,

When it's not worth the risk
When Education is at Risk

seeing a potential of a 'learning outcome' by being vulnerable. Do you see what I mean? If I, for example, were to tell a participant that his or her behavior or way of acting in the classroom hurt other people and even me, and I suspected that the participant could neither handle it nor understand and learn from it, but only seeing it as criticism, then it would not be worth risking my own vulnerability. It would be too costly, both for the participant and me.

Michael N. W.: When asking when we are not willing anymore to risk our own vulnerability as a teacher, I was doing so because you finally decided that it was too risky to ask Tom and Sarah to share their story.

Filippa M.: In this specific case, at the end of the semester, Risk and care I guess I was not too sure about the trust between us after all. They both finished their studies, and they were not coming back after the holidays, but if they would have done that, I would have had time to work on the trust if we had lost some of it. So, to sum up, the question of when I do not dare to risk my own vulnerability as a teacher is not only a question about myself but also about the participants' learning and experiences. Risking my vulnerability stands in relation to what they risk losing. Do you understand what I mean? Talking with Biesta, it also has to do with the teacher's view of humans (and their worldviews) (see e.g. Biesta, 2013: 4f). Seeing them as "subjects of action and responsibility" (ibid: 18), vulnerability is linked to what the teacher judges or assesses as reasonable actions and responsibilities based on the individual's ability. And here, the risk of the teacher is about a balance between challenging and protecting.

> In other words, the term risk means, for me, that you can put another person into a situation where he or she could get hurt and where you are not in control to follow that up, on the one hand. For example, as I just mentioned, you are

not able to talk to that person about what happened to him or her after the school year ends. On the other hand, risk in this case also relates to my own view and my own story as a teacher. Am I ready to reflect and review my stance and my story, or do I try to avoid that risk because I am not ready to do that kind of self-reflection yet?

In a folk high school context, risk can also be related to the term *care*. And care is also at stake in this particular story I told because in folk high school, we want to care about people. Metaphorically speaking, we do not want them to fall too hard; we want to lift them up and "rebuild" them, so to speak. We want them to unleash their full human potential. That is, at least, the ideal.

Already with these few aspects that I just mentioned, you can see the complexity of risk and its different pedagogical implications that you are dealing with as a teacher. It is like finding the right balance between these different implications of risk. Finally – and this is a question that I am also posing to myself – isn't it worth it to take this beautiful risk of education anyway? What could be the worst thing to happen?

Michael N. W.: The worst thing that could happen would probably be chaos. That is, with reference to Biesta's idea of education as lighting a fire (see Biesta, 2013: blurb), you set all the pedagogical work that you have done as the teacher on fire. All that just goes up in smoke.

Filippa M.: Yes, but on the other hand, if I had not been put *Phronesis and* into that chaos, I would not have experienced that there is a way through this. My actual insight from that experience, hence, is that there might be a fruitful way in other cases as well. In other words, it is worth taking the risk.

Since we try to see this story from more theoretical perspectives now, there is also something else that comes to my mind, which has to do with teacher education in gen-

responsibility

eral. In teacher education, the student teachers are often told to find the right methods and the right theory-based strategies. Just take a look at behavioral or cognitivist learning theory and their central role in teaching books for teacher education in Scandinavia (see e.g. Imsen, 2020; Stray & Wittek, 2014). With that, however, the possibility of taking that risk becomes narrower, I think, because then the teachers are already equipped and "armed" with specific strategies and methods whose purpose is nothing but to shut out chaos and risk. In contrast to that, phronesis in terms of practical wisdom can be mentioned. Its relevance in teacher education has been pointed out by several (see e.g. Helskog, 2019: 40f; Hansen, 2011: 250). By the term phronesis, I mean to be able to be present in a situation and to act prudently in it by reflecting existentially on it (which, in a way, also involves embodied and experiencebased knowledge) (see e.g. Biesta, 2015: 12f). Responding to a situation in this way might lead to something that you could not see in advance.

So, when we talk about applying methods and strategies, we do not really make room for either risk or phronesis, I think. On the contrary, by applying methods, we want to get rid of everything that appears to be risky and chaotic.

Michael N. W.: That is a good point. It reminds me of the paradox of education as outlined by the Norwegian pedagogue and philosopher Hans Skjervheim. He said that when a teacher realizes that his or her methods won't work with a certain student, the teacher tends to switch completely and let this student develop freely (see Skjervheim, 2002: 117). However, this does not make the situation any better because what the teacher insinuates with this reaction is that this student is a hopeless case, and therefore, lets him do what he wants. Put in the words of the philosopher Anders Lindseth, Skjervheim assumed that "From this

The potentiality and reality of the learning situation paradox, there is only one way out: understanding the educational activity as a dialogue between educator and the one to be educated, a dialogue in which both are shaping and shaped at the same time." (Lindseth, 2015: 64) And actually, this is what you did with Tom and Sarah – you went into dialogue with them.

However, when I say that, I also remember what you mentioned at the beginning of our dialogue when you told the story about these two students. There, you said that at the end of the school year, you saw the opportunity to invite Tom and Sarah to share their story with the class. Finally, however, you decided against it, and you stated, "I still regret that I didn't do that." For some reason, it is this statement that gives me the impression that this story still has a certain impact on you. I imagine this impact like a certain 'itching' every time you come into a similar situation, telling you, "Now is the time to try it out!" Or, to put it in other words, my impression is that this story about the end of the school year had a cliffhanger ending for you, so to speak. You could also say that this situation created a certain imbalance in you. You already mentioned that finding the right balance -e.g. between protecting oneself and daring to risk the possibility of growth, between challenging and protecting - was quite central for you in this episode. And here I am wondering whether the risk of education we are talking about also relates to a certain felt and experienced imbalance with the teacher – with the emphasis put on *felt and experienced* because the imbalance is rather intuitively felt than disclosed by a rational analysis of the respective situation. Almost like an itching spot, this felt and experienced imbalance invites being rebalanced by the teacher. And if you cannot scratch this spot, it keeps on itching, to put it metaphorically.

For example, in the situation with Tom and Sarah, there was no balance in the beginning. You mentioned that it

was also a challenging situation for you as the teacher who then kind of balanced it out. So, in more general terms, we could assume that when there is imbalance in the classroom, be it of a social or emotional nature, then it does something to the teacher. It makes itself felt, so to speak. What the situation in December did to you was that you did something with that situation too. You acted upon this 'itching' imbalance by inviting the two students for a talk, and after a while, it worked really well between the two of them. Suddenly, they could cooperate. The imbalance was rebalanced; it was not itching anymore, so to speak.

At the end of the school year, however, it was you experiencing a kind of imbalance again. Not that there was a difficult situation with the students again; rather, you saw a learning potential in that situation that could be unleashed. So, the imbalance was created within you by you realizing a difference between potentiality and reality - between what could be and what in fact was. However, this time you finally decided not to act upon this feeling of imbalance and did not go into a further transformation and learning process. Instead, you chose to take this imbalance with you. And it is here that I assume this kind of "itching" springs from this felt imbalance. In other words, this imbalance created a certain force or drive in you that you still carry with you, which makes the chances higher that the next time you come into a similar situation, you act upon it you "scratch the spot," so to speak. This is what I meant when I said that this story had a cliffhanger ending for you.

Being present **Filippa M.:** I think you are definitely right, and when you say it like that, I also think there is a further important aspect revealed here. In Swedish it is called "*nærvær*", and though in English it is translated with *being present*, it does not really fit the Swedish term. In German, it would probably be Heidegger's "*Dasein*" (see 1962: 27 or 68). Maybe

it is best translated as *being in a situation wholeheartedly* (on wholeheartedness and vulnerability, see e.g. Brown, 2021).

I think you have to be present wholeheartedly in such a chaotic situation in order to be aware of and be able to handle the imbalance. With that, the general question is, How can we as teachers be present wholeheartedly in terms of listening carefully, feeling and sensing the respective situation, being open towards different ways of handling it, and at the same time, trying to understand the students' worldviews in order to open up for a way for us all to go together? To me, this is not only about vulnerability but also about being present wholeheartedly in a given situation.

Now, being present wholeheartedly in terms of being open, listening and so on, is something that you can train as a teacher, I think. However, it is not the same as learning to apply methods. For when we talk about didactical methods and strategies, we often think that people are all the same and situations are the same. Therefore, you can treat them with the same methods. This, however, is not what I mean when I say that you can train such a wholehearted attitude. Rather, what I mean is the teacher taking a stance, a worldview that allows for people to be unique and for situations to be different. The attitude I am talking about does not only imply meeting others as different subjects, but rather being intersubjective. In more metaphorical terms, this means that we meet in-between. And when we meet in-between, we can take our different worldviews into this *in-between space*, so to speak. There, in this space, we can focus on what is important and valuable for us all in that situation. However, in order to be able to do that, we have to put ourselves "all-in", so to speak. That is, we have to put our different worldviews and feelings into this in-between space. We have to be authentic and live our own position and attitude. Hence, vulnerability in this respect means to *dare* to go into this in-between space. Does this make sense to you?

Taking a stepMichael N. W.: Oh yes, it does. To me, this intersubjectivity, this *in-between space*, as you called it, seems to be quite similar to what David Bohm talks about in his theory on dialogue (see e. g. Bohm, 1996). He assumes that in a dialogue, you create a common space, a space in-between people where you meet as a whole human being, where you are authentic (see e. g. ibid.; Bohm, Factor & Garrett, 1991; Banathy & Jenlik, 2005: ix). And if you want to be authentic, you have to be vulnerable. Therefore, this concept of inter-subjectivity, that you brought up, seems quite relevant here because it opens up for authenticity, and that also includes vulnerability.

This also appears to tell us something about the risk of education or, to be more precise, about the wholehearted teacher and when he or she is not willing to risk anymore. How do I mean that? To put it bluntly: You, at the end of the semester, did not want your heart - your whole heart to get hurt. You said to yourself, "Now it is enough for me." With that, you reveal an important aspect with regards to being a teacher in general. For example, when it comes to this wholeheartedness, then I think of my student teachers: When they do their teaching practice in their first semester, they have little experience, but they mean well with their pupils. They do this practice wholeheartedly. However, as a matter of course, they soon come into situations that overchallenge them and feel too risky for them. What they do then, in metaphorical terms, is take a step back. By taking a step back, however, they are not in the situation anymore with their full presence because otherwise they would be afraid to get hurt. Not physically, but in their role as a teacher. What you described in your case says something essential about this risk of education from Biesta, I think.

It seems to explain why teachers, at a certain point, take a step back and why they do not dare anymore to stand in that situation wholeheartedly. For it is their 'whole heart' that is at stake then, and they do not want to risk that.

Filippa M.: When you put it like that, then it reminds me of this image of being a teacher, where you deliberately do not bring in yourself as a person and where you understand being a teacher as nothing more than a professional work. To me, it is like ignoring something about yourself, like you go into this professional role and after teaching, you go back to who you are. I think such a view of being a teacher is quite problematic because it does not recognize this wholeheartedness and the risk that comes with it as something positive.

In contrast to that, the role of the teacher, as we have discussed it here so far, is completely different from that image. Going into the teaching situation with your whole person, as who you are as a human being, was a central aspect of the teacher's role as we outlined it. That does not mean that you are unprofessional, but sometimes such a stance resembles not being a professional teacher in terms of not sticking to methods and strategies and not keeping your students at a distance. Therefore, I think we need ways to talk about such questions, like what it means to be professional and ethical. This is not a matter of didactics but of philosophy, I assume. We need philosophy in order to be able to talk about different teaching approaches.

Michael N. W.: What comes to my mind when you say that is the approach from Ran Lahav. Lahav is a renowned philosophical practitioner, and he understands philosophical practice as *worldview interpretation* (see Lahav, 1995). In simple terms, the basic assumption of his approach is that we all have our own philosophy of life. Not in terms of a coherent theory, however, but expressed in our feelings,

Choosing away methods

Folk high school pedagogy as worldview interpretation values, beliefs and attitudes (see ibid.: 4f). Sometimes we do not realize the philosophy behind these feelings, values and so on; that is, we are not always fully aware of our worldview. By means of philosophical practice, as Lahav suggests, our worldviews can be challenged and by that, we can become aware of it. Once aware of our worldview, we can make changes to it.

In fact, what you did with Sarah and Tom could be understood as worldview interpretation. You challenged them in their worldview interpretation, that is, how they interpreted the world. Consequentially, they realized what it was in their worldviews that did not work any longer in that particular situation, and, after a while, they made changes accordingly.

When you now suggest creating philosophical spaces or arenas in order to talk about questions of professionalism, then that too seems to relate to worldview interpretation. Since what you are suggesting here is actually an arena where teachers can be challenged in their personal and professional worldviews, for example, by asking, How can we dare to stand in a situation wholeheartedly?

Filippa M.: In this respect, my impression of teachers in primary school is that they become easily afraid in their own arena since there are so many different people who have questions for them, who have a say on what they are doing, who criticize the teachers' professional work. Be it parents, politicians and so on. Folk high school, on the other hand, is a place where you are not questioned and doubted as much as a teacher. I talked to so many teachers from the regular school system who worry "Is everyone happy with my decisions, or will somebody call me later on?", and so on. In contrast to that, teaching at a folk high school has kind of its own framing.

Michael N. W.: Do you think it is easier in folk high school to open up a space for exploring the teacher's worries in terms of vulnerability and the risks that can be taken?

Filippa M.: Yes, I think so, due to the folk high school's tradition of Bildung (see e.g. Ohrem & Haddal, 2011). That is, examining who you are is already a recognized part of education there. For the folk high school teachers I have met, it was very important to let their students investigate who they are. These teachers would integrate questions like "Who are you? Can you tell me something about your life story?" into their teaching. And I agree with them that it is more important for the students to get to know who they are rather than learn something standardized from a syllabus. Learning to know who you are is essential in order to get to know something or someone in general. In that sense, these teachers risk something with their students. And that "something" that is risked is about being recognized as a human being. In this sense, it would - probably - be easier at a folk high school to create such an arena where you can further investigate your worldview and the kind of risk we were talking about.

Michael N. W.: What you were describing now dealt with *Know thyself* the importance for the students to gain self-knowledge. However, what you also pointed out now – even though maybe more implicitly – was the relevance of the Socratic "Know thyself" for the teacher as well (see e.g. Gallagher, 1992: 198). The teacher, who has to engage in self-reflection and self-investigation in order to know who he or she actually is – not only as a teacher, but also as a person, as a human being. Only when you get going with that does it become easier to be a teacher in the sense that you dare to stand in a situation wholeheartedly.

Filippa M.: Very straight to the point. And maybe also a good point to finish up our dialogue?

Being recognized as a human being **Michael N. W.:** I agree. Let us stop here. Thank you very much for the inspiring conversation!

3. Epilogue

In this final section of the present chapter, central aspects, perspectives and insights that came forward in the previous dialogue are summarized. The intention here is not to analyze what has been said but rather to give a condensed overview of essential elements that were developed during the conversation.

With this in mind, we can say that in the previous dialogue, Biesta's expression "the beautiful risk of education" (Biesta, 2013) was reflected and approached from different angles as well as illustrated by means of a conflict situation between two students. As this situation unfolded, however, the two students not only *learned to live together in dissonance*, so to speak, but they also *connected their worldviews* and became learning partners and friends. In order to make this happen, Filippa, as the teacher of this class, had to *take certain educational risks* without knowing in advance whether her interventions would play out well and resolve the conflict.

Hence, in the previous dialogue, *consciously taking risks* in pedagogical settings – or consciously refraining from taking them – was assumed to be an integral part of a folk high school teacher's responsibility and, consequentially, of good folk high school pedagogy. In the further course of the conversation, being able to take such risks or not, that is, responding to them in a responsible way, also appeared to depend on whether a teacher can *be present in the respective situations wholeheartedly*. This wholeheartedness is not a question of methods or pedagogical tools. On the contrary, it means *that one dares to be vulnerable*

as a teacher and takes the chances that the situation offers. When examining this aspect of wholeheartedness, the dialogue partners concluded that it presupposes two further aspects. On the one hand, that the vulnerability of the teacher in terms of taking risks requires *having trust into the respective situation* – which is not the same as having control. On the other hand, this vulnerability and wholeheartedness requires first and foremost that one *recognize those involved as human beings*. That is, to have a genuine interest in the Other – your students – where you encounter them with questions like "Who are you? Can you tell me *something about your life story*?" In this way, the humanness and uniqueness of students can come forward, which makes it easier to work with *Bildung*-related issues.

References

- Banathy, B. & Jenlink, P. M. (eds.) (2005): *Dialogue as Means of Collective Communications*. New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2013): *The Beautiful Risk of Education*. London & New York, NY: Routledge.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2015): "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher? On judgement, wisdom and virtuosity in teaching and teacher education." In: Heilbronn, R. & Foreman-Peck, L. (eds.): *Philosophical perspectives on the future of teacher education*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Bohm, D., Factor, D. & Garrett, P. (1991): *Dialogue: A Proposal.* http://www.david-bohm.net/dialogue/dialogue_ proposal.html
- Bohm, D. (1996): On Dialogue. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Brown, B. (2021): Atlas of the Heart. Mapping Meaningful Connection and the Language of Human Experience. New York, NY: Penguin Random House.
- Gallagher, S. (1992): *Hermeneutics and Education*. Albany, NY: Sunny Press.

Hansen, F. T. (2011): "Unyttig som en rose – er eksistentiel dannelse i højere utdannelse en unødig luksus eller et afgørende momentum?" In: Hagtvet, B. & Ognjenovic, G. (eds.): Danning. Tenking – Modning – Refleksjon. Nordiske Perspektiver på Allmenndannelses Nødvendighet i Høyere Utdanning og Forskning. Oslo: Dreyers Forlag.

Heidegger, M. (1962): Being and Time. London: S.C.M. Press.

- Helskog, G. H. (2019). *Philosophising the Dialogos Way towards Wisdom in Education. Between Critical Thinking and Spiritual Contemplation.* London and New York: Routledge.
- Imsen, G. (2020): *Elevens verden innføring i pedagogisk psykologi*. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Lahav, R. (1995): "A Conceptual Framework for Philosophical Counseling: Worldview Interpretation." In: Lahav, R. & Tillmanns, M. d. V. (eds.): *Essays on Philosophical Counseling*. Gloucester: Plymbridge Distributors.
- Lindseth, A. (2015): "Being III as an Inevitable Life Topic. Possibilities of Philosophical Practice in Health Care and Psychotherapy." In: Weiss, M. N. (ed.): *The Socratic Handbook. Dialogue Methods for Philosophical Practice.* Vienna: LIT.
- Lövgren, J., Hallqvist, A., Rahbek, R. K. & Lysgaard, J. A. (eds.)
 (2023): *The Nordic Folk High School Teacher. Identity, Work*& *Education*. Vienna: LIT Verlag.
- Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.) (2011): *Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Skjervheim, H. (2002): *Mennesket*. (ed. by J. Hellesnes & G. Skirbekk). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Stray, J. H. & Wittek, L. (eds.) (2014): *Pedagogikk en grunnbok*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm Akademisk

The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher

Kjetil Hareide Hallre & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

Kjetil Hareide Hallre and Michael Noah Weiss met for the first time at a seminar for newly employed teachers at Ringerike folk high school, where they went on a philosophical walk together. Their paths crossed again at the University of South-Eastern Norway in the teacher program "Folk high school pedagogy." Since both of them had a certain interest – not to say admiration – for each other's work, it felt natural to invite Kjetil to the following dialogue, which took place on a snowy December morning in 2021. At that time, Kjetil was in his seventh year as a folk high school teacher. He teaches music and runs two different courses at his school, one for musical theatre and one for music performance, band and songwriting. He worked as a music teacher and musician for many years before he found his home at folk high school.

In the following dialogue, a situation is presented and investigated in which a folk high school teacher definitely does not end up on a daily basis. Nevertheless, similar situations can occur to anyone since they are part of life. During the conversation, the dialogue partners assumed that stepping out from one's conventional role as a teacher and just being a human being is an essential dimension of folk high school pedagogy. At first, this might appear like a paradox because just being a human being seems to strip off the teacher's professionalism. And what should a teacher be if not professional? In the further course of the conversation, however, it turns out that this paradox – this *crux of the folk high school teacher*, as it will be called – seems to be necessary in order to support the students in their individual *Bildung*-processes.

2. Dialogue

Michael N. W.: Kjetil, you have several years of experience as a folk high school teacher. And that experience might also be a valuable resource for our dialogue now, in which we investigate the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" In order to go into this investigation, I would like to invite you to share an experience that you think represents a good example of folk high school pedagogy.

2.1. Concrete reflection

Kjetil H. H.: That is a good question and when I ponder it, there is one situation that I would like to share. In order to keep the involved persons anonymous, I will change or not disclose certain details. However, I will do that in a way that does not alter the essence of the story.

Some years back, we had one of these entertainment evenings at our school. I was about to get dressed and go to the school when I got a phone call from a teacher colleague who informed me that one of my students just received a phone call that his father had a life-threatening seizure. So, my colleague asked me whether I could come and sit with that boy for a while. So, I went to the school and sat down with him, and we talked. At that point, he did not know much about the situation, just that his father, to whom he was very close, had this severe seizure. We sat and talked for a long time, and I remember that I felt quite inadequate as a teacher. Because what should you talk about? What could you say, and how could you help someone in such a situation? How could you give consolation? Where is your authority in terms of your teacher's role when you find yourself in such a moment in which you feel so naked and inadequate?

While we were sitting there, the boy's mom called again and told him that his father did not make it. Being in that situation as the teacher, you first of all realize that you have all these hopes, plans and dreams about what it is to be a teacher and to be skilled and knowledgeable – to be steady and stable in your position and your role. But in the face of such a big life event, you are just stripped of all that and left with just being a good human being – hopefully – or at least "the next person around". In other words, this experience stripped away my preconceptions of what I would do in a situation like that. Instead, I was trying to just float, say the right thing and just be there.

Maybe it was a flash of inspiration, but I suggested going for a walk, bringing my dog with me. So, we took a walk while it was cold and raining, talking about everything and nothing, about life, about family and dogs, and so on. Now, looking back on that experience, to me, it is an example of folk high school pedagogy because it breaks down the barrier of "I am the teacher, and you are the student" and replaces it with two human beings who try to navigate through this complicated and, at times, cruel and hard world. Just sitting in a room talking or going for a walk with a dog, it was just two people trying to swim through this sea of life, so to speak. Later, I thought that this was

The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher

one of those moments where the hierarchical structures between the teacher and the student were truly disassembled. We were just two people talking about life.

You asked, 'What is good folk high school pedagogy?' and that question might give the impression that in order to answer, you need a pedagogue. And the pedagogue does pedagogy, and that is how it all happens. However, much of the pedagogy that happened in the situation I described was not something that was done or added by a pedagogue. Rather, it was the situation as such that brought it forward. It was the situation letting me simply be a human being instead of me panic-fueled trying to get hold of some sort of hierarchical position or teacher's role. The situation made me just someone there to comfort and to talk to. I also think that this was possible due to the good relationship that the student and I had built up during the semester. Before that situation, the student and I knew each other fairly well, as student and as teacher, and as you do in a folk high school. So, when it came to that moment I was describing, the student could also feel that he could trust me and trust that I wanted the best for him. That I would be a good conversational partner for that situation. Also, going for a walk and bringing a dog enriched the human experience in that situation.

2.2. Critical reflection

From being a teacher to being human

Michael N. W.: It is a very impressive story that you have chosen. Quite in the beginning, you said that you felt "naked" when you were in that situation. As you said yourself, you were kind of stripped of all these "instruments" one eventually would expect from a pedagogue, also because of all the pedagogical knowledge you had, you felt useless at that moment. You could not use your skills and your knowledge as a resource in that situation. For me,

it is interesting that you chose this example even though it seems that you stepped out of your teacher's role. You were just a human being meeting another human being at a very challenging moment. But still, you say this is part of folk high school pedagogy.

I think I have a quite clear picture of this situation. When we now move further on in the dialogue to the next step, where the question is, "What is at stake in this experience of yours?", then what do you think is at stake? Instead of "being at stake", you could also ask what was essential in that situation, and if you took that out, then it would not be the same experience.

Kjetil H. H.: If I understand the question right, I think Navigating loss for me as the teacher, it was about dealing with the loss of the student. The student losing his father is obviously at the core of the situation. First, the fear and the worry, and then that loss that he was facing, what life threw at him. That is so horrible and so rough. And then also, trying to navigate that in the best way possible while knowing this is not something you can fix. This is not something that vou can solve. Therefore, the question rather is, what can I offer in terms of comfort, what can I offer in terms of empathy, love and sort of meaning in that moment?

Michael N. W .: I think I understand what you mean. This is also the reason why I did not ask you how you felt afterwards and so on. It is obvious how that student felt. For a human being, it is probably one of the worst situations to receive the message that one of your close ones is struggling, fighting for his or her life – and then the next message you get is that he or she did not make it. In fact, this is one of the worst scenarios that can happen. Giving comfort, being there as a human being and stepping out of your formal teacher's role, and instead just being human in the actual sense of the word - would you say those are essential

The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher

attributes of the folk high school teacher? I also ask this because these are not necessarily essential attributes that you would expect from a teacher in a conventional school. A teacher in a conventional school has a contingency plan for such situations that he or she must follow, while you were stepping out of the teacher's role and just being human instead of following certain steps of an emergency plan. Still, you were dealing with one of the most existential issues a human being can be confronted with.

 Learning-forlife
 kjetil H. H.: Yes, I think that is true. As a folk high school teacher, you are put in different situations where you should and have to step down from your pedestal as a teacher and just be there with your students. This idea goes back to Grundtvig, and it relates to an ideal of pedagogy in terms of *Bildung* (see e. g. Ohrem, 2011). The overall intention of this pedagogy is learning for life. For in the grand scheme, it does not really matter whether my students know all the different scales or can perform on stage as long as they can develop some sort of life wisdom. I think that is the true value of a folk high school, something that you would not get at a conventional school in the same way.

Being, notMichael N. W.: I think here you mention something very
important because with respect to the situation you de-
scribed previously, there is not a solution; there are no tech-
niques with which you can fix such a situation. You cannot
say "OK, the student is really sad because of what hap-
pened to his father, and now I have to do this and that, and
then the problem is solved." It is obvious that this does
not work. Instead, what you did in that situation was that
you were with the student and that means being there, be-
ing present – and not doing so much in the sense of a clear
plan and in terms of "This is the goal! And now we have to
do this and then this and then the student will be OK again".
This makes me wonder about what you just said about life

wisdom. The whole *Bildung*-idea of the folk high school is obviously to support the students to develop towards a certain practical wisdom, life wisdom, life experience. However, is it that there is in fact no real curriculum or teaching plan in order to achieve that? Instead, is it *being present*, *being there authentically* which is the actual key to this situation? There is something there in that experience you shared, which is not techniques nor a teaching plan – is it just *being there*? Is that enough?

Kjetil H. H.: That is a very good question. I think being there authentically, as you mentioned, is a very important aspect here – being there as a whole human being and not just as someone with a teacher hat, and that is the only hat you get to see, so to speak. Sometimes in class, I put my teacher hat on, but then in the break. I take it off when I go together with my students and grab a cup of coffee and talk about the Christmas holidays or something. In these moments, you are there authentically, almost like a whole human being, apart, of course, from what you keep in your private sphere. I hope all the folk high school teachers have a working definition for themselves of what the idea of Bildung means to them and what we are striving towards. As a folk high school teacher, I have a clear idea of what I want: I want the best for my students in their lives and not just in music. I want them to have a thriving life and take the next step in the right direction. And I need to have an idea about the direction in which they are walking. I am aware that these are vague definitions and not squareshaped boxes in which they have to fit in. Choosing such an approach is not always easy because each student stands and starts at a different point. Nevertheless, the definition that I have is foggy enough so that the learning and development process can become a very individualized path for each student. And exactly this is the challenge and the

The crux of being a folk high school teacher

The Crux of Being a Folk High School Teacher

crux of being a folk high school teacher: that you must figure out where the students stand individually and then try to see how you can guide them towards that vague but still defined goal of *Bildung* (see e.g. Hattie & Larsen, 2020: 176).

Michael N. W.: Let us have a closer look at that goal in terms of lifelong learning. Lifelong learning is a term coined by Grundtvig and sometimes even related to the German term Bildung (see e.g. Hansen, 2007: 329f). Now, I don't want us to elaborate on a straightforward definition of Bildung. As you said, it is a rather fuzzy term. Nevertheless, lifelong learning in other contexts is almost used synonymously with the term *continuing education* in the sense of the acquisition of skills and knowledge over a lifespan, which also gives an idea of how learning is understood in these contexts (see e.g. Hansen, 2007: 332; Davies & Longworth, 2013: 21): There is something that you can acquire; there is something that you can get in terms of knowledge, so you become more informed, more skilled, and so on. What you were saying now stood in contrast to that specific idea of lifelong learning. Lifelong learning, according to what you said, rather resembles a learning for life. And that, as far as I understand it, is not necessarily about acquiring anything; rather, it is much more about developing an attitude towards life. What do vou think about that?

Nuggets ofKjetil H. H.: I think you are right, though I don't think
that it is only about attitudes. Metaphorically speaking, it
is about finding the nuggets everyone has on his or her way,
the different nuggets of wisdom or learning to do. I don't
think that you can sneak around those nuggets. And find-
ing these nuggets, that's part of the goal, whether they are
skills or doing your laundry at home or learning to deal
with a conflict with a friend. Those little nuggets – in terms

of wisdom and also skills – you have to pick up, and that makes life easier. However, I think what you said about learning for life is maybe the most important aspect of picking up these nuggets, so to speak. In a sense, this is about *process vs. product – the process of life vs. the things that you have learned.*

In that respect, I think folk high school teachers differ on what they focus on. For myself, I think this learning for life is what has always driven me as a teacher. At our school, we have this definition of *Bildung*:

To become more conscious

- 1) about yourself, that is learning more about yourself;
- about other people, in terms of your relationship to others;
- 3) about the world.

These three levels are, of course, intertwined, and we use this definition often in conversations between us teachers and the students. The students might not see themselves clearly in light of the community with the others. Some of them also have a narrow view of the world, as if it does not exist and only they themselves and what they are doing is important. In this case, we would try to help to open up a window to the world, so to speak, or help them navigate the relationships in the community at school. In short, we want them to become more cognizant of these three levels.

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: If we now take a look at what we just *I-Thou, not I-It* investigated concerning *Bildung* and lifelong learning and see it from a more theoretical perspective, then it is Martin Buber with his I-Thou relation who comes to mind (see Buber, 2010). An I-Thou relation is the opposite of an I-It relation. In very short terms, in an I-Thou relation you try to

see the other as a unique being, whereas in an I-It relation, you see the other just as an object. To me, Buber's concept of the I-Thou encounter seems particularly relevant for the situation you were in with this boy who just lost his father. There you stepped out of your teacher's role in order to simply be a human being – and exactly this stepping-out from your teacher's role is part of being a folk high school teacher. This appears to be a kind of paradox because it means that being a good folk high school teacher sometimes requires you to step out of this teacher's role and just be a human being. Therefore, I would like to ask you, what do you think in general of Martin Buber's I-Thou relation and its eventual relevance for folk high school pedagogy?

Meeting students differently Kjetil H. H.: I think this concept is highly relevant. For example, when I refer to this concept as the three levels of Bildung that we use at our school, then I might meet one student where I know that I have to give him or her positive confirmation because I know from experience that he or she needs that. In other words, giving positive confirmation is something that helps this particular student on his or her path, while it would be something completely different that helps other students on their path. In this sense, you have to meet students very differently. However, in all these differences, there is also something common, and that is the need to be together with the students as human beings. And to just be with the students is something that we do when we have our evening shifts, for example, when the teaching time is over and the students just hang out, watching videos, playing darts or having a cup of coffee in the cafeteria. In those situations, our job is to walk around and talk to the students. In other words, there, it is about being another human being among and with them, a human being that is talking about Harry Potter or about a pet that a student just lost. In this respect, I think it is important not

to dominate such situations and talk over, like, "Here is the teacher coming in, and he will set the standards for the way we communicate with each other." Rather, as a teacher in such situations, you join such situations and conversations as an equal part, to some degree.

Michael N. W.: Have you heard about Lave and Wenger's concepts of Communities of Practice and what is called Situated Learning (see Lave & Wenger, 1991), which also are of relevance for folk high school pedagogy in terms of what Johan Lövgren called a "learning together" (Lövgren, 2020)? When you say that sometimes you just are together with the students in the evening, playing games and so on, then it appears that you are on the same level with the students, as you just said. However, is it really that the other students see you at that moment just as another student or still as a teacher? And if they still see you as a teacher – which I assume they do - then is there still some kind of hidden pedagogical task when you, as the teacher, go into such situations and pretend to be a student? I am aware that I formulated this question quite critically, but what do you think about it?

Kjetil H. H.: I think it is a good question. And indeed, Eve-level when I walk around and talk to the students, I want to spread positivity and be helpful, for example. This is not exactly the same at home, where I can allow myself to be more negative sometimes. At school, you are still at work, and that also means trying to be a good person and a good role model. I think as a teacher, you never get completely away from your position. Also, there are things that the students would not share with me but only with their fellow students. Whether these are things that have to do with breaking the school's rules or whether they have to do with other personal and private matters, there are certain issues they will not share with me. However, having said that, I

relationships

know that there are other teachers at the school who have in-depth conversations with their students about their love lives. In other words, there are different spheres of the students' private lives. Some of these spheres they will share with the teachers and others they won't. Based on several conversations that I have had on this issue with some students, I can say that they see you more like an uncle or an aunt or a family friend. So, you have the classroom situation where you are the teacher, but, in the evening, you are more like an older brother or a family friend, at least to a certain degree. We as teachers are grown-ups, and the students come to you with certain issues - issues they would not discuss in that way with their peers. But still, the relationship between a folk high school teacher and his or her students is more at eye level than the conventional teacherstudent relation in a normal school or university.

Existential Michael N. W.: When you compare the folk high school teacher with an uncle or an aunt who is guiding the stupedagogy dents, then we can ask, what is it in the relationship between an uncle and his nephew that is different than the relationship between this nephew and the nephew's cousin? For me, the difference is responsibility. And here, we can bring in what is called existential pedagogy. Responsibility is a key theme in the works of some representatives of existential pedagogy, like Viktor Frankl (see e. g. 2000: 29) or Tone Sævi (see 2015), who described it more in terms of response-ability. And with response-ability, generally speaking, they mean to respond to a given situation in the best way you can. Do you think that responsibility, understood in this way, can explain a bit more the difference between you as the teacher in that room playing dart with your students compared to the students playing dart only among themselves?

Kjetil H. H.: I think that is a very good point. And when you say responsibility, then I do not only think of the responsibility towards the students that I have. I also think of the responsibility that I have towards the school in terms of loyalty. For example, I have to make sure that the students are not doing things that would ruin the reputation of the school or that they burn down the house, to put it bluntly. There are certain responsibilities that rest on my shoulders in the same way as they do in my household, where I also have specific responsibilities. I have specific responsibilities towards my dog. To sum it up, I think responsibility is an important part of the puzzle.

Michael N. W.: I think this is a good closing word to our dialogue. Though we did not use so much time, we came pretty far nonetheless. Thank you very much for sharing and contributing, Kjetil.

3. Epilogue

In the beginning of the previous dialogue, Kjetil shared an experience about a situation that was beyond the normal duties of his profession, but still he felt responsible for the student that was concerned. Not knowing how to "navigate" the loss the student faced, he had the impression that he had been stripped of his professionalism. He felt that there was nothing left but to step out from his role as teacher and be in that situation just as a human being, together with another human being who had a hard time.

In the dialogue, the idea came up that sometimes you can only be a good teacher if you transcend your role as a teacher, which at the same time also was perceived as a paradox. In order to better understand this paradox, the difference between *being* and *doing* was examined closer:

Being responsible in different ways While *doing* was associated with certain pedagogical techniques, exercises and methods – something that was out of place in that situation – *being*, on the other hand, was meant in the sense of engaging in the situation just as you are and with no clues or plans or quick fixes because the situation cannot be *fixed* anyway. In other words, responsibility in such a situation only can come to the fore by responding to the situation authentically, as a human being. Taking on a role, like the role of a teacher, would appear to be unauthentic. Hence, stepping out from your teacher role does not mean to put aside the responsibility that you have as a teacher.

In the further course of the dialogue, it was also explicated how the responsibility of the teacher relates to *Bildung* as the overall goal of a folk high school. In this respect, it was pointed out that good folk high school pedagogy deals with making the students more conscious of a) themselves in terms of self-knowledge, b) other people in terms of one's relationships to others, and c) the world in general.

References

- Buber, Martin (2010): *I and Thou*. Mansfield Center, CT: Martino Publishing.
- Davies, K. W. & Longworth, N. (2013): *Lifelong Learning*. Oxon: Routledge.
- Frankl, Viktor E. (2000): *Man's search for ultimate meaning*. Perseus Publishing. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Hansen, F. T. (2007 [1st edition: 2002]): Det filosofiske liv. Et dannelsesideal for eksistenspædagogikken. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzels Forlag.
- Hattie, J. & Larsen, S. N. (2020): *The Purpose of Education*. London & New York, NY: Routledge.

- Lave, J. & Wenger, E. (1991): *Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lövgren, J. (2020): *Learning Together*. Copenhagen: FDD's Forlag.
- Ohrem, S. (2011): "Folkeopplysning og allmenndanning." In: Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.): *Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen.* Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Sævi, T. (2015): "Ansvar for eget ansvar. Å gi barnets eller den unges annerledeshet plass I mitt liv." In: Brunstad, P. O., Reindal, S. M. & Sæverut, H. (eds.): Eksistenspedagogikk. En samtale om pedagogikkens oppgave. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

No fish pudding

Steinar Bryn & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

Steinar Bryn, the dialogue partner of the following dialogue, is without doubt a known and renowned folk high school pedagogue, as was his great-grandfather, Lasse Traedal, who established four folk high schools, while his grandfather, Olav Bryn, has given lectures in every municipality in Norway.

In 1973, Steinar was a student at the Nansen Academy after he had written his thesis in high school about Kristian Schjelderup, who, together with Anders Wyller, were the founders of this academy (see Mikkelsen, 2015: 2017f). In 1935, Kristian Schjelderup lived in Germany, and upon his return to Norway, he worked to establish an academy for peace and reconciliation. In 1976, Steinar came back to the academy as a teacher. Except for his time studying in the US, he has spent his entire working life there, with the last 25 years promoting peace and reconciliation.

Nansen Academy represents a somewhat special interpretation of the folk high school idea as well as of life at a folk high school. What is meant by that is exemplified in a somewhat out-of-the-ordinary project on peacebuilding, which Inge Eidsvaag initiated and Steinar led for several years. And it is this project, called Nansen Dialogue, that is examined more closely in the following dialogue.

No fish pudding

Though the project is of individual character, it points out the unique pedagogical opportunities that folk high schools have in general and that are not available at other educational institutions. For the developmental process that happened with the participants of this project, the intimate life, which implies living together over a longer period of time, turned out to be of pedagogical significance.

Furthermore, in the course of this conversation, a dialogical room is outlined consisting of four "walls". How these four "walls" provide for a good dialogue is investigated closer in the following dialogue, which took place on Zoom on a grey November day in 2021.

2. Dialogue

Michael N. W.: Steinar, you have organized and run a peacebuilding project that we will take a closer look at now, in order to investigate the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" To start our dialogue, can you first describe the project, its intentions, background and challenges?

2.1. Concrete reflection

Steinar B.: Yes. Norway hosted the Winter Olympics in 1994, with Lillehammer as the main site of these Olympic Games. That brought us into contact with Sarajevo. Sarajevo hosted the Winter Olympics in 1984, but in 1994, the war in Bosnia and Herzegovina was in full explosion. It was a brutal, brutal war. We at Nansen Academy asked ourselves whether there would be anything we could do. We had dormitories, we had dining facilities, we could free up rooms, and so on. With financial support from the Norwegian Church Aid, the Norwegian Red Cross, and the Nor-

wegian Foreign Ministry, we freed up 16 rooms, and, in the fall of 1995, we invited 16 potential leaders from the conflicting parties in Bosnia-Herzegovina. They came here for three months for what I call "a long conversation". When people have a conflict, they are often called to a "meeting", and the meeting can last for hours, but that is it. In contrast to that, three months is a long time. It is in fact such a long time that I, in 2021, have trouble even imagining what we actually did in these three months.

When we started, we thought it would be a one-year project, but it developed, it continued, and it improved. Finally, it went on for almost 25 years. Altogether, probably 3000 people from the former Yugoslavia have been on my veranda, here at my house.

Michael N. W.: I would say it is an amazing sign of success that 3000 people went to this "conversation", as you call it, in Lillehammer at the Nansen Academy. Can you say more about what you did because a conversation lasting for three months is pretty much out of the ordinary, isn't it?

Steinar B.: Before I say something about what I did together with them when they were here, I have to mention what I did before they came. As I interviewed and prepared them for their journey, I spent physical time with them. I organized and provided them all with visas so they could travel. During and after the war in the former Yugoslavia, cities were divided, communities were divided. Literally, in cities like Mostar, people wouldn't cross the bridge to the other side of town. It was hard for people from Kosovo, for people from Bosnia to leave their countries due to the visa regulations. The possibility of travel was obviously an incentive in these first years.

When they came here then, I created and offered them what I call a *dialogue room*. You can imagine this space consisting of four walls holding this space together, like the

No fish pudding

four walls of a room. Metaphorically speaking, one wall was educational, and by that, I mean lectures on democracy, conflict resolution, and Human Rights. Another wall was what I call cultural. That is, we would go to many concerts in town, we would go to museums, we would do cultural walks, that is, visit cultural sites. The third wall I call *social* in terms of social informal interactions like inviting them home to my veranda or going to a specific place in town that we frequently visited. The fourth wall then was *physical*, like teaching them how to do cross-country skiing. And there is something fantastic about cross-country skiing: It is so difficult when you do it for the first time, but it is nevertheless easy to learn. So, the first time you do a three-kilometer tour you fall 100 times. However, the second time you do it, you only fall ten times. The third time you do it, you fall three times. Hence, the idea behind the physical wall was that people could get the feeling of learning how to master something, like cross-country skiing. We in fact started skiing in circles around the school

When these walls were in place – educational, cultural, social, and physical – they created a good dialogue space. Therefore, when you talk about folk high school pedagogy, you can say that this project could not have worked that well in a hotel or at a conference center. Rather, it is the folk high school itself that offers this unique opportunity for people to meet other human beings as a whole. For example, one man, who later became the head of the supreme court in Bosnia-Herzegovina, had kitchen duty at the Nansen Academy. It was probably the only regular kitchen duty in his life, but he had that kitchen duty together with his enemies from the war at home. Living together for 24 hours a day and 7 days a week is something completely different from negotiations where you can withdraw or where you can sit with your mobile phone talking to your own people and then go back into the negotiation room, etc., etc. Contrary to that, in our project, people would even fall in love with someone from the other side because of the space that folk high school provide.

There were many incidents that I could mention, but the development pattern was that people arrived with an ethnic identity. And that identity could be very strong, like "I am a Serb", "I am a Croat", "I am a Macedonian", and so on. Many would sit together with their own people, and they would hang out with their own people. After some time, we would hang up a basketball hoop on a wall outside the school since we knew that basketball was very popular in the former Yugoslavia. It didn't take long, and the people would start throwing the ball, trying to hit the basketball hoop. And they would admire each other's ability to hit the hoop, independently of their ethnic background. Hence, they discovered that people could have respect for each other, not because of their ethnic identity but because of their other capacities and other aspects of their personalities. There was a shift of attitude from "I hate you because vou are a Serb" to "I hate you as a Serb, but I respect you as a great basketball player."

Also, we would go to jazz concerts, and course participants would discover, "Wow, we both like Jazz." Some people even played an instrument themselves. The first time they played, the other ethnic group might not listen. However, after a while, you realize that if somebody is playing Mozart, there is in fact not such a big difference between the Serbian or the Croatian way of playing Mozart. They would also discover that there is not such a big difference between the Serbian and Croatian ways of crosscountry skiing. And there is not such a big difference between the Serbian and Croatian ways of throwing a basketball into the hoop. Therefore, I would confront them and ask, "What is the difference between the ethnic identities?"

No fish pudding

And they would say, "Well, you know, it has nothing to do with this, and it has nothing to do with that." And so on. Finally, I would say, "Well, what does it have to do with then?" Actually, my personal answer to that question is that it has to do with loyalty towards your own group. To be Serbian means to be loyal to the Serbian cause when the Serbs are threatened. And to cherish when Serbs are recognized, for example, whether it is Novak Djokovic playing tennis or after a movie when you see the credits and there is a Serbian name among the credits.

However, there is hardly anything in terms of behavior or habits that is specifically ethnic. I can tell you many stories about that. Like one participant, who in the first five years of his life was a Serb. He lived in Belgrade with his mother, spoke Serbian because his mother was Serbian. And then, after five years, he was kidnapped by his grandmother and brought to Kosovo. There he became an Albanian. He got a new name, he got a new mother tongue, Albanian. Today, he is one of the recognized intellectuals in Kosovo.

I think the greatest success of our project in Lillehammer at the folk high school was that we broke down the ethnic principle as the only organizing principle of the world, so to speak. With this ethnic principle, I mean that people vote according to their ethnicity; they send their kids to day care according to their ethnicity; they marry according to their ethnicity, etc., etc. Even in Norway, we had these strange stories in villages that people on the other side of the mountain, in the other valley, would be more primitive. For example, that the people on the other side of the mountain would only have one eye, located on their forehead. These stories come from this troll mythology. However, when people literally meet, they realize this propagandatype of enemy image that they have been taught at home, in schools and so on, is not correct. When the participants in our course arrived, they were so sure that their grand-

parents and parents, their politicians, their journalists and so on, were closer to the truth than those from the other side. They thought that growing up in Belgrade gave you a more truthful view of the conflict. However, the people in Zagreb believed the same. The people in Zagreb, too, believed that they would have a more proper understanding of the conflict situation. Again, people in Pristina would say the same. During their stay here at Nansen Academy, however, they would discover that their belief in holding the truth was something they all had in common and that they were all self-righteous. They all believed that they knew better than the other ethnic groups. During conflicts and wars, there is a dehumanization of the enemy. During their stay at Nansenskolen, they often experienced learning unknown parts of their own history from others. It was a process of humanizing the enemy.

Michael N. W.: If I understand you right, then these people came from different contexts – cultural and ethnic contexts – and what you did was to put them into a context that was new for them all. You put them into a school where they had to live together for three months. This living-together involved very practical and actually mundane activities, like washing the dishes, visiting concerts together, and so on. Would you say that these practical, mundane activities contributed essentially to the outcome of that project or to what they felt when they were going home again?

Steinar B.: Without doubt. I mentioned when people had kitchen duty together with the people they were in conflict with, then they had at least to cooperate with them when it was about cleaning the dishes.

Another example of such mundane but nevertheless existential cooperation is the following: Once, out of necessity, I had to put a Serb and an Albanian together in the same sleeping room because we simply did not have
enough rooms. The Albanian arrived early in the morning, while the Serb arrived quite late. The next morning, both came to me and told me that it was impossible to stay in the same room. I answered, "Yes, I understand that. We in fact had a problem last night. We were short of rooms, but I will work on that." I think this happened on a Monday. On Wednesday, they approached me again, asking, "How is it going with finding different rooms for us?" I repeated that I was still working on it but promised that I would fix this. Then Saturday comes and I go to them and ask, "How are things going?" And then they suddenly answered, "Well, we'll survive." In fact, the two of them became very good friends, and they are still very good friends twenty years later. Maybe it was the joint process of trying to get a new room that united them.

Michael N. W.: In other words, the practical things we do in life help us to see each other from a new perspective. However, would you also say that these things or activities are contributing to some kind of peace building?

Steinar B.: You can definitely say that. You know, this is the so-called *contact hypothesis*, which is pretty well known (see Allport, 1954). In general terms, this hypothesis says that under appropriate conditions, intergroup contact can significantly reduce prejudices with the group members (see ibidem). There is a lot of research documenting that when people have contact, they improve the quality of their contact (see Pettigrew & Troop, 2006). Of course, one could argue that such activities alone are not enough to make peace in the world. And surely, they are not enough, but they are definitely a helpful step along the way.

So, what did Nansen Academy do in this respect? We created a specific meeting space that was not just about coming to a lecture and listening together. You can go to the University of Oslo, the University of Bergen and lis-

ten to a lecture, and when you leave the lecture, you have not necessarily met any of the other listeners. In the folk high school environment, this is very different. After a lecture, for example, you would hang out in the school's living room or you would go to a common meal where you eat together, and then you clean up together after the meal. The environment of a folk high school also allows for taking walks. Like in Lillehammer, you have many nice walks, for example, along the river or along the lake. And even on the main street, there is quite a cozy and almost fairytalelike atmosphere.

I mentioned to you the use of the physical space, which I called the fourth wall of the dialogue space. One thing that I deliberately used in this respect was the sauna. For example, there was one Serbian woman and one Muslim woman from the same town. The Muslim one had escaped earlier to Norway, so she was actually recruited as a refugee in Norway, while the Serbian woman was still living in their hometown. I noticed that they did not talk at all with each other in the beginning, and in the first few weeks, there was no communication between them. As it turned out, both of them liked to go to the sauna. Once, I went to the basement of the school and turned on the sauna and left without knowing who would go there that night. It was the two of them. The ice between them broke in the sauna, and not in the lecture hall.

Another physical experience was walking down the 1000 steps of the ski jump together. This was challenging; the view expanded the horizon, but you also needed a narrow view of the next step. The process of shifting views and the steep walk obviously connected people.

Singing was also something important. Back in the old days in Yugoslavia under Tito, Tito wanted to create one nation out of the different people living there. And there were three important practices. First, to teach everyone the

Serbo-Croatian language. Second, sports were very important. The Yugoslavian people were supposed to become the best ball players in basketball, handball, in volleyball, etc. The third thing, then, was singing. They learned and knew a lot of songs. However, when I invited participants to my home, and if I turned on the music too soon, nobody would sing. It was very much about the right timing and finding the right moment. When I found the right timing, they would start to sing, and then they would start to dance. And these dance sessions were just fabulous. I think I have rebuilt the floor on my veranda three times since we started with that project. There was actually a woman who wanted to make a documentary about this project, and she made a big deal out of filming the floor. For her, it was the evidence of co-existence, so to speak.

2.2. Critical reflection

Social and Michael N.W.: That sounds amazing! And now, when you existential tell me all that, I think I have a good impression of what this project was about. I can even imagine some of its concrete pedagogy situations quite vividly. When we go over to the question now, namely, "What is this project essentially about?", then there are two themes that come to my mind. The first one is social pedagogy and the second one is existential pedagogy. Obviously, all of these participants learned something during their stay at your school. However, what was it that they learned - not only in the sense of mere knowledge? What was it that was at stake in this project, on the one hand? On the other hand, what was it that the participants could develop and take with them? Steinar B.: First of all, I think that we had enough time. The hidden

The hiddenSteinar B.: First of all, I think that we had enough time.curriculumWe had time enough to wait for respect to be built in other
arenas of life than the ethnic aspect. It might sound stereo-
typical because there always are exceptions, but it is very

hard to make Serbs and Croats respect each other as Serbs and Croats. To explain what I mean, let me use myself as an example: What is Norwegian about me? How much do I have in common with a Norwegian fisherman? I don't even know how to kill a fish How much do I have in common with a Norwegian farmer? I probably have more in common with Yugoslavian teachers than I have with a lot of people in Norway. To discover that your ethnicity is so much less of your personality than what you think when vou live only among your own people was probably one of the things that were at stake in this project. Metaphorically speaking, when you only swim in your own swimming pool, you start to think that this is the only swimming pool there is. When the participants came to the Nansen Academy, they literally went into another swimming pool. As an ironic detail, the women who participated in this project have learned that in Norway, yes means yes and no means no. They came from a culture where no could mean maybe. So, during the project, we had to sit down and talk about gender interaction. That means respect for the opposite gender, for both men and women. This is a bit about what we could call the hidden curriculum A curriculum that is not taught explicitly but nevertheless part of that living experience at the school. People in folk high schools are quite casual. Casual in the way they behave, casual in the way they dress, and so on. In contrast to that, the people from the former Yugoslavia would dress very formally, while the Norwegian students would sometimes come to breakfast in something undefinable. I exaggerate now, but you know what I mean. Nevertheless, that kind of informal, social interaction, also with teachers, was a discovery for many of these course participants. Then, on the other hand, they simply knew more than the Norwegian students. They knew more names of rivers in Europe; they knew more names of cities in Europe, and so on. When they ar-

rived in Lillehammer, they brought with them more factual knowledge, while the Norwegian students could talk about the focus of their education being more on personality development and critical thinking.

The hidden curriculum I mentioned has to do with social interaction, self-image presentation but also with relaxing. I think the course participants from Yugoslavia were in a way shocked by how relaxed the Norwegian students were, for example, in the way they got up in the morning. The best word I have for that is the hidden curriculum. In order to make you understand better, I have to put it like this: From 1995 until 2012, I literally bought 16 beds at the beginning of the school year. So, I was responsible for filling 16 beds with students from the former Yugoslavia. We got permission from the Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training to register these students as short-term course participants. Normally, according to the Folk High School Act (2003), you were required to offer short-term seminars as so-called open seminars, something we could not offer since we invited people directly. In the Folk High School Act, there was also a regulation that said only ten percent of the students who came from outside the European Economic Area were allowed. We got an exception from this regulation. Since we were granted these exceptions, it somehow meant that these course participants from the former Yugoslavia were regular folk high school students.

For about 7 years, we had these 3-months seminars. Then we became more well known. At the beginning of the project, we needed help recruiting enough people for each seminar. We needed help from the Norwegian Church Aid, the Helsinki Committee, and from the Red Cross in order to find people we could invite. And I would always travel down to the former Yugoslavia and meet them before they came to Lillehammer. That was very important. So, when they came to Lillehammer, I was a kind of confidant, somebody they would recognize. When they arrived, some would say, "Oh, there is that guy that we met last month." After 7 years, we could invite, let's say, the mayor of a town or the director of a school. However, those people could not come for 3 months due to their duties at home. They could only come for a shorter period of time. The reason why we had this high number of participants over the years was because around 2003, we started with shorter seminars, like eight weeks, four weeks, and then three weeks. In the last five years, the seminars lasted for one week, but we could have 20 seminars within a year.

When we had these shorter seminars, they were more targeted. For example, it would be teachers from one high school because some of the high schools in the former Yugoslavia were divided. They would have a Bosnian shift in the morning and a Croat shift in the afternoon, with eight teachers in each shift. These 16 teachers would come together in Lillehammer at Nansen Academy, and the Croat teachers would not know the Bosnian teacher, and vice versa. The Croats, who had the morning shift, left and closed the building before the Bosnians came. I remember one specific question from when these teachers were in Lillehammer. The Croats asked the Bosnians, "Have these days at the Nansen Academy changed your perception of us?" And then a Bosnian teacher answered, "No, because I did not have any perception of you previously. I did not know you worked in the same building as me." Two of the teachers who worked in the same building had gone to school together as children, as it turned out. However, they did not know about each other - that they were teachers at the same school.

In Norway, we don't understand what a divided community is. A divided community means that I can today meet a 25-year-old Albanian from Pristina who has never

in his life spoken to a Serb. This is a little bit like in the South of the United States, where you had one toilet for white people and one toilet for black people. It is the same in Kosovo, where there are not many public toilets used by both Serbs and Albanians. Simply because they live so divided. However, this is voluntary. You can say that in Kosovo and in Bosnia-Herzegovina, you have areas with voluntary apartheid.

Michael N. W.: I see what you mean. Let us once again return to this term you used - the hidden curriculum. What you described about the seminars – even if it was just a one-week seminar – was that astonishing meetings between people happened. As you said, some of them were actually working at the same school but had never met before. And all of a sudden, at Nansen Academy, they could see each other. Seeing each other in the sense that they could not only meet but recognize the other, so to speak. And in this respect my question now is, when you use the term hidden curriculum, what do you mean by that? You already mentioned some aspects, like social interaction and so on. But is the hidden curriculum something that you have in the back of your mind like a blueprint that you can describe, or is it something more tacit that you rather can sense and feel than put into words?

Leading and Steinar B.: The hidden curriculum is very tacit in the sense learning by that we don't talk so much about it. In fact, we hardly talk about it at all. It is more something that the students observe and experience. In a way, you could say that the hidden curriculum is a form of situated learning in terms of leading and learning by example (see Lave & Wenger, 1991). In this respect, I can also say that it has become very important for me personally to have these seminars at the Nansen Academy. I had some groups stay in a hotel in Lillehammer, and that did not have the same effect. The

importance of being and staying in the building of Nansen Academy, to stay there with other students, made that hidden curriculum visible for the participants. Contrary to this, the participants missed that hidden curriculum when they stayed in a hotel. There, it was not visible to them.

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: What you are describing now somehow reminds me of a specific methodology in the philosophy of science. And here, I have to mention that a main question in philosophy of science is, "What is knowledge?" Now, this methodology I am thinking of was introduced by Fritz Wallner, a professor at the University of Vienna. Wallner said that in order to develop knowledge – knowledge, here, meant in terms of understanding and not in terms of mere information - you have to take an entity out of its familiar, original context and transfer and reframe it into an unfamiliar, strange context (see Wallner, 1992). By observing how this entity is behaving in the new context – and it probably does in different, maybe even unexpected ways - you get a better understanding of this entity. This methodology is called strangification, and it does not only work with certain objects but also with people (see e.g. Greiner, 2003). When traveling to a foreign culture, for example, one is leaving his or her familiar context and getting into a new one. In this way, he or she can become aware of his or her original attitudes, values, beliefs and so on. As an oversimplified example: Someone from Asia, who is used to eating food with chopsticks, comes to Europe and gets served vegetable soup (see Slunecko, 2008: 189). Soon this person will find out that trying to eat the soup with chopsticks makes no sense. In other words, this person is realizing that one of his or her implicit assumptions, namely that food is eaten with chopsticks, becomes obsolete. In this way, that

Strangification

person gets a better understanding not only of the foreign culture but of his or her own.

With respect to this method of strangification, it seems that what you did in this project was to take people out of their familiar context and bring them into a new context, namely the Nansen Academy. In this new context, they would live for several months or weeks together with their enemies. Due to that change of context, you can become aware of who you are, you can understand better who the other actually is. You also become aware of the way in which you previously saw the other, in this case, your enemy. And by that, you may realize what is essential and not essential for you with regards to your own identity and the identity of the other.

The narcissismSteinar B.: I think I have an example for that. And in this
respect, I want to bring in Freud's narcissism of small dif-
ferences (see Freud, 1991: 131 & 305). I don't know how
it is for you, but I can definitely hear a difference between
Swedish and Norwegian folk music. Someone from the
Balkans, however, cannot. And I assume that if you hear
music from Albania and Serbia, then it would sound very
similar to you too. For them, however, it is very different.

There was one funny incident in this respect: Back in the 1990s, we would have a lot of that typical Norwegian food. One dish we would serve was fish pudding. It was at a closing ceremony before they went home again when one Albanian said, "Norway was a nice place to visit, but I am so glad that I am going home to a country where we have fish without pudding and pudding without fish." In Belgrade, they would use the Norwegian term for fish pudding, which is *fiskepudding*, as the password to get into their computer system ... Sometimes we had this kind of food, and you could not really tell what it was. You could see the participants dissecting it on their plates, wondering whether it was fish or meat. In fact, they made a lot of jokes about our food. And it was by means of such small, mundane incidents that the participants discovered what unites them and not only what is different between them. They had something in common different from Norwegians.

Another thing was noise because they were so used to noise. And when they came to Lillehammer and walked out in the street in the winter – the time when people mostly stay at home – the streets were empty, and there was almost no noise. It is a literally peaceful atmosphere. Experiences like this with the noise strengthened the unity between them. So, when they lived in their own bubble – when they swam in their own swimming pool, to refer to the metaphor I used previously – separation, difference and segregation were the norm. However, switching their context by coming here to Nansen Academy in Lillehammer, made them explore their commonalities as human beings when confronted with the Norwegian way of life, which was new for all of them.

These environments I am talking about here cannot only be found in Lillehammer. Almost all folk high schools are in a rural, almost isolated location, and I think that some other folk high schools do have the same potential in this respect. If we had done this project in Oslo, however, there would have been too much distraction. In contrast to that, when you are at the Nansen Academy in Lillehammer, it is a waste of money to buy a pedometer because you take so few steps. You just walk a hundred meters to the dining hall, you just walk a hundred meters to the lecture hall, and so on. Everything you need is in one place. And this is the same for most folk high schools. They are far from where the action is, to put it bluntly. I assume this also contributed to the successful outcome of the project because it made people stay more together.

Michael N. W.: When you are telling all this, I think of I-Thou what the philosopher Martin Buber defined as the *I-Thou* encounters encounter (see Buber, 2010). By that, I mean that under such circumstances, it was suddenly possible to see the other not only in terms of an *I-It relation*. That is me and the enemy, and the enemy is something abstract. Rather, I and the other in terms of a unique meeting between human beings. This unique meeting, this I-Thou encounter, was possible because everything was reduced to essentials. By that, I mean the participants had this life at the school; they had their rooms and their beds; they were washing the dishes; they were singing together, listened to lectures together, and so on. Also, when you say that folk high schools are located in more remote areas, then this obviously contributes to a focus on the basics, on the essential. And it is this that makes an I-Thou encounter even between enemies possible. I don't know whether you agree, but this is what comes to mind when I see what you described by means of Martin Buber's philosophical approach.

Steinar B.: I think you are on to something. I-Thou is a Dialogical meeting where you can say in a way that you are exploring truth a kind of dialogical truth. The problem with these groups that came was that whatever had happened at home, they had different stories and narratives about it. If the question was, who shot first, then one side would say to the other, "You shot first!", while the other side would say the opposite. Let me give you a concrete example: In 1991, there was a poisoning scandal in Pristina. If you were to fly to Pristina today and you step off the plane and ask the first person you meet, "Is it true there was a poison scandal in Pristina in 1991?" and that person answers, "Yes! The authorities were deliberately releasing poison into schools. Children got poisoned, and I experienced it myself," then you know you talk to an Albanian. However, if that person answers, "Are you crazy? Do you believe in that rubbish that the authorities would poison children? It did not happen," then you know you talk to a Serb. The Serbs and Albanians have completely different interpretations in this respect. The Serbs assume that the Albanians know that they are playing a game. In other words, the Serbs assume that the Albanians know that they are lying, which is even a double loss of respect. "Not only are you lying", the Serbs would think, "but you are making up a story that is so sick that we can only despise you." The Albanians, on the other hand, think the Serbs were informed beforehand so that they could keep their children at home from school and away from the poison. For them, this was the explanation why no Serbian kid was hospitalized. In short, both sides believe they hold the truth, and both sides also believe that the other side also knows the same truth, but they are denying it.

After they had built up some mutual respect in other arenas here at Nansen Academy, the participants would talk about this incident, the poison scandal. So, one of the Albanians was telling how he experienced this incident. And at that moment, one Serb said quite shocked, "You really believe we poisoned you?!? Now I understand why you hate us!" Up to this moment, he was all his life convinced that the Albanians knew that the Serbs did not poison them. For this Serb, that moment was a revelation. By discovering that the Albanians really believed the Serbs had poisoned them, the whole conflict-laden situation between them and why the Albanians did not like the Serbs suddenly made sense to him. He also admitted that if he believed the Albanians had poisoned the Serbs, then he would have had the same impression of the Albanians as they had of the Serbs. This conversation was an eye-opener due to this trustful moment where they really listened to each other. If we had just come together to a meeting in Pristina to discuss this

poison scandal, it would just have been like playing table tennis, to put it like that. The arguments would have been thrown back and forth and back and forth.

Time and space Michael N. W.: It appears that this was a moment of authentic dialogue in the sense of uncovering hidden prejudices. What I am still wondering about, though, are such "hard nuts" in terms of these very strong convictions and beliefs about the other, and how to open them up. You did not use a "nutcracker," to put it like that. Rather, what you used and offered was time and space. And by means of time and space, you were able to open these nuts. Or, in other words, by means of time and space, the participants suddenly were able to investigate universal aspects of the human condition together. Investigating universal aspects of the human condition, by the way, is a definition of the activity of philosophizing often used by philosophical practitioners (see Lahav, 2016: 20; Weiss, 2017). Examples of such universal aspects would be listening to music, eating food, but also love, responsibility, sorrow, courage, and so on - these are aspects we all can relate to, in one way or another. To discover that these aspects are something that connects and even unites us as human beings became possible for the course participants, not due to long theoretical lectures on the subject or intensive debates. No, discovering that became possible because of the actual living conditions the participants experienced at the Nansen Academy.

The role of
caringSteinar B.: I think that I can even add something here.Their idea of a professor was that they would probably sit
in the auditorium, and then the professor arrives. He goes
up to the podium, gives the lecture, then gives the option to
ask questions. He would wait ten seconds, only to find out
that there were no questions. Then he would thank every-
one for attending and say, "See you next Monday in the lec-
ture again." And then he would leave. A folk high school

teacher, however, is someone who literally eats with you. If you have a class before dinner time, then you would eat with the class after the lecture. A folk high school teacher has the duty to hang out at the school a couple of times during the week. There, you can just have informal talks with the students more or less about anything; you can have small talks, or you can talk about essential issues in life. A keyword here is *caring*; you do not only care about the content of your lecture, but you care about the students and their lives. For example, back in the 1990s, some students could be worried that they had gotten AIDS because it was such a big issue back then. And we would help them to go to a medical doctor and take a test. We would also show that this is not something shameful, but on the contrary, that it is important. My role as a facilitator in the conflict helped them to discover and see me as a person, as the human being that I am. I remember, in the first 3-month seminar, I was with the participants almost every minute. I did not leave them. That was, of course, very demanding. For example, when we invited an external lecturer, I joined the lecture with them, and I would be with them in the breaks too. It was sometimes even to the point where I was wondering what kind of breaks this program makes. Because the most important thing in this seminar was not the official program but the breaks in between. I recently asked a participant, What is your strongest memory from the Nansen Academy? And she said that you followed me to the washing machine and showed me how to use it.

If you have a 3-day conference in Norway, then people can come from quite far away because the country is so stretched geographically. Let us assume that the topic of this conference is "Integration of Refugees," and then you would have a very good discussion about the integration of refugees. The discussion is exactly why everybody came and why some traveled so far. And then the organiz-

ers come and say, "We are sorry, but we have to interrupt and stop this conversation now because the next lecture on the program will start soon. And the lecturer has travelled far in order to come here." The loyalty of the conference participants is then stronger towards the next lecturer than towards the discussion going on at that moment, and that is the actual reason they attended the conference in the first place.

I experienced several episodes in that seminar that were similar to what I just described with this fictional conference. My problem, however, always was that I never knew in advance when there would be a breakthrough in the dialogue process. I would have days where we did not have any plans, but we just had an open dialogue. Often, in the first half an hour, nothing really happens. And in that moment, it is easy to give up. You could then just suggest, "Let's take a walk", or "Let's see a movie", or just "Let's do something else." However, when I had the guts to hang in there a little longer, then often somebody would suddenly break the ice by simply sharing something that was important for that person.

As an example: One day we had scheduled a trip to a museum in Lillehammer. We had booked a guide for 1 p.m. Not long before we left, we were close to one of these breakthroughs in the dialogue. And all of a sudden, my colleague opened the door to the lecture hall and said, "Steinar, we have to hurry because we have to go to this museum." I replied, "Well, we cannot go there now. We are in the middle of an honest and serious conversation." And then my colleague says, "But the taxi is already here." So, I asked her, "Are you crazy? Is the taxi driver more important than this process here? Pay the taxi driver and the tour guide, but we cannot stop this conversation here." Making decisions like that was experienced as controversial. Conflicting loyalties could cause irritation when we came too late to the meals.

We would also sometimes have conferences at the Nansen Academy where we would struggle with whether to progress according to the program or whether to progress according to the process in the room.

Michael N. W.: And here, to me, you mention something quite important with this example of the taxi driver and the tour guide. Today, in the conventional school system, it would be unthinkable to send away the taxi driver and cancel the tour. In a quite general sense, you stick not only to the rules but also to the schedule; that is, you stick to the official curriculum in the conventional education system. Whatever the official curriculum requires from you as the teacher, you stick to it. However, what you just suggested with your example is that actual learning as a human being in terms of learning about life cannot be squeezed into a curriculum. That is, into an official plan or schedule. Rather - if I understood you right - you say that things happen, and when they happen, you want to let them happen and unfold instead of just cutting them off. And such an attitude I read as a critique of the common pedagogy, which is so widespread today. In this pedagogy it is almost impossible that you don't stick to the curriculum because if you do that, you get a problem with your rector, with the parents, with the authorities.

Steinar B.: And it is not only the teacher. What you just described I call the *difference between the instrumental and the relational approach*. I am actually even lecturing about this at the police academy because the police are often forced to be instrumental. By instrumental, I mean following the handbook, like "Follow the 10 steps", and so on. If policemen make a mistake, as it, for example, happened in the terror attack in Kongsberg, someone will immediately

Learning about life cannot be squeezed into a curriculum

The difference between the instrumental and the relational approach

check whether these policemen followed the routines and whether they performed the right steps. If you, as a policeman, just use common sense and you make a mistake, you are in deep trouble.

My wife is a medical doctor, and she is facing the same challenge. Her common sense is sometimes telling her something because she has a very thorough experience with diagnostics. However, if she uses her common sense and she makes a mistake, then she gets a big problem too. That is exactly why we made all these rules and frameworks. We developed this instrumental approach so that common sense would not take over, and, in that way, we would avoid mistakes – that is the idea behind this instrumental approach. The point, however, is: A lot of people use their common sense, and they make the right decisions. In order to do so, you need to be trained in what Aristotle called practical wisdom (see e. g. Gadamer, 2004: 18f; Heidegger, 1997: 39; Biesta, 2015).

In general words, you could say we are all 'schedulized' – we follow the schedule. It is so hard for us to break free from it. It is so hard for us to just say, "Let's do something else today." In a folk high school, you still have this freedom – the freedom to follow the process and not only a predefined procedure. You don't need to follow the schedule.

Phronesis and
pedagogicalMichael N. W.: There was one thing that you just said that
made me wonder. You brought up Aristotle's idea of practi-
cal wisdom, and you also mentioned the freedom to follow
the process. With regards to that, I am wondering about the
following question: Is it only to follow the process or, actu-
ally, the freedom to follow your practical wisdom (*phrone-*
sis)? And with phronesis, which some also translate as pru-
dence, I mean to know what to do in a given situation with
regards to the good life overall (see Weiss, 2021: 248). In

other words, in the example you gave about the taxi driver and the tour guide, you realized what the situation required in which you found yourself in. You had an unexpected but important dialogue going on, and you were very close to a breakthrough. All of a sudden, your colleague comes in and tells you that you have to leave for the tour to the museum now, while your practical wisdom tells you, "No, don't do that!" The folk high school approach to education gives you the pedagogical freedom to say no and the pedagogical freedom to follow your phronesis. What do you think about that?

Steinar B.: I think what you said is pretty accurate. Instead *Phronesis and* of phronesis, you could maybe also use the word *intuition* (see e. g. Bajwa et al., 2015). And intuition is more than an educated guess because when you work with this processoriented pedagogical approach all the time, you start to sense when you will have a breakthrough in the conversation. You start to know when you have succeeded with that, which is the main goal, that is, to create an open atmosphere in which people start to speak more freely and honestly about those powerful experiences. When those breakthroughs happen, it would be so stupid to let them slip away by saying, "OK, we'll continue this conversation later." The fact is, you cannot continue this conversation later because you cannot recreate that moment. Having this freedom to not stop the conversation is one of those aspects that made the whole thing a more successful project - because it took place at a folk high school. This is also why I think the folk high schools, more than others, need to fight to resist the instrumentalization going on in other educational institutions.

In this respect, I can tell you about another conflict that I had going on for quite some time. It had to do with the meals. We always had dinner at 2:30 p.m. If I came to the

intuition

dining hall with my group at 2:45 p.m., it was perceived as disrespectful towards the people working in the kitchen, not necessarily by the kitchen staff but by others. They need enough time to clean up and close in order to pick up their kids from kindergarten on time. It is easy for me to understand that their right to leave work on time is as important as whatever I am working on. But still, it was not a given that the kitchen schedule should overrule the conversation we had going on because these people had travelled all the way from the Balkans in order to have this conversation. If we invite them to dialogue and then we stop the dialogue because we are supposed to go and eat, then this does not seem right. I have to admit that this particular and concrete problem grew a little bit out of proportion. Probably for a while, I was perceived as someone who thought that my project and what I was working on were more important than other people's work at the school. I could have been better in using dialog in the conversation with my own colleagues.

Unpredictable pedagogical approaches **Michael N. W.:** This leads us to the point where you either can say, "I, with my project, stick to the rules of the kitchen because I also understand those working there." Or you could ask, "How can we find a way that fits both of us?" With the latter, you would, of course, try to change institutionalized limitations. So, here we are talking about flexibility. Flexibility takes a lot of effort from all involved; it takes an effort from those working in the kitchen; it takes an effort from you. And again, it takes planning to make this work out. However, when it comes to such pedagogical processes, can we ever say something about these processes in advance – because obviously we cannot plan them?

When we apply a scientific method, then we expect a certain outcome because the method is standardized and

applied under similar circumstances; the method should lead to similar results. Otherwise, we would not acknowledge this method to be scientific. In contrast to that, the pedagogical approach you described now is not predictable. Therefore, the question is, how can we deal with an unpredictable approach? For some pedagogues, working with an unpredictable approach would sound almost a bit dangerous.

Steinar B.: Some of those things that I found really worked became almost instrumental for me after a while. For example, in the beginning, it was very important for me to go to the airport and welcome the participants when they arrived. When we started to have these one-week seminars. that was too much for me. I could not go to the airport every time. However, I made a big effort to greet them when they arrived at the Nansen Academy. There would be a minibus bringing them from the airport to the school, and I would stand there and welcome them Even if it was 2:30 a.m., I would be there. In one way, this was kind of an instrumental act from my side because I always made sure to greet them. Then you can say, in the dialogue itself, unpredictable things can happen. And if there is something we have learned – and this is a discussion I had with many international organizations working with peacebuilding then it is this: Let's say I come in April to an organization and tell them, "Look, this is the situation. Here, we have a breakthrough. And if we do this and that, it will have this and that potential outcome, and the work is worthwhile." They would then reply, "Steinar, we agree with you. However, what you suggest would blow our budget. There is no way we can do it." I started to realize that these organizations are so focused on their annual financial plan as well as on their annual report. If they can report that they did what they had planned, then it has been a successful

Dialogue is not cozy talk

year. In other words, they would stay within the limits of their budget, and they would just do the projects that had been planned in January. This is how they defined success. However, in April, May and June, it was something completely different. According to practical wisdom, they should have done the project I suggested, but that was not foreseen in January, for obvious reasons, nor was it criticized in December, for obvious reasons. Therefore, what was then presented as a success is not really a success due to a lot of missed opportunities during the year that did not find their way into the budget.

To be honest, what I am saying now is not something radical. The whole world learned at the beginning of 2020 what a waste the strategic planning was that was done in January of that year. When the pandemic arrived, everything had to be changed. One reason for our suffering is probably that as a society, we were too slow. We were too slow to make the necessary changes because our plans were pointing into another direction.

Another reason why the process-oriented approach is despised by some is the following: Once a diplomat said to me, "Steinar, you know the problem with dialogue is that it is too womanish." What he meant by that was that dialogue was not perceived as difficult talk. My experience, though, tells me something else because I have many memories of dialogues that were difficult talks. I know that there is this image that dialogue is cozy talk, like people coming together on a beach or in the mountains, and they have a good time together. To me, this image is completely wrong. Nevertheless, this wrong image also goes together with the assumption that some have, namely, that dialogue is something benefiting those in power. For example, they would assume that Israel has nothing to lose by getting into dialogue with Palestine, while the Palestinians might have something to lose because they will not gain anything but

a conversation, while what they actually need is change. However, my experience is the opposite. Let's take an example: We had a meeting in Lillehammer between the county of South Trøndelag and the South-Sami people. Before the meeting, the Sami people would say, "There is no point for us to attend this meeting because the other side will not listen to us anyway. They haven't listened to us for hundreds of years." So, I argued, "OK, but what can you lose?" So, finally, they came, and at that meeting, there is a municipality adviser from Rennebu municipality. And she says, "I did not know there were Sami people living in my municipality." So, through participating in this meeting, the Sami people made themselves visible.

I have had a similar experience with Palestinians and Israelis where the Palestinians said, "No, we will not come and talk to the Israelis because this means to honor and to respect them in a way we don't." In one case, I came down to Bethlehem, I sat down with the Palestinians for one day, and I asked them, "Do you think the other side knows the truth about your life? Do you think their teachers speak the truth? Do you think their politicians speak the truth, their grandparents and parents?" The answer was a clear "No." So I asked, "Well, shouldn't somebody tell them?" And here they replied, "Of course!" "Great" I replied, "because this is what I am inviting you to – dialogue!" They thought dialogue was what was going on in Camp David, in the sense of some kind of political talk where you defend your positions.

Michael N. W.: To round up our dialogue: What you are saying now is that there is a certain value in dialogue, even if the dialogue does not yield a solution to a conflict.

Steinar B.: Yes, absolutely. The value of a dialogue is that *The moral* you better understand the logic of the other, which previously was not logical to you. Sometimes I use the word

moral compass because what is dividing people is not an ethnic difference, like Norwegians and Swedes, but we as people have different moral compasses. To divide between us and them is a common phenomenon of being human; you find this phenomenon all over the world. And this is not a problem in itself. The problem first occurs when we have a conflict with *them*. For when we have a conflict with them, we are sure we are right, and they are wrong. Sometimes I argue with my wife; however, I never argue with her if I think I am wrong. I only argue with my wife when I think I am right. This self-righteousness is often based on our own moral compass. For example, a very common moral compass in Norway is the "Law of Cardamom Town," which in simple terms reads: Care for others and don't bother them. Then there is another moral compass: Oppression for liberation. But when you fight oppression, you have to bother the oppressors. You have to do harm to people. These are two moral compasses in conflict. Nevertheless, whether you have the one compass or the other, you want to go North. That is, you want to do the right thing. Therefore, when we judge other people based on our moral compass, we kind of misjudge them because we put our own compass inside them instead of trying to understand what compass they have. A compass can be about loyalty and betrayal – a compass that is very widespread in the Balkans. As I said previously, to be a Serb means to be loval to the Serbs. It means to cheer for them when they play soccer against Portugal, for example. To be a traitor is the worst for them. If you crossed a bridge in the former Yugoslavia to the other side where the enemy lived, you were watched by bridge watchers, and you could eventually get beaten up when you came back. For what did you do on the other side? And why is it so dangerous to go to the other side? Probably because you could discover that they don't only have one eye on their forehead, to use

this old Norwegian myth, but they actually have two eyes; they are normal. A few times in Lillehammer, I said to the course participants ironically, "We are like a Quisling school; we make you traitors. And when you come back home, you have a different perception of the enemy. People will confront you." That was the reason why we built up Nansen Dialogue Centers in the Western Balkans. It was previous seminar participants from Lillehammer who established these dialogue centers, and at one point, we even had ten of these centers there. Around 50 people who worked for twenty years. Altogether, that is 1000 years of peace work coming out of one folk high school.

Michael N. W.: That is amazing indeed! Steinar, I think this is a good point to stop the dialogue here. Thank you very much for the conversation.

3. Epilogue

In the course of the previous dialogue, different aspects and examples of a peacebuilding project carried out at Nansen Academy were presented and reflected upon. In this project, people from conflicting parties in the former Yugoslavia were invited to stay at the academy for a longer period of time. As it turned out, the rather remote location of this folk high school and the everyday life there, which was rather reduced to the essentials, contributed centrally to the success of the project. The participants could learn to meet each other on a personal level, seeing beyond their conflicting differences and rather encountering each other as human beings. In order to facilitate this sort of encounter, in terms of Martin Buber's I-Thou relation (Buber, 2010), Steinar opened what he called a dialogical room. This room emerged - metaphorically speaking - by establishing four walls: an educational, a cultural, a social and

a physical one. The educational wall consisted of lectures and seminars on democracy, conflict resolution, etc.; the cultural wall was about visiting concerts, exhibitions and the like; the social wall meant going out for a coffee together, meeting on Steinar's veranda and having a dance evening, and so on; and finally, the physical wall was about physical activities like cross-country skiing. The dialogical space that arose due to and in between these various activities was of a rather informal character. However, due to its nature, this dialogical space gave the participants the chance to meet on a personal and existential level. On that level, they could learn about each other's moral compasses in terms of the logic behind their values and beliefs, something that fostered mutual understanding – and sometimes even friendships – in the further course of the project. In the course of the dialogue, it was pointed out that the developmental process the participants went through would not have been possible if one had used an instrumental pedagogical approach, that is, just applied certain methods and techniques. Learning about life cannot be squeezed into a curriculum, as it was mentioned in the dialogue. Instead, the success of this project was due to a relational approach, where the relational situations that occurred spontaneously between the participants formed the "playground" for pedagogical interventions by the pedagogue. These interventions could not be planned for since the relational situations in which they were practiced came up unexpectedly. Hence, good folk high school pedagogy in this case essentially depended on the pedagogue's intuition, that is, on the way one responds to these unexpected situations, that is, an ability to act and react to what one is confronted with in a prudent and mindful manner.

References

- Allport, G. W. (1954): *The nature of prejudice*. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Books.
- Bajwa, S. U., Kitchlew, N., Shahzad, K. & Rehman, K. U. (2015): "Brief Communication: Phronesis Knowledge as Enabler of Intuitive Decision Making." In: *Knowledge Organization*, 42(1).
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2015): "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher? On judgement, wisdom and virtuosity in teaching and teacher education." In: Heilbronn, R. & Foreman-Peck, L. (eds.): *Philosophical perspectives on the future of teacher education*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Buber, Martin (2010): *I and Thou*. Mansfield Center, CT: Martino Publishing.
- Freud, S. (1991): 12. Civilization, Society and Religion. New York, NY: Penguin.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (2004): Truth and Method. 2nd revised edition. London / New York, NY: Continuum.
- Greiner, K. (2003): "Vacation, Strangification and Self-Knowledge – Versuch einer Epistemologischen Verhältnisbestimmung von Alltag und Urlaub." In: Greiner, K. & Wallner, F. (eds.) (2003): Konstruktion und Erziehung. Zum Verhältnis von konstruktivistischem Denken und pädagogischen Intentionen. Hamburg: Verlag Dr. Kovac.
- Heidegger, M. (1997): *Plato's Sophist*. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- Lahav, R. (2016): Stepping out of Plato's Cave. Philosophical Practice and Self-Transformation. Chieti: Solfanelli.
- Lave, J. & Wenger, E. (1991): Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mikkelsen, A. (2015): *Frihet til å lære. Frilynt folkehøgskole i 150 år*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm Akademisk.
- Pettigrew, T. F. & Tropp, L. R. (2006): "A meta-analytic test of intergroup contact theory". In: *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90 (5).

- Slunecko, T. (2008): Von der Konstruktion zu der dynamischen Konstitution: Beobachtungen auf der eigenen Spur. Vienna: WUV.
- The Folk High School Act (2003): *Act relating to folk high schools* (LOV-2002-12-06-72). Lovdata. https://lovdata.no/ dokument/NLE/lov/2002-12-06-72
- Wallner, F. (1992): 8 Vorlesungen über den Konstruktiven Realismus. Vienna: WUV – Universitätsverlag.
- Weiss, M. N. (2017): "Philosophical Mindfulness. An Essay about the Art of Philosophizing." In: HASER – International Journal of Philosophical Practice. Vol. 8.
- Weiss, M. N. (2021): Daimonic Dialogues. Philosophical Practice and Self-Formation. A Research Report on a Series of Philosophical Guided Imageries Carried out at a Norwegian Folk High School. Vienna: LIT publishing.

The Human Landscape

Benedicte Hambro & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

In the fall of 2019, Benedicte Hambro and Michael Noah Weiss met at a folk high school teachers' seminar on sustainable development in Oslo, where Michael was particularly struck by her storytelling-based approach to learning and teaching. Benedicte spent most of her working life at a folk high school and in various positions. In 1988, she began her career at Seljord Folkhøyskole in international and social studies as well as in theatre play. Then she founded a major in stand-up comedy at Ringerike Folkehøyskole. This major was not only the first of its kind but several now famous comedians in Norway attended it.

Over the years, she also continually contributed to improve the theoretical concepts that inform the pedagogical work of the folk high schools, like *Bildung*, and how to make them visible in the subjects of a school. For that, she held introductory courses for new teachers, and, for a year, she also worked at the main office in Oslo. At the time of the following dialogue she was employed at Arbeiderbevegelsens Folkehøyskole (TN: the labor movement folk high school), focusing on *Bildung* and how to educate students to engage in the social activities of the folk high school. According to Benedicte, engaging in such activities is essential for the *Bildung*-process of the students.

The Human Landscape

Why she thinks like that, how personality development can be fostered with folk high school students in general and how this development relates to becoming an active citizen is investigated in the following dialogue. In this respect, a fascinating story about the search for meaning in life is shared and how one can learn to live together with others, even though one might have different opinions and attitudes towards certain life issues.

2. Dialogue

Michael N. W.: Benedicte, you are known for having indepth knowledge and experience with the concept of *Bildung* at a folk high school. A concept that I think is highly relevant with regards to the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" Hence, I would like to invite you to share an experience of yours that you think represents an example of good folk high school pedagogy.

2.1. Concrete reflection

The Tree of Life **Benedicte H.:** When you asked me to take part in this research project, the first thing that came to my mind was Grundtvig's historical-poetical aspect of education. To me, it is essential that the students realize that they are part of something much bigger than themselves; that they, with the cultural backgrounds they have, are, so to speak, a result of people who lived before them; and that the students have the possibility to change their lives, if they are active participants in their own lives.

When it comes to this aspect of folk high school, I use storytelling as a pedagogical approach. The first story that the students hear when they come to the school is from Grundtvig's huge collection called "Nordens mythologi" (1808) (TN: *Mythology of the North*). It is a story from the old Nordic mythology, and it goes like this:

In the old days, when the people believed in completely different Gods than we do today, they believed that all life came from the big Tree of Life, in Norse called *Yggdrasil*. They also believed that at the roots of Yggdrasil, the three Goddesses of Faith sat named Urðr (fate). Verðandi (present), and Skuld (debt or future). They lit the light of life for each child being born. In the beginning, the little child cannot take care of this light; rather, it depends on all the people around it. When the child comes of age and says, "I want to take care of my own life. Now I am a grown-up," the three Goddesses of Faith give the grownup child three gifts, namely hope, vision and the belief in a good world. Then the young person gets the light in order to take care of it by him- or herself. Sooner or later, the young person realizes that you need more than these three gifts in order to live a full life. And when the child realizes this, the three Goddesses come with three new gifts. Those three gifts are disappointment, defeat and misfortune, because you need that as well for living a full life. Regardless of how the person lives his or her life, the light of life will slowly burn down, and the person will grow old. When the person has grown old, he or she gets the three last gifts of the Goddesses and that is wisdom, knowledge and the ability to tell stories.

When I tell this story – which is more poetical than when I do it in English, I have to admit – then I have also lit a candle for each student that started in that year, and I put the candles on the stage of the main lecture hall where we would have this session. I then tell the students that I lit a candle for each one of them for this school year and that this story is not only an example of how the old Nordic Gods thought that life should be lived but also a story about a year at folk high school. I tell them, "You all come here,

The Human Landscape

and you are full of dreams, visions and hope for the future, and you think that this will be the best year of your life so far. However, you will come to realize that life takes its toll. You will face disappointments and downturns and life won't always be easy. However, this is part of living. It is part of becoming a person. And when the school year is over, we hope that you have gained wisdom and knowledge, and that you have lots of stories to tell." And then I would say, "Unfortunately, I have to blow out these lights because they won't burn for a whole year, but if you want, you can come up to the stage after this opening event and take the candle with you to your room, where you can have it as a little memory of your first school day."

Later in that school year, I would have a session with all the students called The human landscape, which is somehow connected to the opening event. In The human landscape, we explore what it means to be a person. The students are challenged with thoughts, ideas, role play, discussions and several other exercises. In one of these exercises. I ask them to bring something from their room, which is of importance for them; an item that means something to them personally. It could be anything, but the nice part here and that touches my teacher's heart – is that many students bring along the candle from the first school day. Because, as they say, to them, this candle said something essential about life; something that was understandable, that was easy to grasp for them. And that, to me, is what all our teaching at folk high schools should be about. That is, to teach the students to see life and to learn from their experiences, and not to be crushed by them but to see that they are part of something bigger. I think it is just fascinating that the old Nordic Gods understand disappointment, defeat and misfortune as gifts that you should cherish because they form you as a person. So many of our students have not learned to see it that way before they come to the folk

high school. They are not capable of surviving the disappointment that life gives them, so to speak.

Michael N. W.: May I pose some follow-up questions? When you do this session about *The human landscape* and the students bring their candles, what do they say as to why they brought them? How do they explain why they have chosen their candle?

Benedicte H.: They got the candle on their first school day, so they remember it and they remember the story around it, which was of importance to them. And also, for many, it was the first time that a grown-up told them a story. They experienced the story-telling situation as so special that they wanted to bring that candle to this session.

Michael N. W.: My next question is about the way you are working with the students. You said that the session about *The human landscape* is about becoming a person. For me, when you described it, it almost sounded like an initiation ritual. The students bring their candles to this session because the candles kind of symbolize this initiation. What is the next step then, after they brought their candles?

Benedicte H.: When I ask them to bring something important from their room, then because this is part of a bigger game called the *Bone Game*, which is an Indian problemsolving ritual. The Indians did this ritual when two rival groups had a dispute over something like some piece of land or buffalo hordes. And instead of going to war against each other, they performed this ritual, which can be compared to a win-and-lose game. So, if you lose the game, you have to do something for the winning party. By doing this ritual, greater damage could be avoided because if both parties had gone to war, it would have meant death and destruction for both. Therefore, if the losing party managed to come up with a gift that they could live with, it would

The Bone Game

The Human Landscape

still have cost them something, but the dispute could also be settled. In that way, war could be avoided.

In the session *The human landscape*, the *Bone Game* is played in the following way: The students are divided into two groups; they sit in a circle, and each group has to decide which symbol they want to have for their group. Therefore, each student has to bring something of personal value and present it to the group. Then the group would have a vote over which symbol should be chosen in order to represent the group. Each one in the group has a say in this decision, and the symbol also serves as a talking stick. That is, only the one holding the symbol is allowed to speak. This is part of teaching how to come to an agreement without arguing and instead listening to each other; presenting to each other and listening to the ideas that are presented. As an example, one student could bring her teddy bear and say, "This teddy bear was given to me by my grandfather who was a very important person in my life." Then everyone in the circle would hold the teddy bear and give reasons why this teddy bear could be a symbol for the group or why it could not. For example, one group member would say, "I feel that this teddy bear is very important to you, but for me, it is not of so high value. Therefore, I don't think it represents the group in a proper way." However, when one of them presents his or her candle, then many accept this as a proper symbol. Not because I suggested that to them, but because all can relate to the meaning of this candle. They would say, "We all know the story behind the candle, so let's choose it as our symbol." After choosing their symbol, they go on to the next step of this exercise, which is to find out what could be the gift that they want to give to the other party if the other group wins. By doing that, they figure out what is essential to their group that they are willing to give to the other group. Here, one would, for example, suggest, "Let's give them some money," while another one would object

and counter, "Isn't that too easy? What if we give them a good meal instead?" So, by using the chosen symbol as a talking stick, each one in the group can come with suggestions and objections until they agree on a gift. The other group has, of course, done the same. Then, two representatives – one from each group – will discuss whether they will accept the gift from the other group or not, in case their group wins. Let's say that one group offers to buy goodies for the other, and this other group says, "No, we want something that is dear to you and that costs you something. Buying goodies is too easy." Then the representative of the rejected group has to go back to his or her group and tell them, "The other group did not accept our gift. They want us to work harder." So, this group has to decide on a new gift. After both groups have accepted the suggested gift from the other group, they play the *Bone Game*, which is a very simple game. It is basically about tossing sticks and depending on how the sticks fall, you get a certain amount of points. The group with the most points wins. The losing party will then present their gift, for example, making a meal, and invite the others in and say sincerely, "We lost the game; this is our gift. And let's get on with our lives." This is also what the Indians did because though they did not want war, they wanted something in return. For example, the losing party would say to the other, "You can get a part of our fishing river," and the other party could say, "Yes, we accept that," or they could say "Hm, that part is too short", and so on. The point in the end is that by means of that Bone Game, they could find a non-violent solution to the dispute.

Michael N. W.: If I understand you right then, the idea of the Indians was that the losing party gives something away that is of value for both sides. What do you think is it that

The Human Landscape

the students learn by means of this exercise? Or, what is it that you intend that they learn?

ConflictBenedicte H.: My intention is that they learn how to solve
a problem without arguing but by talking and listening and
by doing something good for an opposing party. And also,
to work together on a consensus, which is something that
they are normally not used to. They are so used to argu-
ing and that the stronger party or the party with the loudest
voice wins. But here in this exercise, everyone has to talk.
Every voice is important. Many students say that this is
extremely frustrating because it is so new to them, because
they are not used to it, and because it takes time. And in
fact, it can take hours and even several evenings before they
come to an agree-
ment.

2.2. Critical reflection

Michael N. W.: When I see all that you have described so Learning to far and ask, "What is it that is at stake in this pedagogical listen approach or set-up?", then it seems to be learning to listen. But not only that, because when I am listening to you, like now, then I am learning a lot about storytelling, about Nordic mythology and so on. However, the kind of learning to listen I mean here is not only about that. There is more to it. It has to do with giving and taking: In the Bone Game you just described. I am listening to you as my opponent - and what you say, I am taking in, so to speak. At the same time, I am also forced to give something to you; I have to present something to you in order to negotiate. We can only negotiate if we both listen and speak; when we take and when we give. What do you think about that?

Benedicte H.: I think you are right. Some students, in fact, say that this is the first time that their voice has been

listened to because they all sit in the same circle and their voice has the same weight as the others when making a decision. For example, if one says "I don't agree with this symbol" then this symbol will not represent this group. So, they learn to raise their voice. And for many students, that is a novelty. And interestingly, those students who are used to raising their voice, they are suddenly forced to listen, too, since their voice does not count any more than any other voice in the circle. That is also a novelty for many.

Michael N. W.: When you say that this is a novelty, then *Active* I am starting to wonder because all these students went to *citizenship* school before they came to folk high school. And a major, overarching theme of schooling is to become an active citizen, that is, a responsible member of society. When you now mention that most of the students could not raise their voice prior to their time at folk high school and that they did not feel heard, my question simply is: What is going on here? Is your impression that the students you have in this course are quite blank, so to speak, when it comes to Bildung? I know that this sounds provocative, but what do you think about that and also with regards to democracy and active citizenship, which are central mandates of education in general?

Benedicte H.: To put it bluntly, I would say that the conventional school system has failed one hundred percent. Many of my students say that they feel that they don't have any say in their own life, in changing their life and making decisions for themselves. To me, to be honest, many of my students are totally incapable of living a grown-up life. And if we, through games, through role-play and storytelling, can raise their voices and strengthen their belief to be able to make a difference, then this is what is important, that is, to support them to be active participants in their own life.

Being incapable of living a grown-up life
I grew up with Astrid Lindgren's TV series, "Vi på Saltkråkan" (TN: "We on Salt-Crow Island"). One of the main characters in this series is the girl Tjorven. At one point, she was dressed up in a white dress because there was this big celebration on the island. Not even half an hour after the celebration began, the dress was not white anymore. Her mother asked her, "Tjorven, how could this happen?", and Tjorven answered, "The dress just became like that," as if she had no involvement in the matter. It just happened. Tjorven's attitude is very similar to the attitude of our students. "It just happened," they would say about whatever. And here I would counter, "No, it did not just happen. It happened because you made a decision, unaware perhaps, but you made a decision. For example, you made the decision not to show up in class. You made the decision not to finish your homework. You made the decision not to show up for kitchen duty. It did not just happen." Becoming aware of that is also something that is new to them

Michael N. W.: When you describe all this, then it is the term *response-ability* that comes to my mind. With that I mean the ability to respond to a situation in a responsible way. The story of Astrid Lindgren that you just told is about this attitude in terms of "I am not responsible for the dress being dirty. It just happened." However, that being said, giving a response also means making yourself heard. And according to your description, the students themselves said that it was the first time that their voice was being heard. How can you relate all that to *Bildung*, that is, responsibility and being heard? *Bildung* often is defined in a different way than by these terms. Klafki, for example, points out that there are two traditions of how to define *Bildung* (see e.g. Klafki, 2007: 15f; 2001: 39). One of them clearly asserts that in order to have *Bildung*, you have to have read

certain books; you have to be familiar with the traditions of vour culture; you have to know what the scriptures say, so to speak. Therefore, my question, how do you define Bildung in light of the pedagogical exercise you previously described?

Benedicte H.: I agree to a certain extent with the one tradition that is pointed out by Klafki. You have to have read certain books in order to have some sort of general and fundamental knowledge. With that knowledge, I also mean that you have to know how to eat with a knife and a fork. That is also part of Bildung. However, to me, Bildung in the folk high school context means to be a responsible person in charge of your own life. You have to be aware of that things don't just happen; but you have to make active decisions in your life in order to become a person in the actual sense of the word.

Michael N. W.: When you take a look at your students' development, then what is your impression - do they become more responsible during the school year, and if so, why? There are probably different reasons, which differ from individual to individual, but what is your general impression?

Benedicte H.: When we ask the students at the end of this *Bildung* school year, "What have you learned this year?" very few say anything about the subject they have chosen, like theatre play, design, music and so on. Rather, they say that they have learned that they are members of society and that whatever they choose to do, it will have an impact on that society. For example, "If I don't show up, it does not only affect me, but it also affects everybody around me." At the end of the school year, they see themselves as members of a society where they make a difference. One student once said. "I have become more self-aware and more selfassured, and I know that I can play an important part in

The Human Landscape

society after this school year." For me, that is *Bildung*. If only one student in each school year can go out with that attitude towards life, we can make a difference in our society. And you know, there are many students who feel that way. They have the impression that this is their most important year of their lives because suddenly they can see themselves as individuals who can make a difference.

Michael N. W.: We are already in the second phase of the dialogue where we investigate what it is that is at stake in the story you told. In that respect, we brought up several themes, like being heard and being able to raise your voice; responsibility was also mentioned. However, my impression is that there is still much more at stake here. When you compare what the students learn in such a school year with what they learned in their school life prior to folk high school, then it is in fact no less than the lives of the students that are at stake. To me, it is not simply Bildung being at stake here, in terms of the question, "Do the students receive Bildung at folk high school?" Rather, it is the students being at stake in terms of the question. "Will they succeed as human beings, or will they fail - will they live a failed life or not?" I know this sounds guite harsh, but this is the impression that I get when I listen to your story and your thoughts. What do you think about that?

Poverty ofBenedicte H.: First of all, I should not be the one to judgewordswhether they live a successful life or not. Nevertheless, Ithink if we give them some tools they can use in order todeal with life after the folk high school year, when theygo out into society, then we are helping them to becomesuccessful as a person. I am not talking about choosing theright job or so. Rather, what I mean is that they can live alife that is workable for them. I wish we could teach thestudents also the *Bildung* you mentioned, which is moreabout general knowledge in terms of fundamental works

of literature and so on. Because it breaks my heart every vear when I see how little the students know. I think there is some kind of general knowledge about literature, politics, philosophy that is just essential to know. There, they would find vocabulary in order to express themselves. There is such a poverty in that respect. For example, I have stopped playing Trivial Pursuit with my students because I find it so disappointing to see how little they know compared to what I knew when I was their age. Of course, this is an old woman talking now, but I really wish they had better general knowledge. And my main goal of being a teacher at a folk high school is not to have them gain more knowledge but to become active participants in their own lives.

In this respect, I also have to mention one more thing, and that is the so-called cancel culture (see e.g. Valesco, 2020). This culture, if you want to call it like that, also affects our students. They are afraid to raise their voice because they think that there are so many right and wrong answers. For example, it is very hard to get our students involved in discussions because they think for every question raised in such a discussion, there is a right and a wrong answer. I try to teach them to believe in their own answer and not be afraid of being judged by others. That is important, but it is much harder to learn today due to this cancel culture, where only some students define what is right and wrong.

Michael N. W.: What you just said about intellectual Constructive poverty in terms of the students not being familiar with essential general knowledge, with skills and also with a deeper understanding of what life should be about; how vou can contribute; how you can raise your voice and be active in order to make a change, then to me this intellectual poverty appears to be quite decisive for several social phenomena we experience today. For example, that the

alignment vs. Bildung

The Human Landscape

students don't participate in discussions anymore, as you just said. Interestingly, I have the same experience with my students. It is very hard to get them involved in dialogue, and it is very challenging to make them formulate their own thoughts. Just last week, I talked to a teacher from another folk high school who experienced exactly the same with the students from recent years. This teacher and I have not seen each other for some years, and I asked, "How is the class this year?" The teacher replied, "They are very nice, but they are also very shy, and they don't engage in discussions." Then I said, "You know, my experience is that the students who are coming now to higher education are the first generations who grew up - since their first class in school – with the teaching principle of so-called constructive alignment (see e.g. Biggs & Tang, 2011)." That is, they get a pre-defined set of learning outcomes, and the only purpose of schooling is to reach these outcomes as quickly and effectively as possible. In other words, they are given a task, they reach the task, and then they are called good students. The teacher I was talking to answered, "It is interesting that you mention that because it was exactly what one of the students said when I asked them guite frankly why they would not dare to get into discussion. He said, 'We always had these learning outcomes, and we were expected to fulfill the tasks, and that was it. It was not expected from us to come up with our own thoughts." So, there you have this schooling system guided by this constructive alignment approach, on the one hand. On the other hand, you have this idea of *Bildung*, and what the folk high schools are doing is oriented towards Bildung.

With that in mind, I suggest that we go over now to the last part of the dialogue, which is about bringing in some theoretical perspectives on what we have investigated so far. In order to start with this part, I think we can both agree that what you do as a folk high school teacher and pedagogue is quite different from what the conventional school system is doing. My first question now is, how do you justify that – how do you back up your approach in terms of theories, concepts etc.?

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Benedicte H.: I was hoping you would not ask me that Having question simply because I cannot back it up. I think I just back it up with my own experience and with the ability to gain the knowledge that I need from stories, literature, philosophy etc. I think you need some sort of substance in terms of personality, and if you don't have that substance, you cannot absorb what is given to you. To me, the important thing is to give the students the feeling of belonging, of being part of something that is bigger than vourself. This somehow relates to what Gadamer called historical consciousness (1975), that is, the historical horizon in which we see and understand ourselves (see Malpas, 2018). Opening up and widening this horizon, so to speak, is among my key intentions as a folk high school pedagogue. For some students have quite a limited horizon when they come to us. I can give you two examples.

From time to time, we sing Leonard Cohen's song "Hallelujah" with the students. I would ask them, "Do you know what the song is about?", and they don't. So I tell them the story from the Old Testament of King David and Bathsheba, who took a bath on the roof, and David saw her, because this is what this song is based on. I think, it is important to know such things; to know about their background because then you can understand their deeper meaning. And the Bible has influenced people since thousands and thousands of years. The point is not whether you

substance

The Human Landscape

are religious or not, but rather that this book is part of our cultural backbone.

Another example is the song "Die Gedanken sind frei," which is a German folksong from the time of the Enlightenment. The song can be related to people's enlightenment, a key issue in folk high school ever since Grundtvig (see Ohrem & Haddal, 2011) and enshrined in The Folk High School Act as one of the schools' main goals (The Folk High School Act, 2003: § 1). When we sing it, I tell the students that this song has been sung in freedom fights and that it has roots back to the 13th century. This background gives the song a much greater impact compared to a song just heard on the radio - it is widening the students' horizon, their historical consciousness, to put it in the terms of Gadamer (1975). Trying to give them this kind of background information gives them an idea that they belong to a much greater history than the one they see right around them. And sometimes, they don't even see the one right around them; they just see themselves and their little navel, to put it metaphorically. In other words, my intention is to open up the world for them.

Concepts need Michael N. W.: I think I understand what you mean. And I really liked your answer that you gave to my question when you said that you don't have any back-up for your teaching in terms of theories, concepts and so on. Rather, you back it up with experience because in order to understand concepts and theories, you have to have substance, which, by the way, reminds me of Immanuel Kant's dictum that "Thoughts without intuitions are empty, intuitions without concepts are blind." (Kant, 1998: A51=B75) In general language, this dictum is sometimes recited as concepts are blind. If we replace the term percepts with life experience, then what you say means that if you don't have a cer-

tain degree of life experience, theories, concepts and factual knowledge are worth nothing. You would know about them, but you don't understand them, that is, you cannot relate them to yourself. The two songs you mentioned exemplify that guite well. This in fact brings us to the important difference between knowledge and understanding, a difference that was pointed out and investigated thoroughly by Ludwig Wittgenstein, for example, in his post-hum published book, On Certainty (1969). My impression of your work as you described it now is that you want to make the students understand. You do not only want them to know. And this is what you described as *having substance*.

Benedicte H.: Yes, that is true. In this respect, I remember Meaning of life a big argument I once had with a headmaster of a folk high school. I gave a lecture at his school, which was about what folk high school should be. And as always, I used a story in order to explain that. The story goes like this: Once upon a time, there was a young man in a village who decided that he wanted to become the wisest man of all men. So, he started to study. And he read, and he read, and he read. Slowly, the rumor about him and what he intended to become spread to the village. It did not take long until it dawned on the people of the village that if he really became that wise, then they could say, "Ohh, we come from the same village as the wisest man of the world." So, they could enjoy themselves in the awareness that they were somehow acquainted with him. Therefore, the villagers brought him food, they brought him firewood, and they helped him in all possible ways. Some even brought books to him, so he continued to read and read and read. One day, however, he jumped up from his desk so that the chair fell with a big bang on the ground, and the young man ran to the center of the village where he shouted, "I won't open a book again until someone can tell me what

The Human Landscape

the meaning of life is!" This made the whole village come running to him, and each one of them gave an account of what they thought the meaning of life was. As it turned out, there were, of course, as many meanings of life as people living in the village. And none of the answers he got was good enough for this young man. Therefore, someone said that there was an old rabbi in the neighboring village, and maybe he could tell what the meaning of life is. So, the young man walked to the other village, and with him, all the other fellow villagers. When they arrived there, he asked for an audience with the rabbi. The request was accepted, and the young man was brought to the rabbi. The young man told his story and finished with the question, "What is the meaning of life?" The old rabbi stood up from his chair, went to the young man, and slapped him in the face. Bewildered, the young man asked, "Why do you hit me? I only asked you a question!" The old rabbi replied, "Oh, you young fool! Don't you know that this is one of the best questions in the world? And you want to fob it off with one answer? Don't you know that it is the answer that divides us and the question that unites us?"

In the lecture where I told this story, I told the audience that this is our main objective at folk high school – to share all those existential questions with the students and not to give them answers. The best would, of course, be if we could find the answers together, which goes into the direction of inquiry-based learning, as for example Mathew Lipman has outlined (Lipman, 2003: 20f). However, the answers are not really important actually. It is the questions the students ask about life, about the meaning of life, about who they are and who they want to become and why they should care. Those are the main issues and objectives of folk high school. We should be the type of school that asks all the questions and give none of the answers. The headmaster of this school was very upset with me because according to him, it was the school's main objective to give the students answers. To me, this is not the answer to the question of what good folk high school pedagogy is. To me, the answer is to investigate the questions with the students together and see if there is anything that we agree on. As a human being, you have to ask questions in order to grow and not simply accept the answers. If you do the latter, you stop developing.

Michael N. W.: What you just said reminds me of Viktor *Man's search* Frankl. He became famous with his book, Man's Search for meaning for Meaning (Frankl, 1992). In this book he also points out what you just said, namely, that there is no general answer on this quest for meaning. Rather, the answers differ from human being to human being. What I am wondering about in this respect is whether you think that the students at folk high school not only get the chance to raise their voice and be heard for the first time but that they also, for the first time, get the chance to ponder the question, "What is meaningful to me?" In short, do you think that this search for meaning is of pedagogical relevance, that is, of relevance for the students' growth?

Benedicte H.: Oh. definitely. Sometimes I initiate a What is truth? walk&talk where the students are given the question, "What is truth?" in order to discuss it in groups of two. It is very interesting when they come back and share what they have talked about. Of course, there is no general answer to this big question, but we break it down into simpler questions like, "Is it always right to tell the truth?" and ask for examples from the students' lives. In this way, we related this huge question to them personally, and then they come up with important ethical and existential issues. My job in this exercise – even if I agree with what they say – is to come up with further follow-up questions and kind of disagree with them, so that they feel challenged.

Michael N. W.: Benedicte, I think we have come pretty far now and in our talk there were many interesting perspectives that shed light on what good folk high school pedagogy can be about. Since there is no need for arriving at a common conclusion in such a dialogue, I suggest that we finish the conversation here. Thank you very much for this inspiring dialogue.

3. Epilogue

In the course of this dialogue, a game was presented – the *Bone Game* – which shall students support to develop conflict management skills. An important part of this game is learning to listen. The reason why this game is introduced and played at Benedicte's folk high school is because the ability to resolve conflicts is assumed to be central for active citizenship. Fostering such abilities helps the students to develop response-ability in terms of learning to be in charge of their own lives and making their own self-responsible decisions.

In the further conversation, developing responsibility also turned out to be an important dimension of *Bildung*. In this respect, it was asserted that concepts, like *Bildung*, need life experience. For concepts without experience are empty, and experience without concepts is blind (see Kant, 1998: A51=B75). For Benedicte, it is therefore essential to challenge folk high school students to reflect on their life experience in an existential manner. Her way of doing this is by means of storytelling, since stories are not only easy to understand but also relate to one's own life. But they are also concrete, so that everyone can imagine them. Furthermore, they engage the students not only cognitively but also emotionally, which makes it easier to remember these stories. Summarizing this dialogue, it can be stated that telling stories – as Benedicte did in this dialogue with the story on the search for meaning – and philosophizing over them and relating them to one's own life can be seen as an inspiring form of good folk high school pedagogy.

References

- Biggs, J. & Tang, C. (2011): *Teaching for Quality Learning at University*. Berkshire: Open University Press.
- Frankl, V. E. (1992): Man's Search for Meaning. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Gadamer, H.-G. (1975): "The Problem of Historical Consciousness." In: *H.-G. Gadamer, special issue, Graduate Faculty Philosophy Journal* 5:1.
- Grundtvig, N.F. S. (1808): Nordens Mytologi eller Udsigt over Eddalæren for dannede Mænd der ei selv ere Mytologer. Copenhagen: Paa Hofboghandler J. H. Schubothes Forlag.
- Kant, I. (1998): Critique of Pure Reason. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Klafki, W. (2001). Dannelsesteori og didaktik: nye studier. Århus: Klim.
- Klafki, W. (2007): Neue Studien zur Bildungstheorie und Didaktik. Zeitgemässe Allgemeinbildung und kritisch-konstruktive Didaktik. (6th edition). Weinheim & Basel: Beltz.
- Lipman, M. (2003): *Thinking in Education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Malpas, J. (2018); "Hans-Georg Gadamer". In: Zalta, E. N. (ed.): *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Fall 2018 Edition). https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2018/entries/ gadamer/
- Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.) (2011): *Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen*. Oslo: Cappelen Damm.

- The Folk High School Act (2003): Act relating to folk high schools (LOV-2002-12-06-72). Lovdata. https://lovdata.no/ dokument/NLE/lov/2002-12-06-72
- Velasco, J (2020): "You are Cancelled: Virtual Collective Consciousness and the Emergence of Cancel Culture as Ideological Purging." In: *Rupkatha Journal on Interdisciplinary Studies in Humanities* 12(5). Vol. 12.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1969): On Certainty. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.

Sigurd Ohrem & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

Sigurd Ohrem and Michael Noah Weiss got to know each other through a teach-the-teachers program called "Philosophical Dialogue and Active Citizenship" (see Ohrem & Weiss, 2019). Sigurd was initiating and organizing this program, inviting Michael and several other philosophical practitioners to train folk high school teachers in different philosophical dialogue formats. In 2013, Sigurd and Michael travelled to Athens for the World Congress of Philosophy, where the two had many informal talks about the relevance of dialogue at folk high school. Visiting this congress together marks the starting point for several projects that the two did together over the following years.

Sigurd was a university teacher and cultural researcher at what today is the University of South-Eastern Norway before he started at Skiringssal folkehøyskole where he worked as a teacher and lecturer for three decades. As an author, he wrote several articles and book chapters on pedagogy, philosophy and cultural studies. Over the years, he contributed with many projects and initiatives to the development work of folk high school pedagogy.

The following dialogue was the first carried out for the present anthology. It took place in 2020, a week before Christmas. In the beginning of this conversation, Sigurd

shares an experience that at first does not appear to be pedagogical in nature. However, as the dialogue unfolds, a pedagogical attitude is examined that can be compared with the Taoist concept of *Wu Wei*, which is doing by not doing. In the further course of the investigation, the dialogue partners examine how far this concept can foster self-formation in terms of *Bildung* with the folk high school students. In this respect, the term *Golden Moments* is introduced as something that the teachers cannot plan for. Rather, these moments happen incidentally. Nevertheless, they can play a vital role in the students' *Bildung*-process.

2. Dialogue

2.1. Concrete reflection

Michael Noah Weiss: Sigurd, our guiding question for this dialogue now is "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" You are an experienced teacher at folk high school, and you also have extensive theoretical knowledge about this type of school. What I would like to ask you for now is an example, a personal story that illustrates good folk high school pedagogy.

The jamSigurd Ohrem: Since I have been working in these
schools for thirty years now, there would be countless suit-
able stories. However, the best story I can think of right
now is from my teaching in a music class called "Rock
Band". When I had the class about five years ago, we
once had visitors from the folk high schools' main office
in Oslo. They were going to make a new brochure that
they would use to market the schools the next year. The
reason why they came was because they needed some pic-
tures that would illustrate the life at a folk high school,
something like students engaged in different activities and

classes. What was special with this photo session was that these people did not want to stage the situations they were photographing as if they were real. No, they rather wanted to take pictures of real situations as they happened to keep it as authentic as possible.

Before these visitors came into my class, I told the students – they were about seven – that today we would not practice a specific song, but we would just improvise. Since we had never done this before, I was quite curious what would happen. In fact, I did not even know whether they were able to improvise. So, I picked up the bass guitar and started to play a simple theme. Suddenly, the piano player began to groove around the same line. He was quite a good player. Then the drums set in, and after three minutes, everyone was playing. There was also a saxophone, two guitars and a vocalist. It is of course challenging to improvise with nothing but your voice, but the respective student was brilliant, and she managed to put her voice on top of it all.

We were all into the music, really feeling it, when the door opened, and these photographers came in and they started photographing the action.

There were so many motives because our improvised piece of music never stopped. One theme merged into another. It went on and on. With all these people playing, you can imagine how many good motives there were for taking pictures. And it turned out that these students were not shy when being photographed. When you know that you are going to be photographed, then some people tend to take a certain pose, and then it sometimes gets a bit unnatural. These students, however, they did not even seem to think about that, because they were so into the music. Everything felt just natural.

The photographers stayed for maybe fifteen minutes, and shortly before we finished, they walked out silently

again, almost as if they would never have been there. When this fulminant jam session then came to an end, the students and me looked astonished at each other, and I remember one student asking, "What really happened now?" The others shook their heads in bewilderment without being able to give an answer. It was like everybody had the same thought, the same feeling, the same experience. But we had no words. And I did not want to try to make them talk about it immediately. It was an experience – a strong experience – that you never could have foreseen or forced.

Michael N. W.: When you are saying that this experience was not foreseen nor foreseeable, do I understand you right that this was a unique moment in the sense that it never happened before or after again with that class?

Sigurd O.: Most of these students were clever musicians, but they had never experienced such a moment before because they had been too occupied with rehearsing. For example, when you play the piano, you may learn how to play all the various scales; you know how to play by notes, etc. But if you're only rehearsing playing techniques, you never learn how to improvise. This you may observe with many other young musicians today. So, after this experience, it was the phenomenon of musical improvisation that these students all of a sudden became aware of. The previously described session happened at the end of the school year, so there were not many sessions left, but I remember that after this experience, it was very easy to work with this group of students. They appeared liberated, to call it like that.

2.2. Critical reflection

Logopedagogy Michael N. W.: After what you described now, I think I have a pretty good picture of what happened in this situation, but I also understand why you said that you did

not have words to explain what happened. Nevertheless, when it comes to the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?", then listening to your story is somehow an experience of discrepancy to me (see Lindseth, 2017: 247). In terms of the story or case, I would have expected something completely different compared to what you were telling now. And this is also what makes your narrative so interesting to me, because in what you were describing, pedagogy appears to be absent, at first sight, at least. However, when I reflect further on your story, then there is one aspect that astonishes me. And that is that all the students in this situation unexpectedly experienced some sort of meaning. There was something that they experienced as highly meaningful. And the term meaningful I use, in this case, more in the sense of Viktor Frankl's Logotherapy, which here turns into a Logopedagogy, so to speak - that is, a meaning-oriented pedagogy (see e.g. Frankl, 2000). Among other things, Frankl claims that meaning can never be given; it can only be found, and in this story, the students all of a sudden stumble upon it. What the students came upon was not simply something that made sense to them. It was more And that *more* was meaning. However, there is also something else. There is also some kind of togetherness that comes to the fore in this narrative. An improvised, unexpected togetherness, if vou will.

Sigurd O.: I think it is almost a compliment when you say that there is no obvious pedagogy in place here. I am sure you are familiar with the story of Meno's slave as described in one of Plato's dialogues. In that story, a slave boy who never received any teaching in mathematics could learn to solve a complex geometric problem, with Socrates only posing questions and not teaching him anything. You could call this the Socratic method of not-teaching. It is al-

Didactics of "showing, not telling"

most like the Taoist *Wu Wei*, that is *doing by not doing*. You can compare it with writing a film script, where it is often about showing, not telling. Showing is kind of doing what you want to say. You also find this in logic with the distinction between *use* and *mention*; that is, again, you can talk about it or you can use/do it. And folk high school pedagogy, to summarize this, is mostly about *using*, so to speak, also called *praxis*, or performing – in action. What we did in this session was use the tools of music in a proper way to obtain an experience that we had not been able to obtain until then. After eight weeks, we suddenly were ready to do that. It was also provoked by these visitors, who had all this camera equipment with them. The moment they came in, the students felt like rock stars.

Key aspects of Michael N. W.: What we identified now were certain key the narrative aspects, so to speak. You brought up the term *showing*, not telling. I mentioned the topic of meaning, that is, the search for meaning or the experience of meaning. And then we also had the aspect of togetherness, where you spoke of a special kind of togetherness.

> Now, let me suggest assuming that these three aspects – showing, not telling; meaning and togetherness - are essential in this narrative of yours for it to represent an example of good folk high school pedagogy.

Sigurd O.: Yes, let us assume that.

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: If we now go a step further in our dia-3 categories of existential logue, then let's try to relate these three key aspects with values theoretical approaches that might be of relevance.

Let us start with the aspect of meaning. Viktor Frankl came up with what he called the search for and the experience of meaning as an essential aspect of human existence

(see ibid.). In this respect, he suggested three categories of existential values (see ibid., 1986: 43f). In the first category, we find experiential values. For example, in the situation that you described, meaning was experienced without planning it, without expecting it. All of a sudden, the students experienced meaning together. Another example for experiential values would be to climb a mountain top where you enjoy the sunrise, and you experience this as deeply meaningful because it is so beautiful. The second category is about *creative values*. Something that also plays into the situation you described, as it seems, because the students were creating something together. They were creating an atmosphere; they were creating music. The third category, then, is about *attitudinal values*. And here we can ask, how might attitudinal values eventually play into the situation you described? In this respect, I see some kind of connection between meaning, attitudinal values and what you called *showing*, not telling, which means, you, as the teacher, went into this situation; you picked an instrument, started playing and the students tuned in. Hence, you were showing them by your attitude how to play music together. You did that without many words; rather, your attitude was enough to show them.

Sigurd O.: I could actually have said, "Now we are going to improvise." For example, I could have told the pianist, "You have to play this and that tune, in this open or loose manner". However, it is very hard to tell someone to do something, which that person has never done before. Instead, it is much better to do what you expect them to do. Often, when you work with education, you tell your students a lot. You tell and tell because the teaching situation does not allow you to show, does not give room for using what you are telling, and that may be a challenge.

Praxis vs.Michael N. W.: What you point out here appears to be
quite essential to me in order to understand why your nar-
rative is an example of good folk high school pedagogy.
For what you just said seems to be closely related to the
meaning of the term *praxis*. According to Aristotle, *praxis*
is a certain form of activity that is opposed to another form
of activity, namely *poiesis* (Biesta, 2015: 14f). Praxis is
any kind of activity that has the goal within itself, for ex-
ample, to listen to or play music. Poises is any kind of
activity that has its goal beyond itself, for example, build-
ing a house, where the building process is not the goal but
to live in that house.

You said that you were doing something, and that doing did not have any further purpose or goal beyond that doing, beyond that action. The goal in your described situation was to play together. The purpose was not to practice and rehearse together because of an upcoming concert or so.

Sigurd O.: I agree, but there is an important distinction here, which maybe even represents the core of that story. It has to do with the photographers that were coming. We wanted to show them something, give them motives for their pictures. In fact, I never thought about it like that, but this was what was really new for the students. The presence of the photographers changed the attitude of the students. All of a sudden, they felt like rock stars.

Michael N. W.: I think by saying that you just uncovered another important aspect in that narrative. And that aspect is about *to be seen*. While they were playing together, the students wanted to be seen.

Definitional **Sigurd O.:** Yes, that is indeed an important aspect. The students felt seen by somebody from outside. They were provided with a bystander's interested eye. And that eye, so to speak, had not been visible there before. They were seen in a totally new way.

Michael N. W.: Do you think that this can be connected with what Myerhoff called *definitional ceremonies* (Myerhoff 1982: 100), where people are telling personal stories, telling who they are, to outsiders? In this approach, the outsider witnesses are then encouraged to retell the parts of the story, which kind of struck them, or which were essential to them. In short, definitional ceremonies, as you know, are about generating and communicating identity. In the case of your story, it was the students telling the photographers as the outsiders who they are, or at least who they can be, namely amazing rock musicians. And the photographers retold this story, so to speak, by making pictures of this situation.

Sigurd O.: I think definitional ceremonies is a great concept in this respect. You and I have written about the relevance of that concept in the context of folk high schools before (see Ohrem & Weiss, 2019: 17f). In general, however, I think that it is challenging to create arenas that allow for definitional ceremonies. It is not something that you just do, like some kind of easy play, because it is something more personal, more serious. The concept originates from Myerhoff's research on Jews in New York after the Second World War. She investigated the situations, settings and arenas where survivors of the Holocaust could tell each other their stories of that time. The main point of this form of storytelling was not the content of these stories, because they all had similar experiences. Rather, the main point of this storytelling, or narration, which often happened spontaneously, was to be seen and heard when you tell your story. The act of telling and being heard helped the listeners to understand who they were. It was an act of defining you - an act of defining your identity. That is what definitional ceremonies are essentially about.

Also, Nietzsche's idea of *life as an artwork* comes to my mind with respect to the previous story (see e.g. Nietzsche, 1993). In other words, the only thing that matters, according to Nietzsche, is to be the artist of one's life.

What happened in the previous story was the spontaneous creation of an arena for performing in a new way. The students unexpectedly found themselves inside this arena, and the eye of the photographers was what made them seen. It was not my eye, so to speak. It was not me who made them seen. It was this dynamic, this dialectic between the eye of the photographers and what the students were doing together. This is in a way similar to the groups of Jews that Myerhoff investigated that started to tell each other stories. However, a difference may be that the stories of the students, the performing of their narrative, had not been told before, and that it was more immediate and interactive.

Michael N. W.: If I understand you right, then your conclusion is that what happened in that session in terms of a definitional ceremony was nothing else then the creation of an identity-defining or identity-giving arena. Would you agree to that?

Sigurd O.: That sounds quite ostentatious, but I agree; that is what happened.

Authenticity Michael N. W.: Maybe we could even extend this thought and identity and say that this situation was about authentic identity. What do I mean with that? We are creating and defining our identities all the time, but sometimes we create it according to false assumptions. As an example, I might decide to study medicine in order to become a physician because then I will earn good money. That decision, which indeed is identity-giving ("I am a doctor"), might not be based on the authentic wish to become a physician, however, that is, to help and heal others. In other words, when it comes to our identity, we are sometimes running around with masks, metaphorically speaking.

In your described case, however, the students obviously experienced meaning, and to experience real meaning, you have to act authentic. You cannot experience meaning if what you are experiencing does not *feel meaningful* to you, that is, it does not work only to pretend. Hence, meaning varies from individual to individual, and it is strongly related to authenticity, that is, to who and how we truly are and want to be (see Frankl, 2000: 14f).

Sigurd O.: I agree, you cannot pretend to experience *Flow state* meaning. You can only pretend to confirm expectations from others, but then you are wearing a mask, you are playing a role. And that does not necessarily give you meaning, of course

However, what appears to be some kind of contradition in the described case in this regard is that the students actually were playing a role in relation to the photographers. Therefore, my conclusion is that it must be possible to play a role in an authentic way. When you would take a look at one of the photos that were taken in that session, you would see that they were into something. You can see it in their eyes. They don't look like children, even though they were young. No, they looked like jazz or rock musicians who are in the zone or in the flow, as Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi called it in his flow state theory (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990).

Michael N. W.: I see what you mean, but that makes me wonder whether it really was roles that these students were living authentically, or was it rather that *in* that moment they realized a possibility to live up to an ideal self-image for that moment?

Sigurd O.: You are right. The concept of roles does not fit properly in this case. The students were not playing roles.

The pedagogical concept of Golden Moments

theory

They did something new that resembled rock stars who are improvising.

But there is something else, and I think this happened simultaneously. The whole thing was not individual anymore. Normally, I would tell the students which song we would play, like a piece from The Talking Heads, for example. I would also tell and show each student how to play his or her instrument in that song, and so we would practice. In the case of this story, however, I did not tell them which piece of music to play. Also, we did not practice in advance, but still, the students were playing better than normally. That is maybe the strange thing here, that they did it better than all the other things we had done before. So, what happened? What happened was what I define as the Golden Moment; to me a central concept in order to understand folk high school pedagogy (see Ohrem & Haddal, 2011: 17 or Ohrem & Weiss, 2019: 59). A central aspect of such a Golden Moment is that the situation where it happens, does not only consist of individuals doing something, but that they are doing something together. Hence, it is not only about individuality anymore, but there is some kind of communion that comes to the fore, which might eventually best be described with the Aristotelian proverb, "The whole is greater than the sum of its parts." (Aristotle, 1991: 1045a.8-10). This communion arises from individual capabilities, but it also transcends them and eclipses into some kind of "ritual", which manifests something that is magical and almost sacred. Though not in a religious sense, of course.

Communities **Michael N. W.:** What you are describing here also seems to relate to what is called *communities of practice* as described by Wenger (1998), which is also a key concept for some authors who wrote about folk high school pedagogy (see e.g. Lövgren, 2020). However, if I understood you

right, then even though the concept of communities of practice and togetherness are central aspects of your narrative, it is not only about being with others and doing something together. There is still more to it. For me, in the way you described this situation, it is also about *presenting oneself to others*. And here my question is: If presenting yourself or something you created together with others, is it a central aspect of folk high school pedagogy in general? For example, one class or group is creating something, and then it is presented to the whole school.

Sigurd O.: The answer is yes, because we do that all the time, for example, in the form of project weeks where the students produce something within their main class. The film class would make a film, the music class would write a song and rehearse it, and so on. And then there is a presentation at the end of such a week.

However, in the previously described case, it was not like that The students of this session did not work on something in order to present it then. I only told them in advance that some photographers would come to take pictures of them while playing, but we did not prepare for that in any way. And of course, all of these students had seen pictures in music magazines before, with rock stars performing, improvising and so on. Hence, the students had an idea of what the photos could ideally look like. Nevertheless, the performance that they then gave, was not planned, it was not choreographed beforehand, not studied or rehearsed. It just happened spontaneously, and that is what made it unique. If I would have told them that the photographers would come again in one week and the students should do more or less the same thing again, I am sure it would not have worked out in the same way, that is, with the same spirit and magic. And maybe that is actually the point with the previously mentioned definitional ceremonies (Myer-

hoff 1982: 100). If you repeatedly do something, it is easier to do it, but the first time is always the best, so to speak.

Michael N. W.: Let me summarize at this point what we have examined so far. In the beginning, you brought up the term *showing, not telling*. We mentioned the term *to be seen*. Also, *togetherness* was a central aspect we focused on, which in this case is more than what Wenger described as *communities of practice* (see Wenger, 1998) because this kind of togetherness was somehow unique and spontaneous. We also had a closer look at the term *meaning* where Frankl's three categories of values have been mentioned, namely existential values, creative values and attitudinal values (see Frankl, 1986: 43f).

My question now is whether folk high school pedagogy – seen from a more general, universal perspective – is about learning to deal with attitudes or, to use Viktor Frankl's expression, *attitudinal values* (see ibid.).

Educational Sigurd O.: In fact, this is what I wanted to come back to. For what is characteristic in this narrative is the attitude of inertia the students. This attitude, for me, is about non-resistance. Though here I don't use the word resistance in a political sense but rather in the sense of inertia, and metaphorically speaking, one can also find some kind of inertia in education - let's call it educational inertia - routines, which is not the same as rituals. In folk high school, you have the times for meals, you have the teaching schedules, you have many different structures and rules, and that provokes educational inertia in this school system. Being aware of that, the teachers for example do not have a strict time schedule anymore for when to take breaks. Rather, they ask the students when they want to take a break. If the students are into something, they can continue with that activity. If they need a break, they can have it. A good part of what is going on in the pedagogical everyday life of the teachers at a folk high school is about removing and eliminating the resistance and inertia from the students, that is, all the barriers towards learning. A concrete example for that would be a teacher who chooses not to do the class in a traditional classroom but in a more casual surrounding like the fireplace room, something which often happens, by the way. But still, you can meet the resistance of single individuals. You face their inertia. Especially young people at the age of around 19 years have so many expectations about themselves and expectations about others' expectations, which generates inertia towards letting go and being free in a pedagogical situation. In other words, many students face challenges when invited to engage in an educational activity due to their fundamental ideas and beliefs of what school and education is. What happened in the described jam session was that all of a sudden, all this inertia disappeared.

Michael N. W.: In other words, all of a sudden, the students could change their attitude. With their new attitude in this situation, they could experience meaning. In this respect, it appears to me that experiencing meaning through one's attitude or through one's change of attitude towards the given situation is a signifying aspect of what you called the Golden Moment, as a pedagogically transformative moment. However, would you say that by getting the chance to get rid of all this inertia in that moment, the students could learn a new way of how to deal with their attitude towards life and towards education in general?

Sigurd O.: At least concerning their attitude towards education, because there is usually a great amount of inertia in this kind of group. They have their experiences from traditional high school, and implicitly, they assume and expect such music classes to be traditional teaching. Of course, I don't want them to have such expectations, but they still

Pedagogical relevance of attitudinal transformation

do. What I figured out, though, in this respect is that for some students, it is easier to let go of this inertia if they drop into the music room in a break and just start to jam with me. While they are doing that, they don't even think about it as a jam; they just play. All of a sudden, they can change their attitude and engage in this activity without educational inertia. However, the next time when they come to music class, this kind of free play, this relieved attitude, is not possible again. Then they are back into their old attitude and see the class as traditional teaching.

The students at folk high schools have many expectations, and hence attitudes, that have been created during and due to their former socialization and their experiences with education. And that is understandable. They have been in this system for 12 years, and even longer if you include their time in kindergarten. Therefore, these expectations and attitudes are deeply grounded in them, and it is not realistic nor fair to expect that they will remove these expectations and change their attitudes in a twinkling.

To stand in the Michael N. W.: What you are saying here reminds me of Finn Thorbjørn Hansen's description of the existential (see open Hansen, 2007: 398). That is, "the experience that the world (and one's life in it) is a mystery. It poses questions (like What is the good life? What is meaning? What is love? etc.) which cannot find final answers, but still it exists, and we are experiencing it. The existential is then, by nature, an open place."1 (Weiss, 2017: 20) What I am wondering about in this respect is whether folk high school pedagogy is essentially about removing or dissolving existential expectations so that the students can learn to experience the existential, that is, to learn to stand in the open ("At stå i det åbne, " as Finn Thorbjørn Hansen called it in Danish (2008))? And with learning to stand in the open (ibidem), I

mean an attitudinal development towards an authentic and hence wondering being-in-the-world.

Sigurd O.: Yes, I would say so. When you remove those expectations, you go from inauthentic, even worldly expectations that you acquired due to your socialization, towards a more authentic way of life. You are transforming your attitude towards life from one that makes sense, towards one that makes you find meaning, to say it with Frankl. However, when you "stand in the open," then you are confronted with existential questions and attitudinal challenges. And if you answer to them, then this is the answer of your conscience. And with conscience, in accordance with Frankl, I mean an inner voice that calls for you (see Frankl, 2000: 59). And in the existential, in the open, what you are responding to is your inner voice, your conscience. Frankl defined the term *responsibility* in this way, that is, when you are responding to your conscience in terms of your actions, you act responsibly (see e.g. ibid.: 29 & 41), not very different from Heidegger's "call of conscience" (Heidegger, 2008: 317). In this respect also, your research project "Daimonic Dialogues" can be mentioned, which sheds an interesting light on learning to listen to one's conscience as a central educational goal of folk high school pedagogy (see Weiss, 2021).

However, when I say all this now about expectations and attitudes that are fostered in the conventional school system, then I, in fact, realize that the folk high schools are already facing a quite challenging situation. And I am afraid it will get worse. In our school, for example, we get more and more used to simply applying teaching techniques. We are establishing structured and planned-through didactical systems, so to speak. For the students, this seems to be fine because they are not used to anything else. In a way, we are feeding their expectations and supporting their inauthen-

The call of conscience

tic attitudes. However, these expectations and attitudes are incommensurable with what folk high school pedagogy is about, at least for me. Many students think that when they have learned certain techniques, might it be in guitar playing, in filmmaking, in the gym class, and so on, then they have learned all what was there to learn. When they come to this point, the school year is unfortunately often finished. Then there is no more time left to raise the curtain, so to speak. It is too late to tap into the existential and make them aware that a different attitude towards education and towards life in general is possible.

Educational in-Michael N. W.: What you are describing here sounds like strumentalism educational instrumentalism and you find it everywhere in the school system today. It implies that a student can perform outstandingly according to this system, but still he or she fails the essence of education, or better, of Bildung (in Norwegian, "danning"). In this way, education today seems to be endangered because if we reduce education, or Bildung, to the transference of techniques, you never get to the point that you mentioned previously (see also Helskog & Weiss, 2021). Namely, to stand in the open, and then – and only then - you can start to be confronted by your inner voice, your conscience. Here, the difference between learning a profession and following your calling comes to the fore. A difference that appears to be of utmost importance when it comes to Bildung (see Hellesnes, 1992). I think that we all have this intrinsic wish to hear and follow our calling, but at the same time, we are easily fooled by the idea that we can find and follow our calling by merely acquiring techniques and instrumentalistic skills.

Sigurd O.: Yes, therefore it seems to be natural that many students think like that. Many are looking for confirmations for what they have reached. It is a bit like role play

games on the internet, where the goal always is to reach the next level.

Michael N. W.: Maybe we could even conclude that several students do everything perfectly right according to the education system, but they fail to live up to their human potential?

Sigurd O.: Absolutely. I perfectly agree.

Michael N. W.: I think we came quite far now in this dialogue, and, in fact, I think that we can round it up. We investigated your described case from quite illuminating angles and perspectives. Thank you very much for the conversation.

3. Epilogue

The previous dialogue started with an experience about a jam session in a music class where something unexpected happened. Sigurd did not plan anything in advance for this session. He just started with a line, and the other students tuned in. Then, suddenly, a group of journalists and photographers came into the room, taking pictures of that session. For some reason, the students played so well together as never before. After the session was over, none of the musicians had words for what has just happened. But they were overwhelmed by this experience because they realized that they had just done something that they did not think they were capable of.

In the course of this dialogue, that kind of experience was called the Golden Moment. In simple terms, such moments are about having a fundamental insight or revelation about oneself. In that sense, they are enlightening as well as *trans*-formative in nature, and hence formative pedagogically.

As it turned out during the conversation, Golden Moments cannot be planned in advance or arranged for. Rather, they happen spontaneously and are unforeseen something that can be challenging for a teacher, since he or she never knows when and if such moments will occur. The only thing one can do is to be open for them and prepare the students to be receptive for them too. Hence, though a teacher cannot organize and plan for Golden Moments, he or she can "provide for" them in terms of his or her attitude. In this respect, the Taoist Wu Wei was mentioned, which can be defined as an attitude of doing by not doing, so to speak. Such an attitude must not be mixed up with just doing nothing; rather, it is about embracing the given situation and trying to get all involved into a kind of *flow*. In reference to Csikszentmihalyi's flow theory (1990), getting into a flow-state has not so much to do with doing or making something as with having the right attitude. In this respect, the investigation performed in the course of this dialogue gives the impression that Golden Moments form a vital aspect of good folk high school pedagogy, and the teacher's responsibility is to open up a space for them to happen without any guarantee that they will.

References

- Aristotle (1991): *The Metaphysics*. Translated by McMahon, J. H. New York, NY: Prometheus Books.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2015): "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher? On judgement, wisdom and virtuosity in teaching and teacher education." In: Heilbronn, R. & Foreman-Peck, L. (eds.): *Philosophical perspectives on the future of teacher education*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). *Flow: the psychology of optimal experience*. New York, NY: Harper Collins.

- Frankl, V. E. (1986): *The Doctor and the Soul*. New York, NY: Vintage Books
- Frankl, V. E. (2000): *Man's search for ultimate meaning*. Perseus Publishing. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Hansen, F. T. (2007): Det filosofiske liv. Et dannelsesideal for eksistenspædagogikken. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzels Forlag.
- Hansen, F. T. (2008): Å stå i det åbne dannelse gennem filosofisk undring og nærvær. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzels Forlag.
- Heidegger, M. (2008): *Being and Time*. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Hellesnes, J. (1992). Ein utdana mann og eit dana menneske: Framlegg til eit utvida daningsomgrep. In: Erling Lars Dale & E. L. Dale (Red.), Pedagogisk filosofi. Oslo: Ad Notam Gyldendal.
- Helskog, G. H. & Weiss, M. N. (2021): On the urgent need for philosophical practices in mainstream education. In: *HASER* – *Revista Internacional de Filosofía Aplicada*. Nr. 12.
- Lindseth, A. (2017): "Refleksiv praksisforskning" In: Halås, C. T., Kymre, I. G. & Steinsvik, K. (eds.): 2015. *Humanistiske forskningstilnærminger til profesjonspraksis*. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Lövgren, J. (2020): Learning Together. Copenhagen: FDD's Forlag.
- Myerhoff, B. (1982): "Life history among the elderly: Performance, visibility and remembering." In: Ruby, J. (ed.): *A Crack in the Mirror: Reflexive perspectives in anthropology.* Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Nietzsche, F. (1993): *The Birth of Tragedy. Out of the Spirit of Music.* London: Penguin Books.
- Ohrem, S. & Haddal, O. (eds.) (2011): *Med livet som pensum. Danning og læringsprosesser i folkehøgskolen.* Oslo: Cappelen Damm.
- Ohrem, S. & Weiss, M. N. (2019): *Myndig Medborgerskap. Dialog og danning i folkehøyskolen.* Oslo: Folkehøgskoleforbundet.

- Weiss, M. N. (2017): "'Fatti saggio!' Pratica filosofica come apprendimento permanente?" In: *Journal Lessico di Etica Pubblica*, 8–1.
- Weiss, M. N. (2021): Daimonic Dialogues. Philosophical Practice and Self-Formation. A Research Report on a Series of Philosophical Guided Imageries Carried out at a Norwegian Folk High School. Vienna: LIT publishing.
- Wenger, E. (1998): Communities of Practice. Learning, Meaning and Identity. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

So That Life Becomes Bigger

Johan Lövgren and Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

Johan Lövgren, the dialogue partner of the next dialogue, has worked for over 20 years as a teacher at Grenland Folk High School. He was involved in many pedagogical development projects, and, as one of the few, he also has a PhD in folk high school pedagogy (Lövgren, 2017). In 2020, he became an associate professor at the University of South-Eastern Norway (USN) where folk high school is an educational field. He is the main editor of the extensive anthology, The Nordic Folk High School Teacher (Lövgren, Hallqvist, Rahbek, & Lysgaard, 2023) and author of several research publications on the subject. He designed and runs an academic education program for folk high school pedagogy at his university, and last but not least, he is also a member of the core committee of the Global Network for Folk High School Research. In other words, Johan not only has a broad overview of the pedagogical landscape of this type of school, but he is also a leading figure in research on the matter.

Johan and Michael are colleagues at USN. They frequently work together on both studies and research on folk high school, and the following dialogue represents just one of their collaborations. The question of how students can learn to deal with difficult feelings like grief and sorrow is
examined closer in this dialogue where a respective course is presented and reflected upon. Getting prepared for life was a central goal of the school where this course was carried out. How this goal is related to questions of ethical and existential values and how a folk high school can deal with and work with such heavy feelings like grief and sorrow is further investigated in this conversation. Finally, throughout the course of this dialogue, it is also examined how learning activities, such as the previously mentioned course, relate to the question of good folk high school pedagogy and which role responsibility plays in such a case.

2. Dialogue

Michael Noah Weiss: Johan, my question to you now is whether you can recall a concrete experience or a pedagogical practice of which you would say that this is a proper example of good folk high school pedagogy.

Johan Lövgren: My problem is that I have several examples. I have experiences on more existential themes like death and sorrow, more analytic and theoretical subjects such as Jungian psychology and philosophy, but also more fun classes on topics like falling in love. So, you can choose whether you want a "heavy" one or one that is more easy-going.

Michael N. W.: We can try a heavy one. But just one, so that we can investigate it more in depth.

2.1. Concrete reflection

A course about **Johan L.:** If I were to pick one that I would see as a *grieve* "heavy" one, then maybe the theme of sorrow would be suitable. It is a theme that I have worked on at folk high

school for over 20 years. I did so in quite different pedagogical formats, but finally I landed on something – a thematic half day seminar – that I thought was good folk high school practice. I put a lot of work and energy into developing this course, and I always felt apprehensive as I prepared it for new students. I did this because I see this as a central theme for all of us – we all have to handle grief at some time in our life.

To describe this course further, I first have to give you some of my own background in working with death and grief. I have a background as a pastor and counselor and have been a member of different crisis teams. As a parish minister, the theme was a central part of my everyday practice.

In my later work as a folk high school teacher, my main responsibility was to develop courses on philosophical, existential and religious themes. The overall objective for all these classes was to prepare the students for the challenges they would meet in life and to help develop tools to handle these challenges. From my experiences with grief counseling, I saw the possibility of developing a course on grief, but I also saw it as a great responsibility to bring up such a theme. To give room for this kind of heavy, existential theme. I also had days when the main object of the class was to just have fun together. In a class about "falling in love," we could, for instance, have a competition announcing a prize for the group who could write a text for a love song with the most clichés in it. A somewhat more serious class would include ethical themes where we could both laugh at and discuss different attitudes towards such things as driving too fast or making moonshine vodka, depending on where you come from in Norway.

The classes on grief were the ones I prepared myself the most thoroughly for. A part of my job was to have one afternoon a week set aside for counselling. Many of the students used this opportunity to share areas in their lives they needed help with. From these counselling sessions, I knew that there were students who had been through very serious grieving, maybe losing a parent or a sibling. This made me feel even more responsible, knowing that I entered a very private and hurtful area in these students' lives.

One way to work with grief is to invite participants into the experience of grieving through sharing the experiences of others. The format I ended up using connected to this by mixing the stories of my own experiences as a grief counsellor with songs, texts and scenes from movies. Examples of such films I used would be "The Brothers Lionheart," which deals with the borders of death (Lindgren, 1973), or "My Sister's Keeper" (Cassavetes, 2009). One student asked if we could also include the grief of losing your dog and use the end of the movie "Marly and Me: Life and Love of the World's Worst Dog" (Frankel, 2008). Songs like "Tears in Heaven" (Clapton, 1991), where Clapton sings about losing his son, or Björn Eidsvåg's "Eg ser" (1983), which connects grief to a religious perspective were included. Between the songs, the films and the texts, I would present examples of cases (anonymous) from my own experiences as a grief counsellor. My idea here was to lead the students into an experience by inviting them to engage in these stories, films and songs. In crisis therapy, one way you can become stronger and face a certain challenge is to experience a "light version" of the trauma through entering into someone else's experience. The controlled experience of grief in you then goes through your imagination and is essential in order to be able to process the possibility of experiencing such a situation in real life.

So, what I did in this course was to take them through different steps, from the experience of grieving to the handling of sorrow. The aim would be to start a process of handling some of the vital questions grieving poses to us. Not that I have the answers – that is very important to mention. I would never say that I have a ready-made answer for them, but rather that I can start a dialogue with them about different religions' ways of talking about life after death or about a God that is present in darkness and suffering. The dialogue was central here – most of my students had no religious background. For me, it was important that in the written course evaluation, there were only positive responses to these classes on grief.

Michael N. W.: Could you give one example from one specific class or one student who was taking that class?

Johan L.: One student had a father who was very sick with cancer at the time the student took the course. His father did not die during that school year but shortly afterwards. For many students, if they had been in such a situation, they would have said, "Johan, this course is just too heavy for me right now". But this student attended the class. He sat a bit to the side and by himself (I always try to find rooms where you can have some private space). From time to time, he would weep when listening to the stories and watching the films. In the counselling session after the class, we would use examples from the texts and films in order for him to express his own thoughts and feelings. The students were always offered the possibility of such follow-up talks as a part of the course.

Michael N. W.: What would you say – what kind of processes did the student you referred to go through due to that course? You said that experiencing sorrow through other people's eyes is central to this course. You make that happen by using stories, songs, films and so on, so that the students can get into the feeling of sorrow without having to relate to a situation from their own personal lives. However, the feeling would still be evoked. Now my question So That Life Becomes Bigger

is, what are you doing further on after you have provoked this feeling of sorrow?

Johan L.: Provoking is a word that I wouldn't use in this To open-up case. It is interesting that you use it because, in a certain human sense, I maybe do exactly that. But for me, it is more like potential an opening-up. My pedagogical ideal is not to put anything into the students that is not already there from before. Rather, I try to create a resonance to humanity. And here, I refer to Grundtvig's idea of humanity – his anthropology where we are all very closely interrelated and interwoven in the same "fabric". A "fabric" that is good, so to speak, and that thrives for wholeness (Korsgaard, 2011; Wingren, 1983). So, when I use the term resonance here, I mean it as part of a process of healing, a process of thriving for wholeness as individual human beings, but also as humanity as such. Therefore, the goal with this course is not to provoke but, in some way, to make healing possible and to open up human potential.

To resonate Michael N. W.: I think I understand. So, *to resonate with humanity or to resonate to sorrow* is what is happening in this course. You also said that a process of healing sets in. In this respect, I would assume that if you experience sorrow, what you wish for is healing. Therefore, my question is, what is happening with the students along this way towards healing, how do they express that?

Johan L.: At the end of the course, I put all the texts, films and songs that we worked with on display. Then the students choose those that touched them most and that were most meaningful to them. After they have chosen a text, they work with three questions:

- 1) Why did you choose this text?
- 2) How have you experienced sorrow?
- 3) What do you think happens after we die?

It is important to note that the students do not have to answer at all, or just answer one or two of the questions. I try to make this a time of reflection by playing music that can help as a background for answering these questions. The freedom to use or not to use this time is very important. Some students leave after just a short time, while those who stay the longest would sit there for 20 minutes or half an hour. In that reflection process, I also offer them support by telling them, "Please let me know if this is too much for vou" and "We, the teachers, are here for you if you need someone to talk to." To me, this is a necessary safety net. It would be irresponsible to do something like this without such a safety net. The folk high schools are very safe places for this kind of personal development classes. As folk high school teachers, we are together with our students not only in classes. The framework of a boarding school requires that a staff person is always available for the students, not only during classes but also in the evenings and weekends.

Michael N. W.: Which "place" do the students arrive at emotionally after they have finished the course? You just mentioned some of the answers that the students would give on these three questions at the end of the course, but where do they stand emotionally?

Johan L.: Emotionally, especially with the ones who stayed after I posed the three questions after the course, they would feel good. When I talked to them, even those who cried would say, "It is good". Even though they felt quite different feelings at that point – one would grieve for her grandmother, another one would miss his dog, others would just be puzzled about the complexity of life – their emotional tenor, so to speak, was a good one.

Michael N. W.: What you describe here is quite fascinating because what you do with this course is that you bring the students into a process. A process where they get in

touch with a fundamental feeling of being human. And that feeling is sorrow. I think, in one way or another, we can all relate to that feeling. Now, in this course, in this process, you are using different pedagogical ways of bringing them into this feeling. You described it as *experiencing* sorrow through the eyes of others. But still, the feeling is there; they start to resonate towards that feeling. And then throughout the course, if I understood it right, the students arrive at an emotional place where they say, "It's good." In this regard, you also mentioned that through this course as well as through the whole school year, the students perceive their lives as "becoming bigger", in the sense of being enriched. In other words, for me, this is a good description of hope. In short, the students gain hope in life. For me, this just sounds beautiful – that young people are getting hope (again) towards life. They probably experience that life is bigger than what they thought it would be when they came to the school

The Grundtvigian idea of a common humanity Johan L.: In this respect, there is one essential aspect that really amazes me and that verifies the Grundtvigian idea of our common humanity and wisdom that we carry, and that is that this feeling of hope is not linked to any religious conversion at all. The idea of the course or the school in general was not that you become religious or a believer. No, what was central was that the students experienced that life has become bigger. Maybe as a student, I got a deeper understanding of religion; maybe I got a deeper understanding of life or of humanity throughout the school year. And here, it is vital to note that the school absolutely abstained from luring and locking the students into a common set of values or a common belief. For precisely this is what you can call the litmus test, whether such a school is a folk high school or not. Because if a school forces you to share a certain set of values in order to be a part of the fellowship, then

you are not a folk high school. A folk high school should be in dialogue with all viewpoints and open to the diversity of life

There are some basic values that are common at a folk high school, but these values are rooted in democracy. These are the values our society is based on, and these values we often forget because we take them for granted.

2.2. Critical reflection

Michael N. W.: If we now go over to the next step in the Life becomes dialogue, which is about figuring out some more universal and general themes inherent in the practice of that course vou described, could we then say that hope in terms of "life becomes bigger" - as one of these universal themes - is a transcendent value transcending religious beliefs? Here, I mean that even though the students would be from different denominations or even from none, they can relate to that.

Johan L.: Absolutely, because this is the ingenuity of Enlightenment Grundtvig's anthropology. In this anthropology, there are some keys to a good or better life in terms of the development towards an enlightened humanity (Korsgaard, 2011). Examples for what I call "keys" are dialogue, experiencesharing or developing common human values (Rahbek, 2019).

Michael N. W.: When it comes to the question of what it is that is at stake in what you said, then there might be also another general theme or dimension, which I would call "To become whole again." Because the students were going through this experience of sorrow, they also could relate to sorrow from their own lives. like the student whose father had cancer. I do not say that they were "whole again" after the course. Rather, I mean the prospect of developing towards becoming whole again. And here, the question is

bigger

To become whole again

So That Life Becomes Bigger

whether healing means to become whole again. Furthermore, to put it bluntly, would you say that becoming whole again or going through a process of healing should be one of the pedagogical core themes of folk high school?

Resonating with others **Johan L.:** Here, we need to be careful with the terminology that we are using because it can easily be misunderstood. And in that respect, I have to say that the word "healing" becomes very problematic to me. It is a beautiful picture, but if we are about to explain folk high school pedagogy, I would rather talk about expanding your relationship to a common humanity, finding the resonance of the Other in yourself, enlarging your heart, even though these sound like clichés too.

> **Michael N. W.:** You are suggesting that we should replace what I called becoming whole again or healing with something else. And what you were describing now has more to do with opening up towards and resonating with the world.

Johan L.: Yes, or resonating with the Other. One of the Learning to know others findings in my research on folk high school is that by finding yourself, you develop a deeper relationship towards the and oneself Other and a deeper understanding of the Other (see Lövgren, 2019). There is some kind of reciprocity or double resonance You resonate with the Other and that resonates within yourself. Both processes are happening in a folk high school. In my interviews with folk high school students, many of them would say that what they valued the most in the folk high school were these meetings with the Other. And connected to this would be the second biggest thing, "finding myself" (Lövgren, 2017). This is what I mean with double resonance

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: What you are telling now reminds me, Intuitive metaphorically speaking, of this phenomenon with two guitars. If you put two guitars next to each other and you pull the A-string on one guitar, then the A-string of the other guitar would automatically start to vibrate too. So, if we go over now to some more theoretical reflections, Joachim Bauer can be mentioned, who used this phenomenon in order to explain his research findings on mirror neurons (Bauer, 2005). To describe what he found out, imagine a dentist's waiting room. You sit there in this room, and all of a sudden you get a stomachache. You have no idea why you get that now, but it could be that there is someone sitting next to you having what is called "dental anxiety." You kind of resonate with that person, without consciously knowing it, by having a stomachache because it is your mirror neurons being activated by this other person in the room. Since this comes from research on intuition, maybe it does not have so much to do with what you were describing. Nevertheless, the metaphor with the two guitars could eventually explicate what you are saving about the term "to resonate"?

Johan L.: Well, I think it does. Just as an example, one Learning from female student would tell me, "I am a girl from the countryside. I've lived a very safe life, and so have my friends. Our moms and dads were around: we had a safe surrounding, and I know very little about the real complications of life. I came to folk high school, and in my class we all got pretty close. In that class, there is a girl, and in her family, there has been incest. Her father had a drug habit, and she ended up taking drugs herself. Now, at the school, when we talk together and when we sit together, on a bus, in an airplane, we might hold each other. And I understand why some people struggle much more than I've done. In

resonance

others about oneself

some way, her life experiences become mine". For me, this is about resonance, and I can surely imagine that this resonance is physical too, in terms of what you just said about the mirror neurons. I truly believe that by resounding, resonating with another, you are deepening yourself. As with the girl I quoted, saying that "her life experience becomes a part of me too". And then, when you go through life with such a mindset, you become a more democratic person (Gustavsson, 2013). My way of being in society will not be the same again, as it would have been if I had not come so close to another.

The closeness between students at folk high schools is hard to find in other educational situations because students seldom get that kind of quality time. In folk high school, you get another context, and it creates another kind of learning, growth and understanding (Mikkelsen, 2014).

Michael N. W.: What you described now about the specific kind of learning and developing at folk high school, especially what you said about becoming a more democratic person by learning to resonate, reminds me of three theoretical approaches:

1. In her article, "Education for Citizenship in an Era of Global Connection", Martha Nussbaum suggests three abilities that need to be fostered in order to promote global citizenship:

The Socratic ability to criticize one's own traditions and to carry on an argument on terms of mutual respect for reason; (2) the ability to think as a citizen of the whole world, not just some local region or group; and (3) the "narrative imagination," the ability to imagine what it would be like to be in the position of someone very different from oneself. (Nussbaum, 2002: 289)

In what you said, "narrative imagination" appears to be promoted throughout the whole school year but particularly

Narrative imagination, emotional and spiritual intelligence in the course you described, which is about seeing sorrow through the eyes of others.

2. Daniel Goleman's theory of emotional intelligence (Goleman, 1995). What you described has to do with developing emotional intelligence, in my view. That is, it has to do with how you relate to others, how you respond to others, how you resonate with others. In other words, there seems to be quite some emotional learning going on.

3. Especially in the course you described, there still seems to be more to it than emotional intelligence. And that "more" appears to be what Zohar and Marshall called spiritual intelligence (Zohar & Marshall, 2000). Spiritual intelligence has little to do with being religious but rather with the ability to become aware of what could be called ultimate meaning, as Viktor Frankl put it (2000), or a meaning that is bigger than yourself. Not in a mere religious sense but more in the sense of becoming aware that life is bigger than you and what you actually think of it (see Zohar & Marshall, 2000). So, it appears that, among other things, it is also spiritual intelligence that is fostered in your course. For example, when you ask, "What do you think about life after death?", then this is clearly a spiritual question but not necessarily a religious one. For some, it might be, but not for everyone. Now, to sensitize oneself and to open up to that question, to me, seems to be about spiritual intelligence or developing spiritual intelligence.

Furthermore, after all they have been through during this course and due to the school year as a whole, the students can say that life has become bigger to them. And for me, this indicates a fundamentally existential learning process, on the one hand. On the other, with Martha Nussbaum's suggested "narrative imagination" as one of three abilities to foster global citizenship, it seems that it is also a democratic learning process that is triggered (see Nussbaum, 2002). However, last but not least, there is also spiri-

So That Life Becomes Bigger

tual learning taking place, in terms of Zohar and Marshall's spiritual intelligence (see 2000). That young people learn within the spiritual domain cannot be taken for granted. In fact, not many schools go in that direction.

Using personal Johan L.: And not many folk high schools do either. And stories Johan L.: And not many folk high schools do either. And that is not a criticism. With my experience as a pastor, my advantage is that I have a language for that domain. Of course, it is a certain religious language, but – and this I have worked on for the last 20 years now – if I can be true to my heritage and at the same time opening it up, it can become a *resource* for everyone. A resource not in the sense of a teaching but in the sense of a source of inspiration.

> An example here can be a special kind of open service, a mass, that I developed in the school chapel, called "Thomasmesse". When it comes to religious backgrounds, my students mirrored their cohort of Norwegian youths. Normally, 90% of these young adults would not go to a church or take part in religious services. At these gatherings in the chapel, as many as 90 percent of the students would come and take an active part. One year, we actually had to move the service from the chapel to the gym to make room for all the students that turned up. Again, I would say that what made the students want to come to these gatherings has to do with resonance. The whole program for the service, the texts that were read and the stories I shared, were chosen because they are open to everybody; they can make life bigger for everybody, no matter whether you are religious or not. An example could be when we talked about the problem of evil and suffering. To show that we all share this pain, I would tell them about my experience of being a young pastor and having to bury a sixmonth-old baby. I knew the family, having baptized the little girl just three months earlier. Now the parents asked for me again, after having found her dead one morning with

out any warning. They asked me to help them by holding the cold little body so that they could put on her baptismal dress. After having dressed her in the robe, we had to put the baby in a specially made little white coffin. It was such a brutal experience of how meaningless suffering and death can be. Later at the funeral, the parents cried in their helplessness, and I have to say, I cried with them. I remember leaving the church after this funeral saying, "God, this is not possible – I can't do this. I can't talk about an almighty God when life is like this." This is not something I like to share, but my honesty, my doubt, and my tears can create a resonance to the truth that we can never understand suffering, whatever we believe. In the pain and doubt that this story holds, the students can resonate with me, as a human being. I create resonance by being honest and by being personal, very personal. If this is done with wisdom and integrity, it opens up for a resonance with the teacher.

Michael N. W.: I think this perspective that life is bigger *Pedagogy of* and that it also becomes bigger for the students is one of *hope* the most valuable gifts that you can get from education. In this respect, though with a strong focus on social injustice, Paulo Freire spoke of a "Pedagogy of Hope" (1994). In a broader sense, a pedagogy of hope means that you become aware that there are many potentials in life that can be further developed, and this gives you hope. It gives you a healthy attitude towards life. As the teacher in this case, you are not trying to pass on your own opinions, but rather you try to inspire others so that they can find their own attitudes and ways in and towards life. I also think it is in this respect that something is happening with regards to becoming a democratic person. That is, you know your own standpoint, and the best you can do is not to convince others of your standpoint but to inspire them. That is probably a very central and fundamental dimension of democracy.

So That Life Becomes Bigger

Only if such an inspirational attitude is in place can true democracy happen, I guess. Furthermore, as you said, this also relates to authenticity. How can I become an authentic person? How can I support others, like as a folk high school teacher, to become authentic persons too? For only as an authentic person can you truly contribute to democracy, I would think.

The relevanceJohan L.: Yes, I agree. I think authenticity and auton-
omy are really essential – both with regards to being true
to myself as well as with regards to having my own right to
choose. Furthermore, it seems to be especially the current
generation that needs autonomy. Autonomy appears to be
their basic platform.

Folk high schools are free to choose their value base, and this allows us to be in different places when it comes to areas such as politics or religion. For me, it is good that there are schools which do not have the same value base as my school, we are covering different areas or needs in the prospect students. As long as the schools operate dialogically, that is, as long as they are open-minded, it is good. For it is in line with the Grundtvigian idea of these schools (Grundtvig, 2011).

The whole idea of the possibility of standing on a value base or belief system and opening up in a way that gives others a totally free choice is very hard for us in our society to understand. However, I believe that in order to be a person who can resonate with young people, you have to have a belief system or value base. And as a system, it can be seen as limiting because you stand for something, you have something that you believe in. And you honestly have to say that to the students. I am a pastor, and I stand for this. I believe in the basic beliefs of the Christian Church. Saying that is not a problem to me, even though I am also very aware of the dark sides of Christian history. I understand that one view would be that you can open up and give total freedom for students to find their own way through life by representing no standpoint at all. But to me, this is both naïve (we all stand for something), and I don't think it is what gives the most resonance. I think you have to stand somewhere, and from that standpoint, you can open up. This is also a thought that I find in Bakhtin's discourse analysis (Bakhtin, 1981; Lövgren 2017, 2019).

Michael N. W.: What you just said I interpret in terms of Biesta who assumes that as a teacher, you cannot teach your students anything, but you only can inspire them (Biesta, 2013). However, in order to inspire them, you have to stand for something. For with what would you inspire your students if you don't have anything and if you don't stand for anything?

Maybe this is a good question to wrap up this dialogue now. Thank you very much for your valuable contributions and your insights!

3. Epilogue

In the beginning of the previous dialogue, a course about grief and sorrow was presented. The idea behind this course was to create a space in which the students could learn to approach such heavy feelings in a safe way. For example, by using respective texts or films that were read or shown and then reflected upon together. Though the course let several students go through a sometimes challenging process, at the end they had the impression that their 'horizon' was somehow broadened and that their lives became bigger, so to speak.

Since preparing for life was a key goal of the school in general, supporting the students to learn to approach such feelings was assumed as a vital aspect of this preparation.

You cannot teach anything, you can only inspire Furthermore, as it came forth in the dialogue, by learning to respond to these feelings, the students also learned to resonate with and respond to each other. They got to know and understand each other better. Learning to resonate with each other is also a way of learning to "resonate with humanity" – something that relates to the Grundtvigian idea of a common humanity in the sense that we all, throughout our lifetime, have to experience such feelings and that this can help us to better understand each other. In a way, this common understanding also represents a central aspect of enlightenment, as it was discussed in the dialogue.

Furthermore, the dialogue partners assumed that in the long run, learning to resonate and respond to each other also essentially contributes to the formation process of becoming a democratic citizen. How a teacher responds to and resonates with his or her students was seen as a key aspect in this regard. The way of responding – e.g. through sharing personal stories and experiences – turns into the response-ability of the teacher in terms of a learning by example (see also Lövgren, 2020: 20f).

References

- Afdal, G. (2013). Religion som bevegelse: Læring, kunnskap og mediering. (Religion as movement: Learning, knowledge and mediation). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Bakhtin, M. M. (1981). The dialogic imagination: Four essays. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Bauer, J. (2005): Warum ich fühle, was du fühlst: Intuitive Kommunikation und das Geheimnis der Spiegelneurone. Hamburg: Hoffmann und Campe.
- Biesta, G.J.J. (2013): *The Beautiful Risk of Education*. London & New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cassavetes, (dir.) (2009): My Sister's Keeper. Warner Bros. Pictures.

- Clapton, E. (1991): Tears in Heaven. Warner Bros.
- Eidsvåg, B. (1983): *Eg ser*. På *Passe gal*. Kirkelig Kulturverksted.
- Eidsvåg, I. (2018). Læreren: betraktninger om kjærlighetens gjerninger. Cappelen Damm.
- Frankel, D. (dir.) (2008): Marly and Me: Life and Love of the World's Worst Dog. Century Fox.
- Frankl, V. E. (2000): *Man's search for ultimate meaning*. Perseus Publishing. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Freire, P. (1994): *Pedagogy of Hope: Reliving Pedagogy of the Oppressed*. New York, NY: Continuum.
- Goleman, D. (1995): Emotional Intelligence. Why it can matter more than IQ. New York, NY: Bantam Books.
- Grundtvig, N. F. S. (2011). The School for Life: NFS Grundtvig on Education for the People. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press
- Gustavsson, B. (2013). The idea of democratic bildung: Its transformation in space and time. In Laginder, A., Nordwall, H. & Crowther, J. (eds.) Popular Education, Power and Democracy. Leicester: National Institute of Adult Continuing Education.
- Korsgaard, O. (2011). Grundtvig's philosophy of enlightenment and education. In School for Life. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.
- Lindgren, A. (1973): The Brothers Lionheart. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lövgren, J. (2017). The Reflective Community-Learning processes in Norwegian folk high schools (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). MF Norwegian School of Theology, Oslo.
- Lövgren, J. (2019). Community, Self and the Other: Learning Processes in Norwegian Folk High Schools. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 63(5), 789–804.
- Lövgren, J. (2020): Learning together. Copenhagen: Folkehøjskolernes Foreningen Danmark.
- Lövgren, J., Hallqvist, A., Rahbek, R. K. & Lysgaard, J. A. (eds.) (2023): *The Nordic Folk High School Teacher. Identity, Work & Education.* Vienna: LIT Verlag.
- Mikkelsen, A. (2014). Frihet å lære. Frilynt Folkehøgskole i 150 år. (Freedom to learn. Liberal Folk High Schools for 150 years) Oslo: Cappelen Damm.

- Nussbaum, M. (2002): "Education for citizenship in an era of global connection." In: *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, vol. 21.
- Rahbek, R. K. (2019). Stedets pædagogik: en fortolkende beskrivelse af højskolepædagogik i et dannelsesperspektiv: ph. d.-afhandling (Doctoral dissertation, DPU-Danmarks Institut for Pædagogik og Uddannelse, Aarhus Universitet).
- Wingren, G. (1983). Människa först och så kristen. En bok om Ireneus. (First human and then Christian: A book on Ireneus). Älvsjö: Verbum Förlag.
- Zohar, D. & Marshall, I. (2000): SQ: Connecting With Our Spiritual Intelligence. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing.

Brita Phuthi & Michael Noah Weiss

1. Prologue

The dialogue partner of the last dialogue in this anthology is Brita Phuthi, who has in-depth experience with the field of international cooperation, global citizenship education and education for sustainable development. It was when she attended Sogndal Folk High School that her interest in the subject was evoked. Hence, after this school year, she applied for a program called Communication for Change by the Norwegian Church Aid and YMCA, in cooperation with NOREC¹ and Oslo Metropolitan University (OsloMet), with boarding at Rønningen Folk High School in Oslo. A stay abroad was part of the program, and for 3 months, she was in Eritrea with the Norwegian Church Aid's partner in order to learn about solidarity and aid work. In addition, she studied Global Understanding at OsloMet. After her studies, Brita had a position at Åsane Folk High School where she taught the subject "solidarity work". Since 2011, she has worked at the Norwegian Folk High School Council as an international advisor before beginning her PhD studies at OsloMet in October 2022.

Meeting Brita at a workshop on sustainable development for folk high school teachers in Oslo, Michael invited her to the following dialogue that took place in January 2022. In the beginning of this conversation, a learning pro-

gram called *Pedagogy for the rich* is presented. This program was developed around 2005, directed at the folk high schools, and was followed up by the International Committee for folk high schools (IU). The program is inspired by Paulo Freire's *Pedagogy of the Oppressed* (1970), focusing on how we can liberate ourselves from systems and ways of living that oppress us and others (see Mokhtari & Sødal, 2005). The program has been carried out by teachers at several schools as well as by the international advisors at the Folk High School Council, who on average, visited around 25 schools per annum for several years.

2. Dialogue

Michael Noah Weiss: Brita, you are quite familiar with different fields and with different aspects of folk high school. And I assume your diverse experience as a vital resource for our dialogue now, in which we investigate the question, "What is good folk high school pedagogy?" In order to go into that question, I would like to invite you to pick a story and to share an experience from your work at the folk high schools that you think represents a good example of folk high school pedagogy.

2.1. Concrete reflection

Brita Phuthi: I have chosen an experience that is based on multiple learning experiences. It is about a program, which I have facilitated several times at different folk high schools. This program is called *Pedagogy for the rich*, and I have facilitated it at schools with a hundred students as well as in small classes of just ten students. When I think of the program now and how I want to present it, I have a class with about 15 students in mind – a class that focuses on solidarity work. This might be relevant for the reader when imagining the different activities. As a first step, I would like to describe the program.

When starting, I introduce myself and the participants. After a brief round of introductions, we start with a first exercise - the world map: We write the name of the world's continents on posters, one on each, and put them on the floor. Then, I ask the students to think of a place in the world that has meaning to them, for example, a place where something special happened (in a positive sense) or a place that made an impression on them. This place could be in Norway or anywhere else in the world. The students get some time to think, but usually quickly choose a place. Of course, participating and sharing is voluntary in this exercise, and I also mention that if it is a very personal story that is connected to the chosen place, the students may only say a few words about it without telling the whole story. As it most often turns out, some have very typical stories, like having a nice holiday trip to the chosen country. Others would pick a place in Norway because, for example, their mom lives there and they feel at home there. For most folk high school students, it is the first time in their life that they live away from home when they stay at a folk high school. Others would choose a place in the world where they experienced something quite special, something that really made an impression on them, like a cultural experience or something that challenged their world view. I would also share a story to show the students that I am "with them." This exercise functions as an icebreaker, and since the program's focus is on the world, it is also a good way to tune into that topic and see how places can connect us.

The program is practice-oriented, and we would continue with an exercise on prejudices. Here, the students get a list of people with different identities, like a mother with a baby, a businessman, a youngster, an asylum seeker

and so on. Then the students should imagine that they sit on a train from Moscow to Rome, which takes a couple of days. The question they get is, with whom would they like to share their train compartment with and why – and why not with the others on the list? During the exercise, the students realize some of the prejudices they have. It is different how the students respond to this exercise, since some have a more solitary-oriented attitude, like choosing a blind woman from Iceland. Such students would say, "This woman should stay with me because she needs help, and I am willing to help her." Then you have a girl with a mini skirt on the list, and some male students would choose her for obvious reasons. Others would show resistance to having the woman with the baby in their compartment; their explanation is that the baby could cry all night, making it impossible to get some sleep. It is interesting to listen to the students' arguments on which they base their decisions. Some decisions would have been made for practical reasons, like with the mother and the baby. Others point towards more stereotypical pre-assumptions, for example, when students would be scared to share the compartment with an asylum seeker because they perceive such a situation as potentially dangerous. What is quite giving with this exercise is the act of visualizing and imagining the different situations with the different people and reflecting on your choices. The aim of this exercise is not only to become aware of your prejudices but also to investigate where they actually come from.

The next exercise is a newspaper game, where the class is divided into groups of five. I give a big newspaper, like a double-page, to each group and put it on the floor. The rule is that the students must be touching the newspaper without touching the floor, at least for a small second, and everyone in the group must do this simultaneously. The first round is easy because they stand on one foot on the newspaper and hold each other in order to keep the balance. In the next step, I fold the newspaper to half the size, and the students try to do the same again, and so it continues. The newspaper gets smaller and smaller, and the students are not allowed to use any other equipment. Pretty soon, they would carry each other on their backs and try out other creative options. Finally, the newspaper is folded into the size of a postcard. In order to manage the task, the group really has to think outside the box. Because there is a solution: While the group members hold the newspaper with their hands, they jump up together. This exercise is a good energizer, also because the students don't think it is a part of the learning program, rather that they are simply doing a game. However, after the exercise, I connect it to the topic. I point out that the world's population is growing, but the world is not getting any bigger: the natural resources are not increasing; rather, they are being exhausted. I would point out that creativity is an important competence to seek ways in which the world can be more sustainable and equal. Then I would give some examples: In Norway, we are known for our oil resources, but we also have plenty of seaweed, which was used much more in previous times. You can make flour out of seaweed, which can be used as animal feed, for example. Where I come from, there was a factory making seaweed flour, which closed a long time ago, as seaweed was used for farming and agriculture. Today, we know seaweed from sushi, but it is not used as much and as versatile as it could. You can even make building material from it. One folk high school in Lofoten, which I visited, used seaweed as an ingredient in soup. Telling about these examples in this exercise should give the students ideas of how we can do things differently.

Another exercise I do in this program is musical chairs, but with a twist. You probably know this game where you put some chairs in the middle of the room, then you put

music on, and when you stop the music, the participants of the game must quickly sit down on one of the chairs - however, there is always one chair too little. The exercise I will describe now is a bit different. I tell the students that we are now playing the musical chairs game, but we will have two teams. I would form two groups with, let's say, 7 people in each group, and each group gets 6 chairs. After the first round, one in each group would not get a chair. However, instead of them leaving the game, the person from group A will be told to go to group B, and then I take a chair from group B and bring it to group A. So, I am changing the rules of the game, and I say that the goal is that each participant is included and that everyone gets a space to sit, even if that means that some people are sharing a chair. Because they just played the newspaper game, they are still tuned into how to cooperate. The game goes on like this for several rounds, where a person from group A goes to group B and a chair from group B is moved to group A. In the end, you have many people in group B with few chairs, while in group A, you have few people but many chairs. I don't tell the group that gets the chairs what to do with them, that is, how to arrange them and so on. They have to figure that out on their own

After the game, the first question I ask is, "How was the game?" Here, the group with the many people would say something like, "Oh, it was real fun! We laughed a lot," and so on. The other group with many chairs and few people would not be that thrilled; they would often just say, "Well, we had enough space." What I try to observe in this group is whether they are sitting closely together and if they are using their chairs in a creative way. For example, they could build a sofa, or they could just leave the chairs randomly where I put them during the game. After hearing about their experience of the game, I ask, "Do you know what I am trying to show with this game?" And here, some

would have understood that it is a metaphor for the distribution of resources in the world. There are many different aspects that this game brings with regards to the overall theme of pedagogics for the rich. For example, if you are short of resources, you have to rely on your community, but – as in the context of this game – how long can three people sit on the same chair? For some minutes, it works, but for two hours or a whole day? They might have had a good time during the game, but being poor is not easy, even if the community supports each other.

The group with the many chairs and few people shows that it is in fact not much fun to sit on all the resources: the game gets boring for them pretty quickly. Some in this group would even look over to the other group with the many people, getting jealous and saying, "Look, they have so much fun, and we don't." This brings us to the question of what we need to have a good life. Material resources are important to meet our physical needs, but our mental health and social lives are also central to a good life. Another important question concerning the group with the many chairs and the few people is whether this group utilizes their resources. Do they make and build anything out of these chairs, for example? Or are the chairs just standing there? And how do these material resources affect us and our daily life? Do they create distance between us, or do they bring us together?

Another question is whether the rich take from the poor – because the group with the many chairs gets more and more chairs while the other group has fewer and fewer chairs. Here, we would talk about development issues, such as how for each dollar that a rich country gives to a developing country through aid, rich countries take about two dollars back through tax havens or debt payments, and so on. Another question I ask is whether there are more and more poor people on the planet, because this is what happens in this game. At the time when I was facilitating the game, the number of people living in extreme poverty was decreasing, which showed (at that time) that there were positive developments as well.

The final exercise I would like to share is called "Take a stand". I would put posters on the floor where one would say "agree", another one "disagree" and the third and last one "don't know". Then I would pose some statements, and the students must physically move to the poster with the answer that they think fits best. I encourage them to discuss a bit before they choose. However, quite often the students just follow their gut feelings and quickly go to a poster. The first statement is, "I hardly ever buy things I don't really need", which brings us to issues of consumerism. The second one is, "My way of living contributes to the world being a better place." After positioning themselves, we would discuss the topic further by the students sharing their standpoints and some follow-up questions by me. But first, I would remind them that they can change their opinion and go to another poster that appears to fit better while we discuss. With regards to the statement about consumerism, it is interesting to talk about happiness with the students and pose questions like, "Is consumerism making us happy?" or "How long are you happy due to something that you just bought?" or "Which comments do you get when you wear something new?" When we arrive at the second statement about one's way of living, it often turns out that the students are very critical towards their way of living. The danger here is that they become a bit down, and that their impression is that we have screwed up the world in every respect. Therefore, when they share their issues and views, I try to point out positive developments too, including systemic changes, for example, at the palm oil campaign in 2012, which was very successful. We also talk about small changes each can make, like reducing meat consumption and contributing to an inclusive school environment. More importantly, I try to leave the individual focus and give examples of what we can do on the school level as well as on a political level in order to make change happen. As much as I hope to bring in some perspectives through my questions, an important part of the exercise is for the students to listen to each other's views and practice expressing their opinions.

The program goes on like that, depending on whether we have a half day or a full day, with more exercises and reflections. I don't use that much theory when doing this program; rather, I try to give many examples in order to make it easier for the students to understand the issues that I want to bring attention to.

2.2. Critical reflection

Michael N. W.: I think I have a good idea and picture of Emotional and the program you described now. What I was wondering personal a bit about while you were describing the different exercises was the following: Normally, when we hear about solidarity work and global solidarity, then we are presented with a lot of knowledge. You said that you did not use that much theory in this program; rather, what you wanted was to break down these big topics into personal experiences. For me, seen from a pedagogical point of view, there is something in all the exercises that you described that you could call emotional or personal involvement. Like in the first exercise, where they pick a country that has a certain meaning for the students. If something has meaning for you, it also has a value for you. In the case of the first exercise, it would be an experience-based value that comes to the fore – because the students have experience with the country they have chosen, for whatever reason, whether it is because their mom is living there or you had the best holi-

involvement

days ever in that country, and so on. So, it is an experiencebased value that is in the focus here. Something similar happens in the game with the chairs. As you yourself mentioned, this exercise is about provoking personal emotions and feelings, like being jealous of someone else because that person got hold of a chair. Or those who have more than enough chairs without realizing what they could actually do with these chairs. Instead, they just sit around, bored. In this respect, we could ask, are we making something out of our concrete living situation?

When we now go over to the next step in the dialogue called *critical reflection*, then it is the question, "What is at stake here?" that is central. What is at stake in the program that you described now, especially in terms of pedagogy? I don't know what you think, but for me, it would be this emotional and personal involvement that I just mentioned in order to succeed with this *pedagogy for the rich*, as you called it. What do you think about that?

Unlearning the "We are the best in the world" attitude **Brita P.:** Well, I have to reflect while I speak now. I think global understanding is one thing, but that you care about other people in the world - this kind of interest is quite hard to call up if you are not already involved. To get a concrete, emotional experience might help in that respect. The program *Pedagogy for the rich* is about our attitudes as well as politics in the North and what impact these attitudes and politics have outside but also inside our borders. There are many aid organizations and projects that focus on what we can do somewhere else in the world. However, the Pedagogy for the rich is about what we can change here, in our society, and in our politics in order to create a sustainable future globally. In order to evoke involvement and to investigate these questions together, it can be good to start with the individual level, for example, by doing a project at your school, signing a petition or buying fair trade products. One of the questions that I pose during the exercise "Take a stand" is, "Is it better to give aid or to buy Fairtrade products?" Here, you would always have someone in the group saying, "Oh, I like this aid project," and another one stating, "Yes, but I think fair trade is better." Here, I try to point out that many well-intentioned projects are like putting a band-aid on a wound, but the real question is, "Why is there this wound in the first place?", metaphorically speaking. In other words, I try to challenge them on an even deeper level, looking at the systems that are making these wounds. The students, just like me at their age, through the Norwegian culture, schooling, media etc. are used to the idea that if you want to help people in the global south, you give money. Many have this understanding when they come to the folk high school. Therefore, my aim is to start a process of unlearning and awareness. To start that process, I would have a very short presentation at the beginning of the program where I come with a bit more critical perspective on how we learn about the global South in Norway and how we view ourselves in Norway.

This reminds me of our prime minister when he held his New Year's speech a few weeks ago. I think he had many good points, but when he talked about the Norwegian youth, he said something like, "We have the best youth in the world!" However, his next sentence was, "But they need some help" (the focus being on mental health issues). This idea that we are the best country in the whole wide world and that we know best, I think this is an attitude that we subconsciously have in Norway. On the one hand, an integral part of our culture is what in Norwegian is called The Law of Jante, saying, for example, "Don't think that you are better than anybody else." On a national, collective level, however, we have this "We are the best" attitude. I found evidence for that in the schoolbook of my son, who is in the second grade (Phuthi, 2021). In this book, there

was a page about water where Norway was compared with Africa, a whole continent, and all the stereotypes about Africa, as well as Norway, were reinforced². I complained to the teacher about this book, who followed up, but for me, this is one of the signs for this "We are the best" attitude. With the *Pedagogy for the rich* program, I want to challenge this attitude because I think it is important to rethink how we view ourselves, how we view the world and how such attitudes can also be negative for us. Because in a way, such a collective attitude is connected to institutional racism. In that sense, the program is also intended to be a changemaker.

Michael N. W.: When you put it like that, then for me, the program is about awareness-raising, on the one hand. On the other, I was wondering – when you mentioned unlearning certain attitudes or behavioral patterns – whether you sometimes get the impression that you are dealing with a quite ideological issue here.

Brita P.: Definitely!

Michael N. W.: How do you respond to this ideological as-How to deal pect, which is obviously an inherent part of this program, with ideology? and, in a certain sense, it has to be? In that respect, I can also mention that I just took a look on the world map that is hanging behind you on the wall. What is funny with those maps is that each continent and country gets a different color. Hence, in a way, we are already dividing when making such maps: the idea that the world can be divided into different countries, and then all of a sudden - as you just mentioned – it happens that someone sees his or her country as the best country in the world or at least better than other countries. And this is the point where certain ideologies come in. So, I ask again, how are you dealing with this ideological aspect in terms of an ethical attitude towards it?

Brita P.: I have to say that in most of my experiences from this program, I did not go too deep into the different topics that we dealt with so that it would become a challenge. The focus is to raise some questions that invite the students to think for themselves. They would then have reflections like, "Is it really so?"

I would use Peter's World Map, where you can see the globe unfolded. In Peter's World Map, you see the correct size of each country, however, the shape is not right. Here, Europe looks very small, and Africa is much larger than in the maps that are commonly used. When studying maps, you may also reflect on which countries have been put into the center of the map. Another map I use in the program is one that has the Norwegian flag on the country of Norway, and the size of Norway is much bigger than the other countries. Due to its size and being the only country with a flag on it – Norway dominates the whole image. Norway is a small country in the global context, but we tend to think of ourselves as very important. On the other hand, Norway is a country with a small population, but our carbon footprint is very large.

Another example of learning about Norway and the world is from the Montessori schools, which, when learning about geography, start with the universe and the planets. Then they would slowly zoom in more and more until they "arrive" in Norway – after you already learned about the solar system, the continents and so on. In the Norwe-gian public school, they would start with Norway and then gradually zoom out. I believe that how you learn about the geography of the world impacts on how you view the world and us who live in it.

Back to your question, I cannot say that I went deep enough into discussions regarding ideologies, so that tensions arose. As mentioned, I rather try to pose questions that are thought-provoking. One possible reason why I

Posing questions that are thoughtprovoking

didn't experience great tensions might be that in a class focusing on solidarity work, you tend to get students who have a certain political orientation, so to speak. On the other hand, I try to provoke the students a bit because I think it is "healthy" to be challenged. I don't know whether I answered your question, though.

Michael N. W.: In fact, you did. My follow-up question now is whether challenging the students is part of good pedagogy.

Echo chambers **Brita P.:** I think so. If you agree too much with what has been said, I don't know whether it moves you. I see it with myself. I think I have too many in my network who think alike. I am not happy about that because in a democracy, it is through diversity that you understand other people and other views better. If we agree too much, I don't think it is healthy, just like these typical political debates are not healthy either, where you just present your opinion and stick with it, no matter what. That does not lead to any change of thinking either.

Benedicte Hambro is a folk high school teacher and an expert on storytelling. In one of the stories that she tells, there is this person who wants to know the answer to the question, "What is the meaning of life?" (see Hambro's chapter in this anthology & Hambro, 2021) This person goes around the whole town and seeks counsel from those who are known for their smartness. Finally, the person ends up with the wisest of them all. This wise old man gets really upset and asks the person, "You have the best question in the world, and you are willing to exchange that for one answer! Don't you know it is the answers that divides us, and the questions that unites us?" For me, asking questions rather than providing answers is such an important part of the program.

Michael N. W.: When you describe it in that way – that is, by means of this story - then there seem to be some fundamental and existential aspects coming to the fore. Previously, we investigated emotional involvement as an essential aspect of this program, and also challenging the students. Furthermore, you mentioned that being moved is another important aspect. When I put that all together, then for me, all this is basically about daring to discover - daring to discover the world, but also daring to discover the world in a new way. What do I mean with daring to discover the world in a new way? In order to explain that I would like to take the world map behind you on the wall as the starting point again: When looking at this map as an adult or even as a youngster, there does not seem to be so much new because we are so used to that sight. We are so used to dividing the world into continents and countries. And you are challenging this view that we are so used to. And here, the question is: Do the students dare to take a new look? What I am wondering about, in this respect, is whether this is part of human nature.

Brita P.: I was discussing this in relation to the question, "What is the meaning of life?" One of my brothers was listening to a podcast where they investigated the meaning of life. One of the conclusions was *improvement* – improvement as an essential part of human nature and, therefore, a possible answer to the meaning of life. When I discussed this with my brother, I said that this is perhaps a western perspective – that we always have to improve. For me, that seemed quite capitalistic, while he replied that it can also mean fixing your house or that you master something new. And, of course, when you take a look at human development without improvement, we would not be where we are today. On the other hand, we would not have the climate crisis that we have today either. In our discussion, I also

Improvement – the meaning of life?

pointed out that the meaning of life can mean to be loved or to experience love. With regards to your point about daring to discover and whether this is part of human nature, I don't think I have a general answer to that. Personally, I think, yes it is, but it also depends on what we understand by this discovering.

One thing that we experience when I teach this program is *community*. We experience a community in the learning situation, where we share experiences and values, choose standpoints and share views. That is, you don't only go into your own emotional experience; but you also investigate and share your own thoughts and values. Typical statements for that are, "No, I don't buy new things because I don't think it's right" or "I don't need to look fancy because I am proud of who I am". Sharing something like that in a community with others moves you in a way because you also take in what the others share.

Michael N. W.: In what you just said, there are two forms of learning that come to the fore here. On the one hand, you mentioned improvement as the meaning of life, or at least as the meaning in several concrete situations. Whether it is in our work or in our private life, very often these situations are indeed about improvement – improving our personal living situation, improving a procedure at work, a product etc. All this, as I see it, could give us the impression that life is about nothing more than improvement. And here, I mean improvement also in terms of development. On the other hand, however, you said that you are trying to provoke your students so that they begin to dare to discover. And for me, to discover is a different form of learning than to improve.

Let me give you some concrete examples for that. *To improve* is something that I try to do when I work on an academic paper or a lecture, for example. That is, I try to make them better. *To discover*, however, is something that I do

in a completely different context, and that is when I take a walk in nature, for example. In fact, I live quite close to nature, and sometimes it happens that I discover a new path. In such moments, I always ask myself whether I should try out this new path because I have never walked it before, and in one hour, I have to pick up my kids from school. So, will I be back in time, or will the path lead me astray? Sometimes I choose to walk along the new path, and what happens while I walk on this unknown territory, to call it like that, is that I have a completely different experience of time compared to a walk on a path I already know. Furthermore, I would also discover and see new places, and there is always a certain uncertainty concerning what I would see and where I would end up. The reason why I mention all this is because improving an article and walking on a new path are two very different forms of experience. Without doubt, in both of them I would learn something, but what I experience as learning when improving an article is something completely different compared to what I learn when walking a newly discovered path in the forest.

My question to you now is: Do you think that learning at folk high school is more about discovering than about improving?

Brita P.: When I look at this question from a more general perspective, I think that we have more potential in folk high schools to reflect deeper and more often compared to a conventional school. Of course, at a folk high school, one can also get trapped in an everyday hassle with all the things that one must do for the school to operate as it should. Furthermore, it also depends on the respective teacher. Some focus more on the reflective part of their learning program, while others are more occupied with *doing*. Some years back, I was co-teaching on a folk high school study trip to Kenya and Tanzania. One of the things I observed was that

Reflection and experience
after an experience – that is, after discovering and visiting a new place – they did not reflect on that experience. Rather, they just went on to the next experience. What I suggested then was to have an evening gathering, where each student could share what made an impression that day, what each of them could take with them from the experience, and so on. For me it was important to see how they analyzed the situation from their own perspective. Also, it was important to make the students aware why they thought about an experience in that way, why they saw it in this way, and so on. It is in situations like this that you have the opportunity and the time to go into reflection.

Critical reflection represents an important aspect in my own pedagogical agenda, so to speak. For example, in this one year at a folk high school, I don't want students to reproduce this image of the global south that so many of us have. That is my nightmare. I want them to get a new and different view of the world. We are talking about the ability to be open. At the same time, I also want to show them certain tools regarding how to act. You cannot just sit and reflect; but to act is also important. In terms of study trips to the global south, I like to challenge the students to not focus on what money can fix but try to get in contact with the local youth who are interested in the same things as you are - and learn from each other. There are some schools that focus entirely on making connections between the folk high school youths and local youths through common interests during the study trip. I believe this type of cooperation, which may last a week or two, can contribute to better understanding as well as unlearning.

Since we talked about the meaning of life earlier, I would like to refer to Frederik Christensen, who wrote "To be a folk high school teacher", which I read recently (in Danish: "At være folkehøjskolelærer" (1978: 54f)). Here, he discusses different approaches to the world. One approach is: first you change the world, and then you will love it. Or you can first learn to love the world; then you can see whether there is anything you want to change, which was Grundtvig's life philosophy (ibid.: 59). These are two very different perspectives about the world and on life, and it brings us back to the topic of improvement. Many of the global issues that we have today are about improvement – because the world is not a good-enough place yet, to put it simply. It is unsustainable, unjust and so on. However, maybe by loving it first, you are better equipped to create something good. If you don't love it first, you can be very critical towards what you meet.

2.3. Theoretical reflection

Michael N. W.: Let us go over now to the next step of the dialogue, the so-called theoretical reflection. In this step, we can shed a bit more theoretical light on what we have been talking about so far, like life as improvement or life as discovering. In this respect, there are two pedagogues that come to my mind: first, John Dewey with his famous approach of experiential learning (see e.g. Dewey, 1938); and second, Jerome Bruner with his approach of discovery learning (see Bruner, 1961). While I can see Dewey as a representative of an understanding of learning in terms of improvement, I can obviously see Bruner as a representative of an approach to learning in terms of discovering. You just brought up this approach to life in the sense of first, you have to love it, and then you can see whether you want to change it. For me, this also means that you first have to discover something that you are curious about. This curiosity implies that you feel a kind of attraction towards something, and you go after this feeling of attraction, and by that, you discover what you are curious about more and more. The other approach towards life that you men-

Experiential vs. discovery learning

tioned, however, could be summarized by saying, "Here is the world. And the world is not a good place; we have to make it better," so to speak. What do you think about these two approaches with regards to the program you presented earlier? Is it your impression that the students who are participating are embracing the world in terms of, "Yes, it's great to live and to be here! And of course, we have to become aware of certain aspects that we can change."? Or are these students generally saying, "The world is not a good place, and we have to do something about it"? What I want to point out is that with these questions, in the second approach to learning, the starting point is assumed not to be perfect, whereas in the first approach, it is assumed that there is something interesting, attractive. Do you see what I mean?

Brita P.: Well, I think so, but I am still thinking. I like **Transformative** to think of myself as someone who is employing transforlearning mative learning (see e.g. Elias, 1997; Brookfield, 2000). In simple terms, I want to challenge the knowledge and insights about the world that these students gained through their 19 years of life (on average, they are 19 years old). In my experience, many have stereotypical images of certain global issues. Like when you ask, what do you know about Africa, they would answer "Well, Africa is about poverty and safari", and so on. Unless the students have already traveled to a country in a way where one really gets to know the culture, the country and the people, the majority of the students have their center of life, and therefore also their main focus, in Norway. Their life is in Norway, and everything outside the country is more peripheral.

> Many folk high schools have a rather homogenous group of students and do not necessarily represent society at large. Democratic *Bildung* is an important learning target at the folk high schools, but in a democracy, we need to under

stand different people's perspectives, and I think that the folk high schools have a potential to expand the perspectives that are represented among both students and staff. I mention this because it makes it harder to discuss different, unfamiliar views if you are not exposed to such views through conversations and discussions. Someone might jokingly pose the question, "Well, do they actually have internet in Africa?" And even though it is meant as a joke, there is an underlying idea of how people live in Africa, like in straw huts in the bush. This is also exactly what was implicitly communicated in the teaching book from my son that I was mentioning – the hidden curriculum. Therefore, I think it is important to challenge established worldviews.

Choosing a transformative approach to learning, in one way or another, in order to discover something new, as you said, is crucial. It is crucial in order to break up outdated patterns of ideas and worldviews. One music video I show to the students during the *Pedagogy for the rich* program is "Radi-Aid" (SAIH Norway, 2012, 06.11.), a campaign by SAIH. The video is about Africans collecting radiators for the Norwegian people, since it is so cold there and the people must be really freezing. It is a lot of fun to watch this video because it has these vintage images of people in Norway in the snow and people in Africa putting radiators on a truck and then waving the truck good-bye. When I show this video to the students, some ask, "Yes, but why do they collect radiators for us?" Some don't even understand that this video is meant ironically. We would then have a discussion around that. What if this is the only video that Africans saw about people in Norway and took it for real? Then they would probably ask themselves, "How can the people live their lives under such harsh conditions? We have to help them, 'cause this really looks bad!" The reason why SAIH made this music video was because most students in Norway have only seen these kinds of aid cam-

paigns for Africa. The video is intended to make us aware of our view of Africa. And, of course, if you only see these kinds of aid campaign videos, then you think that this is the only reality in Africa. My concern is that folk high schools could eventually contribute to reproducing such views and images simply by solely focusing on aid. That is the reason why I think this program, *Pedagogy for the rich*, is so important, because it can challenge and change the idea of improvement, and where it needs to happen and by whom.

Michael N. W.: What you just said in terms of transforma-Seeing other tive learning, also with regards to the program *pedagogy* countries for the rich, seems to be about becoming aware of the valthrough a ues inherent in your worldview. And worldview literally 'value-lens' appears to be the proper term here, because sitting here in Norway and looking down to Africa already implies a certain cultural hierarchy in terms of 'looking down', a topdown model, as it were. Transformative learning, in this case then, makes us not only aware of other countries but of the view by which we see other countries. And maybe that this is the actual problem that we have in rich countries: that we often look at other countries through what I would call a "value-lens," which makes us think that the people from Africa, for example, are much poorer than we are. However, through such a "value-lens," we also go blind, and we do not see the things these other countries have that we don't have. Though I put it more metaphorically, but taking off this "value-lens," is that what you mean by transformative learning?

Ubuntu Brita P.: Yes, I think so. I mean, the ultimate goal is that philosophy Brita P.: Yes, I think so. I mean, the ultimate goal is that the world is a good place for everyone. However, I don't think that this is going to happen as long as we look at each other in such a top-down way. Rather, I think that we should live more according to what is called Ubuntu philosophy (see e. g. Gade, 2012), which means "I am because we are", and is sometimes translated as "humanity." One of the basic ideas behind this philosophy, as I understand it, is that I have my talents and you have yours, and together we can create something that is bigger than us, so to speak. We are connected through communities. To make this kind of connection between people possible is a potential that the folk high schools have. Living in a community where you contribute with what you have and who vou are is something that the folk high school students can experience. They might have their ups and downs while living and learning at the school, but through that experience, they also learn how much they have in common. To discover that you have so much in common with other people is also vital for the global perspective I am talking about. It does not matter if you are a Muslim, a Christian or an atheist; but we have many things in common that we care about.

Michael N. W.: I think this is a good closing remark: that folk high schools have great potential when it comes to getting young people out of their bubbles. Thank you very much for the conversation!

3. Epilogue

In the previous dialogue, a program called "Pedagogy for the rich" was presented and reflected upon. Instead of just lecturing facts and figures, the program takes its point of departure in practical exercises, making complex global challenges experienceable on a personal level. In the common reflection that follows each exercise, the students cannot solely express their theoretical thoughts on issues like global fairness, poverty, racism etc., but they can speak from their emotional, experience-based perspective, induced by the respective exercise.

In more general terms, the previous dialogue dealt with the responsibility that one has as an individual and as a community towards the world. The movement between concrete exercises and general worldviews that this program triggers reveals that this responsibility often starts in small things, in concrete attitudes, mindsets and actions, and that it eventually leads to a better understanding of the systems and structures that we find ourselves living within.

In the course of the dialogue, *becoming aware* was pointed out as a first step towards what could be called global citizenship. This form of awareness-raising also implies unlearning certain fundamental attitudes, like the "We are the best in the world" attitude that one often finds in Western culture. As brought forth in the dialogue, the program "Pedagogy for the rich" is based on the pedagogical approach of *transformative learning*, which deals with the growth and maturation of the whole human being on the one hand. On the other, it addresses one of our fundamental human potentials, namely, to change and evolve – to transform – something that often starts by enacting our ability to *think differently*.

References

- Brookfield, S. D. (2000): "Transformative learning as ideology critique". In: Mezirow, J. & Associates (eds.): *Learning as transformation. Critical perspectives on a theory in progress.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bruner, J. S. (1961): "The act of discovery". In: *Harvard Educational Review*. 31 (1): 21–32.
- Christensen, F. (1978): "At være folkehøjskolelærer". In: Nordiska Folkhögskolerådet, Nordens Folkliga Akademi (ed.): "Grundtvig och folkeopplysningen – en samling artiklar som knyter an till N.F.S. Grundtvigs tankevärld", Vol. 8.

- Dewey, J. (1938): *Experience and Education*. New York: Macmillan Company.
- Elias, D. (1997): "It's time to change our minds: An introduction to transformative learning". In: *ReVision*, 20(1).
- Freire, P. (1970): "Pedagogy of the oppressed"
- Gade, C. B. N. (2012): "What is Ubuntu? Different Interpretations among South Africans of African Descent." In: *South African Journal of Philosophy*, 31 (3).
- Hambro, B. (2021): "Meningen med livet." In: *Folkehøgskolen*, 5/21.
- Mokhtari, A. & Sødal, R. (2005): Pedagogikk for de rike. PfR, Internasjonalt Utvalg i folkehøgskolen, Læringsentreprenørene (Lent). https://www.folkehogskoleradet.no/ _files/ugd/13e66e_f6a6fc2091b345b688b58393c9e8f5a8.pdf
- Phuthi, B. (2021): "Lesebok bidrar til negative stereotypier om det afrikanske kontinentet." In: Utdanningsnytt.no, https://www.utdanningsnytt.no/brita-phuthi-gyldendallaereboker/lesebok-bidrar-til-negative-stereotypier-om-detafrikanske-kontinentet/300428
- SAIH Norway (2012, 06.11.): *Africa for Norway*. YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oJLqyuxm96k

The Aftermath: So, what now is Good Folk High School Pedagogy?

Michael Noah Weiss

1. A short recap

When reading the previous seven dialogues, it quickly becomes apparent that they are diverse and rich in content. What good folk high school pedagogy can be was illustrated by quite unique and different examples – but what do they have in common? What is the essence of good folk high school pedagogy? Questions like these tempt us to analyze these dialogues in a conventional way, for example, by means of a thematic analysis (see e.g. Guest, MacQueen & Namey, 2012). Carrying out such an analysis, however, would not be in line with *phronetic research* as outlined in the introduction chapter of this anthology.

As it was pointed out in this introduction, good folk high school pedagogy is a question of good practice – eupraxia in Greek – and good practice is a question of phronesis. Phronesis, furthermore, represents one of the three forms of knowledge as suggested by Aristotle (see Biesta, 2015: 14). In contrast to the other two knowledge forms – epistemé (theoretical knowledge) and techné (know-how knowledge) – phronesis (practical knowledge) is not teachable but only learnable, since it rather is a question of the right attitude towards a given situation than a question of knowledge that simply is applied. For this reason, Aristotle "does not provide abstract definitions of what practical wisdom [phronesis] looks like but tries to make this clear through examples" in his works (ibid.: 19). For example, one can show what phronesis implies instead of telling what it is.

When outlining a research approach that takes this central aspect of phronesis into account, Bjørnsrud (2005: 138) – in reference to Flyvbjerg's *phronetic research* (1991) – addresses the necessary context-relatedness of practical knowledge. That is, this form of knowledge can only be understood and investigated if the context in which it occurs is safeguarded and not *analyzed* (which etymologically means *to be untied*).

In the present anthology, it was argued that phronesis does not simply represent a form of practical knowledge but – more concretely – some sort of *response-ability*. To investigate how this form of response-ability comes to expression in pedagogical situations at a folk high school, each dialogue was conducted according to the three steps of reflection of so-called Reflective Practice Research (Lindseth, 2020). This research approach can be associated with phronetic research since it takes the mentioned contextrelatedness into account by including concrete experiences as a central part of the investigation.

It is particularly this context-relatedness that brings up the pressing question: Why do I present a concluding essay at the end of this anthology? For isn't this just another form of analysis? And, understood as analysis, isn't this essay jeopardizing the whole endeavor in terms of a phronetic research project?

The answer is negative if one sees this essay as some sort of continuation of the previous philosophical investigations. For, as far as I understand it, the ideal outcome of philosophical investigations is not any conclusion that one arrives at. Rather, an ideal outcome would be if the respective investigation triggers further reflection with the reader. Hence, the idea behind this concluding essay is to foster after-thoughts with the reader about good folk high school pedagogy and how it can be practiced by giving expression to my own as the author of this essay. It is as if one goes into an inner dialogue with oneself about what has been said in the dialogues presented here. It appears to be in this way of inner dialoguing – that is, by reflecting on the experiences of others and how they responded to the respective situations – that we can learn and further develop our own *response-ability*.

2. Allow the text to speak to us

A first step to start with this inner dialogue might be what Lindseth and Norberg have called "naive reading" in their phenomenological hermeneutical method for researching lived experience (Lindseth & Norberg, 2004: 149):

The text is read several times in order to grasp its meaning as a whole. To do this it is necessary for us to be open enough to allow the text to speak to us. We become touched and moved by it. (ibid.)

When reading the dialogues, what was it that moved me (or you, the reader)? What touched me (or you, the reader) in these narratives and their subsequent examinations?

There is one particular feature that somehow makes me wonder when reading these seven dialogues: When asked to share an experience about good folk high school pedagogy, all pedagogues, in one way or another, have chosen an example that first and foremost dealt with human

The Aftermath

growth and flourishing of the students. Specific teaching content, like the Tree of Life, which Benedicte Hambro describes, lectures on democracy and European history as mentioned by Steinar Bryn, or facts and figures about international inequalities as brought forward by Brita Phuthi, was rather a means to a higher end than a means in itself. Furthermore, several of the experiences shared and examined in this anthology do not refer to any teaching content at all. Rather, what these pedagogues understand by good folk high school pedagogy comes to expression in terms of their response to a concrete situation, which is often of more interpersonal and relational character than related to any school subject at all. As corny as it might sound, but some sort of *learning for life* was central in all the described situations.

Interestingly, most of these situations occurred spontaneously. Though a few of the pedagogues mentioned that they had some kind of teaching plan, they could not foresee or provide for the situation that they were then facing. Explicit examples in this respect are the situations described in the dialogues with Filippa Millenberg, Sigurd Ohrem, Kjetil Hareide Hallre and Steinar Bryn. The situations and their responses to them, which finally led to an edifying outcome, to put it like that, were centrally based on spontaneity and intuition. However, in order to avoid misunderstandings, it is important to note – as Steinar Bryn did in the dialogue with him – that intuition in this context "is more than an educated guess because when you work with this process-oriented pedagogical approach all the time, you start to sense when you will have a breakthrough."

With this quote, two further features find expression that seem to be characteristic of good folk high school pedagogy as described in the previous dialogues. The first one is the process-oriented character of this form of pedagogy in terms of the personal development processes of the students – previously also called *human flourishing*. The other is the *sensibility* or *awareness* of the folk high school teacher to sense when the given situation has the potential to lead to what Sigurd Ohrem called a *golden moment* – and that this *sensibility* comes with experience.

3. The hidden curriculum

That all seven dialogues deal – in one way or another – with human flourishing might not come as a surprise. With Bildung and public enlightenment as the main goals enshrined in the Folk High School Act (2003), these folk high school teachers are almost expected to have such a focus. However, what indeed is surprising when reading the dialogues is that human flourishing is fostered and facilitated not so much by means of an explicit course plan (as would be normal in a conventional school) but rather through unforeseeable situations, reactions and interactions with the students and an intuitive but nevertheless reflected response to them. In this respect, Steinar Bryn also mentioned the term *hidden curriculum*. In the dialogue with him, he did not explicate this term in depth but noted that folk high school teachers "hardly talk about it at all. It is more something that the students observe." In other words, the hidden curriculum represents some sort of existential and ethical value base represented in the attitudinal values, which the teachers do not lecture about but rather *live* and practice. In one of his research publications called "Learning together," Johan Lövgren calls these values embod*ied values* (2020: 19). In the respective dialogue, Sigurd Ohrem also spoke of a pedagogy of showing, not telling, in this regard.

To make such a pedagogy of *showing, not telling* work demands a high degree of authenticity and "uprightness"

The Aftermath

from the pedagogue. In simple terms, it is the contrary of the phrase "preaching water while drinking wine." Furthermore, in terms of *attitudinal* and *embodied values*, one can wonder whether good folk high school pedagogy is a "teaching subject-independent enterprise"? That is, could this form of pedagogy be practiced as an *eupraxia* (that is, good practice), even if all the school subjects are replaced by others or even completely taken away? For me, the answer tends towards a yes. For this form of pedagogy rather seems to depend on how a teacher responds with his or her attitude to the concrete situation with the students than on specific teachings.

Nevertheless, though much of this pedagogy is obviously tacit and, hence, not much mentioned, it does not mean that it is absent. On the contrary, it is embodied. If we assume that good folk high school pedagogy is a form of embodied pedagogy, then this actually confirms why it can be attributed to practical knowledge in terms of phronesis rather than theoretical knowledge in terms of epistemé. As embodied pedagogy, it is something that can be shown, e. g. in terms of the responses of the teacher to the given situation. But, and this is the crux of it, it cannot be taught in terms of models and methods. Especially this feature bears a resemblance to phronesis, as it was outlined in the introduction chapter.

As a consequence, it would not make much sense to try to further define what good folk high school pedagogy *is*. Based on what has been said so far, this would be counterproductive. Instead, it seems to be wise to just see the experiences shared in the dialogues as examples – to open oneself to them and use them as a springboard in order to move into dialogue with oneself. Questions investigated in such a dialogue with oneself could be, e. g.: *How would I have responded to the situations that were described in these dialogues? Have I been in similar situations, and*

how did I react there? What can I learn through these examples if I mirror myself in them – what can I learn about myself as a pedagogue, my pedagogical practices, and my professional as well as personal attitude? Which insights do I want to take further and incorporate and have embodied in my attitude as a practitioner? Which values underlie these insights?

If one takes these questions seriously after having read these seven dialogues, one might realize why there is and cannot be a final, general answer to the question of good folk high school pedagogy. For the question of good folk high school pedagogy is a question of *eupraxia* – of good practice. As such, it cannot be answered *in* theoretical terms but only *with* practical examples. And as examples, that is, as *possible answers in practice*, they can only unfold their full potential if someone – like you, the reader – relates them to one's own pedagogical practice. Only by means of such self-reflection can the knowledge these examples embody begin to reveal itself. With that, it becomes clear why Gallagher stated that "Self-knowledge, [...] is intimately linked with phronesis and thinking for oneself." (1992: 198f)

In other words, the true value of this publication can only evolve when the reader takes a look at it, like taking a look into a mirror. It is through the self-reflection that emerges in this mirror, to put it metaphorically, that pedagogical practice can be informed, reflected on and further developed. In this sense, I hope that this book can serve as a source of inspiration for those who keep up the good work at folk high school, namely: its staff – may it be pedagogues, kitchen workers, administrators, housecleaners, sanitors, etc. The Aftermath

4. References:

- Biesta, G.J.J. (2015): "How does a competent teacher become a good teacher? On judgement, wisdom and virtuosity in teaching and teacher education." In: Heilbronn, R. & Foreman-Peck, L. (eds.): *Philosophical perspectives on the future of teacher education*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Bjørnsrud, H. (2005): *Rom for aksjonslæring: om tilpasset opplæring, inkludering og læreplanarbeid.* Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (1991): Rationalitet og magt. Det konkretes videnskab. Band 1. Copenhagen: Akademisk forlag.
- Gallagher, S. (1992): *Hermeneutics and Education*. Albany, NY: Sunny Press.
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K. & Namey, E. (2012): *Applied thematic analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Lindseth, A. & Norberg, A. (2004): "A phenomenological hermeneutical method for researching lived experience." In: *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, Vol. 18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2004.00258.x
- Lindseth, Anders (2020). "Dosenten i et FoU-perspektiv. Refleksiv praksis-forskning som en vei mot dosentkompetanse."
 In: Bachke, C. C. & Hermansen, M. (eds.): Å satse på dosenter. Et utviklingsarbeid. Oslo: Cappelen Damm Akademis.
- Lövgren, J. (2020): *Learning together*. Copenhagen: Folkehøjskolernes Foreningen Danmark.
- The Folk High School Act (2003): Act relating to folk high schools (LOV-2002-12-06-72). Lovdata. https://lovdata.no/ dokument/NLE/lov/2002-12-06-72

Reflective Practice Research

edited by Assoc. Prof. Dr. Michael Noah Weiss (University of South-East Norway), Prof. Guro Hansen Helskog (University of South-East Norway)



Michael Noah Weiss Daimonic Dialogues

Philosophical Practice and Self-Formation. A Research Report on a Series of Philosophical Guided Imageries Carried out at a Norwegian Folk High School In this research report a philosophical practice project is presented which was carried out in 2019 at a Norwegian folk high school. Its main purpose was to examine whether and how philosophical guided imageries can foster self-formation. In the analysis of the empirical data three tendencies are identified: The participants felt calmer and safer due to this philosophical practice; they developed personally in terms of experiential learning; and several of them could also gain self-knowledge. The discussion then shows how these three tendencies relate and contribute to self-formation.

vol. 1, 2021, 144 pp., 49,90€, br., ISBN-CH 978-3-643-91202-2

LIT Verlag Berlin – Münster – Wien – Zürich – London Auslieferung Deutschland / Österreich / Schweiz: siehe Impressumsseite Michael Noah Weiss; Guro Hansen Helskog (Eds.)

Reflective Practice Research in Higher Education Pedagogies

This anthology examines university lecturers' experiences with pedagogical practices across various higher education disciplines. The experiences are investigated by means of reflective practice research – a phenomenological and hermeneutical approach intended to make implicit practical knowledge explicit, and thus to develop a deeper understanding of professional practices. While instrumental practice research gives a practitioner knowledge of facts, reflective practice research gives the practitioner orientational knowledge, in line with a so-called kaleidoscopic epistemology.

vol. 2, 2023, ca. 304 pp., ca. 54,90€, pb., ISBN-CH 978-3-643-91229-9

Guro Hansen Helskog; Ingrid R. Christensen; Åsmund Aamaas (Eds.) **Reflective Practice Research in International Collaboration** Developing Teacher Education I vol. 4, 2024, ca. 200 pp., ca. 29,90 €, pb., ISBN-CH978-3-643-91235-0 The Nordic Folk High Schools are known for their unique pedagogical approaches. These schools have little in common with the conventional education system. In this anthology, experienced folk high school teachers share and examine concrete examples from their own pedagogical practice. In the course of these dialogues, various perspectives and ideas come to the fore on what it might be that constitutes *good* folk high school pedagogy.

Dr. Michael Noah Weiss is associate professor in pedagogy at the University of South-Eastern Norway and author of several research publications on folk high school.

